

Biomimetic Building Skin Development:

Evolutionary Designed Building Skins with Embedded

Biomimetic Adaptation Behaviours

Saam Kaviani

https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6551-9565/

Thesis Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

London South Bank University

School of The Built Environment and Architecture

December 2022

Research-Related Publications

Showkatbakhsh, M. and Kaviani, S. (2020) 'Homeostatic generative design process: Emergence of the adaptive architectural form and skin to excessive solar radiation':, International Journal of Architectural Computing, SAGE Publications UK: London, England [Online]. DOI: 10.1177/1478077120951947 (Download)

Showkatbakhsh, M., Kaviani, S., and Weinstock, M. (2021) 'Evolutionary Design Processes with Embedded Homeostatic Principles - Adaptation of Architectural Form and Skin to Excessive Solar Radiation', *Computer-Aided Design and Applications*, 18(5), pp. 914-953. (Download)

Kaviani, S., Kaluarachchi, Y., Rossi, F. and Ofori, G. (2022) Evolutionary Designed Building Skins with Embedded Biomimetic Adaptation Lessons, in: The 45th Australasian Universities Building Education Association Conference, Western Sydney University: , pp. 664-675. (Download)

Selected Industry Presentations

To ensure the research's contribution to practise as well as to academia, a sample of the methods and workflows developed during this study was presented to the following members of the industry.

LSBU Summer programme events, 2019 & 2018: Research results Presentation McNeel Europe – Webinar, 2020: food4Rhino webinar series: PedSim LSBU PGR End of Year (2022) Event, Doctoral Academy Centre, Conference Poster Presentation

Acknowledgements

This research was accomplished through the guidance, support, love and friendship of many individuals while carried out during the last few years with its fair share of ups and downs.

First, I would like to express my appreciation to Professor Yamuna Kaluarachchi, my director of studies, supervisor, and mentor, for her unconditional patience, guidance and support throughout the years, without which this study would not have been possible. Thank you, Yamuna. I feel that the knowledge, skill and intelligence I gained from conducting this research under your supervision will help me as I move forward in my academic and professional life.

Additionally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my incredible supervisor Federico Rossi for his immeasurable support, productive feedback, and valuable criticism during this study. Thank you, Federico; I've been able to explore professional, academic, and personal paths that I know I would never have otherwise.

I'd also like to thank Professor George Ofori, whose guidance and assistance during his time as my PhD Supervisor were vast.

Every individual who contributed to my research should be thanked for giving me support in which, at times, seemed to be an unachievable assignment. Amazing people like my lovely cousins Behfar, Amir and my wonderful friends Christian, Gol, Anna, and Siavash; they gave me hope to push through the hardest days of this journey.

Last but not least, I want to wholeheartedly appreciate my family, particularly my parents, Roya and Saeid, and my brother Shervin. You have been so understanding and helpful to me during my absence from you, and I appreciate it. I wouldn't have thought it would become more manageable, but it has. I want to thank you for your unending love and support through the difficult times. I was motivated to keep pushing and carry on because of your endless care.

This research is dedicated to my parents, my mother, Roya and my father, Saeid.

Abstract

This study explores the application of biomimicry and adaptation lessons from biology in the design of building skins. Unlike conventional practices that prioritise overall building performance and replicate shading shapes and forms throughout the building skin, this research shifts the focus towards occupants and their comfort. It proposes a methodology that detects and highlights the areas of the building that are most visited by occupants, aiming to enhance the thermal and visual comfort in those specific areas. To achieve this, an innovative approach combining agent-based modelling (ABM) and evolutionary design techniques is proposed. Through computational experiments, the research demonstrates that considering the morphological attributes of building skin forms during the early design exploration phase can improve occupants' view of the outside while blocking unwanted solar radiation. This leads to reduced energy consumption for cooling systems and increased energy performance optimisation.

The study investigates how the biologically inspired morphological attributes of skin tissues affect the thermal and visual comfort levels of buildings, particularly in adapting to excessive solar radiation. It proposes generative and analytical processes to enhance the visual and thermal comfort levels of office floors in selected buildings. The research highlights the importance of biomimetic skin morphologies in adapting buildings to solar radiation and explores the role of biomimicry in the adaptive behaviours and design of building skins. As discussed by Steadman, 1979 in 'The Evolution of Designs: Biological Analogy in Architecture and Applied Arts', the notion of nature as a formal metaphor has evolved into one of a collection of interconnected dynamic processes that are credible applications that can be implemented to improve the built environment.

By applying biomimetic attributes and evolutionary design simulations, the research demonstrates the potential for creating diverse building skin variants with improved adaptive behaviours. The morphological interventions on the original building shadings result in a wide range of morphological configurations that enhance the adaptability of the skin tissues. The study emphasises the significance of morphological variations and adaptation of skin tissues in achieving enhanced thermal and visual comfort for users. The findings highlight the potential of evolutionary design thinking, agent-based modelling, and computational tools to optimise building skins and address environmental challenges such as excessive solar radiation.

Contents

Lis	t of Figures vi
Lis	t of Tablesvi
Ac	ronyms and Abbreviationsvii
1	Introduction1
	1.1 Research Rationale and Identification of Research Questions
	1.2 Background of the Study4
	1.2.1 Building Skin: An Environmental Moderator4
	1.2.2 Design Research Domain4
	1.2.3 Setting the Boundaries of Comfort6
	1.3 Problem Definition7
	1.3.1 The Global Context7
	1.3.2 Study's Target Area - The Persian Gulf8
	1.4 Aims and Objectives9
2	Literature Review - Chapter 210
	2.1 Establishing the Biomimetic Principal Aspects of the Project
	2.1.1 Biomimicry as a Design Tool for Thermal Comfort
	2.1.2 Adaptation of Biological Concepts in Architectural Discourse
	2.1.3 Evolution
	2.2 Computation and Design
	2.2.1 Computation35
	2.2.2 Computational Design Thinking
	2.2.3 Parametric and Generative Design
	2.2.4 Design Algorithmic Architecture
	2.2.5 Morphogenesis and its Applications
	2.2.6 Agent-based Modelling and Autonomous Characters
	2.2.7 Cybernetics and Its Relevance in Architecture42
	2.2.8 Discussion43
	2.3 State of the Art
	2.3.1 Buildings Skins, Shading Systems44
	2.4 Bespoke Designs and Solutions for Particular Buildings:
	2.5 Non-Exclusive Facade Designs (Conventional Shading Systems That Can Be Generalised and Applied to Different Buildings' Facades)
	2.5.1 Types: Active and Passive Shading Systems49
	2.5.2 Active Shading Systems49

	2.5.3 Passive Shading Systems	54
	2.5.4 Conclusions and Suggestions Based on Shadings' Limitations in Literature	51
3	Research Methodology	63
	3.1 Towards Evolved Solar Radiation Control in Building Skins	64
	3.1.1 Alternative Path: Rudimentary Experimentations with Active Shading Systems for Building Skins	s 64
	3.1.2 Passive (Main) Route6	58
	3.1.3 Simulations (Passive Response)	58
4	Experiments, Results & Analysis	78
	4.1 Experiment Setup (Phase I)	78
	4.1.1 Homeostatic Feedback Mechanism	80
	4.1.2 Selection of the Fitness Criteria	83
	4.1.3 Genotypes and Phenotypes and the Development of the Skin:	86
	4.1.4 Optimisation Mechanism	89
	4.2 Response to Users' Comfort (Phase II)13	34
		42
5	Discussion14	43
5	5.1 Response to Research Questions	43 45
5	5.1 Response to Research Questions	43 45 51
5	5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 15 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings. 15	43 45 51 53
5	5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 15 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings. 15 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design. 15	43 45 51 53 54
5	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 15 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings 15 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 15 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument 15	43 45 51 53 54
5	5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 14 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings. 15 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design. 15 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument 15 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 15	43 45 51 53 54 56 56
5	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 19 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings 19 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 19 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological 19 Argument 19 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 19 5.2.5 Users Comfort 19	43 45 51 53 54 56 56 56
5	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 19 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings 19 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 19 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological 19 Argument 19 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 19 5.2.5 Users Comfort 19 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 19	43 45 51 53 54 56 56 57 58
5	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 15 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings 15 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 15 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological 15 Argument 15 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 15 5.2.5 Users Comfort 15 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 15 5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection 15	43 45 51 53 54 56 56 57 58 58
5	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 19 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings. 19 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 19 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological 19 Argument 19 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 19 5.2.5 Users Comfort 19 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 19 5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection 19 5.3 Future Works and the Limitations 19	43 51 53 54 56 56 57 58 58 58 59
5	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 19 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings 19 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 19 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument 19 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 19 5.2.5 Users Comfort 19 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 19 5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection 19 5.3 Future Works and the Limitations 19 Conclusion and Reflections 10	43 45 51 53 54 56 56 57 58 58 58 58 59 51
5 6 7	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 14 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings. 15 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 15 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument 15 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 15 5.2.5 Users Comfort 15 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 15 5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection 15 5.3 Future Works and the Limitations 16 Appendix I: Applicability in Practice 16	43 45 51 53 54 56 56 57 58 58 58 58 59 51 55
5 6 7 8	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 19 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings 19 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 19 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument 19 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 19 5.2.5 Users Comfort 19 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 19 5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection 19 5.3 Future Works and the Limitations 10 Appendix I: Applicability in Practice 10 Appendix II: Extended Drawings 10	43 45 51 53 54 56 56 57 58 58 59 51 55 58 58 59 51 55 58
5 6 7 8 9	Discussion 14 5.1 Response to Research Questions 14 5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research 19 5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings. 19 5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design 19 5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument 11 5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions 11 5.2.5 Users Comfort 11 5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling: 11 5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection 11 5.3 Future Works and the Limitations 11 Conclusion and Reflections 10 Appendix I: Applicability in Practice 10 Appendix II: Extended Drawings 10 Glossary 10	43 45 51 53 54 56 57 58 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 58 59 51 59 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50

List of Figures

Figure 1 The Definition and Boundaries of Comfort for This Research (Kuhn, 2001)	6
Figure 2 Computation as a bridge between biology and architectural design	12
Figure 3 Feedback loops can be positive or negative. A positive feedback loop recognises a change	е
and amplifies it. A negative feedback loop recognises a change and brings it back to normal.	
Homeostasis mechanism performs based on negative feedback loop	18
Figure 4 The way the proposed data mining mind map has been set-up for this research	19
Figure 5 Left side: Jackrabbit with huge ears to maximise surface-to-volume ratio (Weebly, 2022).	•
Right side: Author's illustration of geometrical attributes extracted from Jackrabbit's morphologic	cal
quality which can be applied in architecture	20
Figure 6 Left side: Ribbed Cacti with Self-Shading Attribute (Bhushan, 2009). Right side: Author's	
illustration of geometrical attributes extracted from Cacti's self-shading morphological quality whether the second s	nich
can be applied in architecture	21
Figure 7 Body temperature regulation as a homeostasis mechanism	21
Figure 8 Negative Feedback Loop of blood glucose homeostasis mechanism	22
Figure 9 Cross-section view of the geranium plant's stem (Hensel et al., 2004)	23
Figure 10 Cross-section view of the geranium plant's stem that follows the same principles of cel	I
grouping as Geranium Plant showing different groups of cells with different functions (Hensel et a	al.,
2004)	24
Figure 11 The evolutionary process in generation in computation	28
Figure 12 Evolutionary Algorithm (Bentley, 2002)	30
Figure 13 Hierarchy of three layers (Reynolds, 2002)	41
Figure 14 PedSim pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshopper (Peng, 2019)	41
Figure 15 The composition and structure of cybernetics (Novikov, 2016)	43
Figure 16 User requirements for optimum designed façade (Kuhn, 2001)	46
Figure 17 Flectofins by ITKE (López, 2017)	47
Figure 18 The One Ocean Thematic Pavilion (López, 2017)	47
Figure 19 Meteorosensitive pavilion called HygroSkin (Menges, 2012)	48
Figure 20 Al-bahar Tower Abu Dhabi (Al Bahr Towers, 2011)	48
Figure 21 Overhangs (Nature of home, 2022)	57
Figure 22 Horizontal and vertical louvers (Choi, 2022)	58
Figure 23 Egg-crates (ResearchGate, 2017)	59
Figure 24 The focus and the scope of the research in the world of building skin and facade	64
Figure 28 Light Sensor and Arduino Kit	65
Figure 28 Temperature sensor Arduino Kit	65
Figure 28 An attempt towards controlling five light and one temperature sensor	65
Figure 28 PDLC films attached over light sensors	65
Figure 29 The diagrammatic visualisation of input and output	66
Figure 30 Testing the PDLC performance against Infrared light with light and temperature sensor	66
Figure 31 Mobile app interactivity with Arduino	66
Figure 32 Effectiveness of PDLC films in blocking light and infrared rays	67
Figure 33 Human interactivity with facade systems	67
Figure 34 PIF towers (Capital Market Authority Tower, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, 2016)	70

Figure 35 Abu Dhabi Market Square (Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, 2019)	71
Figure 36 Al Hilal Bank Tower (Al Hilal Bank Office Tower / Goettsch Partners, 2021)	72
Figure 37 The view from inside to the outside of the Al-Bahr towers (Al Bahr Towers, 2011).	73
Figure 38 The Al-Bahr Towers (Al Bahr Towers, 2011)	73
Figure 39 NSGA-II algorithm pseudocode	74
Figure 40 The modified evolutionary simulation workflow with two secondary evaluation	
mechanisms. The red squares show the modified stages. The green square shows the added	step on
the application of evolutionary simulation in design using Wallacei.	77
Figure 41 Basic Illustration of the development of each type of skin in the evolutionary desig	n
experiment as well as the types of shadings used in the evolutionary design platform (Phase	l). The
red dots are attractor units that can be spread throughout the building surface area to chang	ge the
density of the skin cells or shadings	79
Figure 42 The pseudocode of the design problem within which the evolutionary simulation v	vill be
operating	82
Figure 43 Homeostasis Feedback Loop In relation to the Evolutionary Algorithm that general	es skin:
Figure 44 The grouping technique inspired by geranium plant stem for the process of activat	ion of
HMA & HMB over the skin during the optimisation	
Figure 45 The Illustration of sun radiation application over the building	
Figure 46 View Analysis Method	
Figure 47 Illustration of an example of genes morphological representation of proposed cell	ular skin
	86 d.a. a.u. d
Figure 48 The industration of the effect of the genes modification on self-shading of the faça	and and
by increasing surface to volume ratio. (Based on the grouping technique of geranium plant's	tem)86
shadings (UNA)	5 TOP
Figure EQ Gong group 2 controls the morphological changes that generates and changes ext	0/
of the shadings which is part of the HMA and HMP	usions 97
Figure 51 Gene group 4 controls the morphological changes that generates and changes ext	
of the shadings which is part of the HMR	usions 87
Figure 52 Gene Group 3 controls the density of the shadings panels and cells (Part of the HN	//// 87
Figure 53 Cellular Skin: Cellular skins can have different density of cells depending on the su	face
they are placed. In this instance, the red dot produces more density of cells depending on the sal	
density of cells	88
Figure 54 Linear Skin linear shadings can have different angles length and arrangements	
Figure 55 Abu-Dhahi Market Horizontal Skin (Before and After)	
Figure 56 Radiation Analysis of Abu-Dhabi Market with the original skin	93
Figure 57 Radiation Analysis Abu-Dhabi Market with the evolved skin	94
Figure 58 View Analysis Abu-Dhabi Market	95
Figure 59 Evaluation and Results: of Abu-Dhabi Market	
Figure 60 Optimisation Graphs of Generation 313	
Figure 61 Al-Hilal tower with vertical shadings	
Figure 62 Radiation Analysis of Al-Hilal tower with the original skin	
Figure 63 Radiation Analysis Al-Hilal tower with the evolved skin	100
Figure 64 View Analysis of the Al-Hilal tower	101
- •	

Figure 65 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Hilal tower	102
Figure 66 Optimisation Graphs of Generation 318	103
Figure 67 PIF Tower, with Square (Crossed) Shadings	104
Figure 68 Radiation Analysis of the PIF Tower with the original skin	105
Figure 69 Radiation Analysis of the PIF Tower with the evolved skin	106
Figure 70 View Analysis of the PIF Tower	107
Figure 71 Evaluation and Results: the PIF Tower	108
Figure 72 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution, the PIF Tower, Generation 95	109
Figure 73 The Al-Bahr towers and Cellular Pattern (before and after)	110
Figure 74 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers with the original skin	111
Figure 75 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers with the evolved skin	112
Figure 76 View Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers	113
Figure 77 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr towers	114
Figure 78 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution, the Al-Bahr towers, Generation 399	115
Figure 79 Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings (Before and After)	116
Figure 80 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers with the original skin	117
Figure 81 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr Towers with the Evolved Horizontal Shadings	118
Figure 82 View Analysis of the Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings	119
Figure 83 Evaluation and Results: Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings	120
Figure 84 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution, Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings, Ger	eration
399	121
Figure 85 Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading (Before and After)	122
Figure 86 Radiation analysis of Al-Bahr Towers (Vertical Shading) with the original skin	123
Figure 87 Radiation analysis of Al-Bahr Towers (Vertical Shading) with the evolved skin	124
Figure 88 View Analysis Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading	125
Figure 89 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading	126
Figure 90 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution of the Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading,	
Generation 399	127
Figure 91 Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) Pattern (before and after)	128
Figure 92 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) pattern with the o	riginal
skin	129
Figure 93 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) pattern with the ev	volved
skin	130
Figure 94 View Analysis Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) pattern	131
Figure 95 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr towers with egg-crate (crossed) pattern	132
Figure 96 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution of the Al-Bahr towers with egg-crate (cros	ssed)
pattern, Generation 399	133
Figure 97 PedSim pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshopper (Peng, 2019)	134
Figure 98 Eight Steps of the ABM process of this research	135
Figure 99 Solar Exposure Analysis (Armstrong et al., 2013).	136
Figure 100 Staffs visiting (working) areas	136
Figure 101 Visitor moving areas	137
Figure 102 ABM simulation of the users' movement and activity area from 9 am to 5 pm on the	าe 21st
of June. The full video of the simulation is available at:	
https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/719396423	138

Figure 103 High Traffic Areas Detected	139
Figure 104 Radiation Exposure on the Office Floor from 9 pm to 5 pm	139
Figure 105 High Traffic Locations Overlaid with Radiated Spots	140
Figure 106: The Most Visited and Radiation Exposed Spots Detected From 9 am to 5 pm	140
Figure 107 Illustration of the solar radiation rays going through the specific parts of the skin	towards
the areas on the floor with the most users' interaction	141
Figure 108 Method of detecting parts of the skin for adaption	141
Figure 109 Skin adaptation process: selected (detected) parts of the skin are taken to the	
evolutionary optimisation for adaptation to users needs. Animation available at:	
https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/719396423	142
Figure 110 Areas Exposed to Solar Radiation During 9 am to 5 pm on June 21st	142
Figure 111 Thermal analysis thrived from section 4.1.2.	165
Figure 112 View (visual comfort) analysis thrived from section 4.1.2	166
Figure 113 Different conflicting Objectives implemented in the Evolutionary design process t	hat
thrived from the PhD study	166
Figure 114 Recommended and selected solutions from the EA-generated plans; presented w	ith
graphs so the client can browse and make an informed decision	167
Figure 115 View Analysis procedure with more details	168
Figure 116 The Illustration of in way view vectors can detected "blocked" when intersect the	skin 168

All drawings and figures in this thesis are created by the author, unless otherwise stated.

List of Tables

Table 1 Homeostatic Mechanism A (H-M-A)	80
Table 2 Homeostatic Mechanism B (H-M-B)	81
Table 3 This table shows the selected bio-inspired elements (based on the mind map) that	
have become the genes of the phenotypes in the evolutionary simulation	. 86
Table 4 Phase 1: Evolutionary Design Simulation Parameters	91

Acronyms and Abbreviations

- 3D 3 Dimension
- ABM Agent-Based Modelling
- AI Artificial Intelligence
- CAD Computer-Aided Design
- CAD/CAM Computer-Aided Design and Manufacturing
- CO2 Carbon Dioxide
- EA Evolutionary Algorithm
- EC Evolutionary Computation
- EP Evolutionary Programming
- ES Evolutionary Systems
- FO Fitness Objectives
- GA Genetic Algorithm
- GP Genetic Programming
- ITKE –Institute of Building Structures and Structural Designs
- LCD Liquid Crystal Devices
- PDLC Polymer Dispersed Liquid Crystals
- PV Photovoltaic
- SPDs Suspended Particle Devices

1 Introduction

By the year 2050, up to 70% more people are anticipated to live in metropolitan regions (United Nations, 2018). The exponential growth of population not only reflects the necessity of having more habitable spaces in the near future but also illustrates an urgent need for a proposal of a design system at which one of its core missions is to inhibit the exhaustion of environmental resources and, at best, enhancing environmental conditions by lowering greenhouse emission. Urban expansions in their current shape will leave architects and designers with considerable environmental challenges. The skin of the buildings and, at the larger scale, building morphology must be reconsidered to facilitate their adaptation to unpredictable and extreme environmental conditions.

The current approaches towards adjusting architectural spaces to extreme environmental conditions, such as regions with excessive solar radiations, involve high energy consumption that, in fact, contributes to the sudden climatic changes and global warming in recent decades. The European Council reports that buildings currently consume an estimated 40% of the region's energy and are responsible for up to 36% of the European Union's CO2 emissions (European Union, 2012). In recent years, there has been tremendous development in a growing range of projects concerning building envelope improvements, problems, and opportunities, as well as their influence on building energy demand, because an appropriate architectural design of an envelope may greatly reduce energy use and 'energy consumption reduction' and 'indoor comfort enhancement' are the two most essential aims that must be realised as an outcome of intelligent buildings performance (Selkowitz, 2001). Such energy is predominantly consumed in cooling and heating mechanisms in habitable spaces. (European Union, 2012).

The growth in global populations presents an urgent need to increase the existing habitable buildings. Keeping this fact in mind, it is imperative to develop buildings that offer comfort without adding harm to the world by causing a rise in global temperatures and utilising building resources that will result in a significant amount of CO2 emissions. Building envelope is one of the most vital design elements that define the interior physical environment, therefore, influencing how energy is used in buildings (Yilmaz, 2003). Considering this conclusive role, in the past few years, many studies and research work around the world have been focused on envelopes in a bid to improve performance and efficiency with regard to structure, comfort, and energy. (Lee, 2004) & (Selkowitz et al., 2003)

The emphasis and interest of this research are in biological adaptation lessons are typically sophisticated, extremely reactive, and multi-functional. Therefore, to increase energy performance, a new adaptable architectural envelope is required as opposed to typical mainstream building

envelopes that are nonadaptive. Therefore, in contrast to static and traditional building envelopes, a new adaptive architectural envelope is required to enhance energy performance.

Nature, as a repository of forms and processes, has always been a source of inspiration for solving complex real-world problems across different disciplines. Evolution as a mechanism by which all of these processes and behaviours have evolved is compelling to be investigated and studied in order to infer a design methodology for problems revolving around adaptation to the environment. According to the biologist John S. Torday, Homeostasis as a scale-free biological process plays an important role in the adaptation of species to their environment throughout their evolutionary developments (Torday, 2015). This research project, through investigations of homeostatic processes and behaviours of species and their importance in their evolutionary development, aims to address the significance of morphological properties of buildings in their adaptation to contexts with excessive solar radiation.

According to Dobzhansky, the Evolutionary process in which an organism evolves to become more adept at surviving in its environment is an adaptation (Dobzhansky, 2012). Throughout the course of their evolutionary development, living organisms acquire effective strategies for adapting to intense environmental pressures. When confronted with external or intrinsic changes, individual living species and colonies typically retain their stable state. This adaptation propensity is essential for both external and internal changes in species' evolutionary and biological development. The biological process through which individuals and groups maintain a steady state in their surroundings is known as homeostasis, and it is the source of a vast variety of morphological and behavioural features in different species. This fundamental and scale-free biological process, which ensures that natural systems can adapt to their surroundings, manifests itself throughout the evolutionary development of forms, processes, and behaviours (Torday, 2015). Recent discoveries in biology and computer science have made it possible to use the ideas of how species evolve to tackle issues in the real world. In recent decades, the use of random search methods in the architecture and building design disciplines in conjunction with evolutionary multi-objective optimisation strategies has begun to be regarded as a well-established technique for resolving complex problems involving competing objectives (Racimo, 2016).

The area of biomimetics, which has been around for many years and has produced important contributions to the domains of engineering and architecture, has rarely given attention to homeostasis. Otto Schmitt first used the word "biomimetics" in the 1950s to describe the copying of natural models, systems, and principles in order to address challenging human issues (Vincent et al., 2006). In order to apply regulatory systems to the processes of evolutionary design, this project studies interlinkages of processes, behaviours and forms of natural systems that are essential to their

homeostatic behaviours; to provide practical and verifiable regulatory systems that can be incorporated into the processes of evolutionary design.

The goal is to look at how biomimetic adaptation behaviours may be applied inside evolutionary design processes to solve a number of issues with architectural skin that, include adaptability to climatic and ecological challenges. The suggested methodology in this research is tested on various architectural styles, building forms, and geographical situations to create skin tissues with embedded morphological characteristics that significantly improve visual and thermal performance.

In this study, the homeostatic as a biological adaptation behaviour is implemented and studied in the framework of evolutionary design processes. To accomplish this, the section of literature review conducts an investigation into the two key domains of biology and architecture through the use of a number of computational approaches in the methodology chapter on skin design methods; the principles of these two domains are linked. The result of the proposed created generative and analytical procedures is a family of skin tissues with various morphological features that are essential for their adaptation to the shape and location of their building.

1.1 Research Rationale and Identification of Research Questions

This study initially focuses on the concept of transferring living organisms' morphology adaptation and evolution and biological process into sustainable technology for innovation. The research looks at how mimicking some of the recognisable principles and functional characteristics of living species brings suitable functions as well as desired aesthetics to create complete bio-inspired systems for building skins. This study implements machine learning (evolutionary algorithm) that enhances the design of facades of buildings resulting in improvement in the optimisation of responsive and intelligent systems in terms of maximising the visual and thermal comfort of the occupants and reducing excessive solar heat transmission.

Primary Research Question:

 How can the combination of the strategies from living organisms, biological processes, and computational design principles be used to design a building skin that can bring thermal and visual comfort to the occupants in comparison to conventional ones?

Design-Oriented Research Questions:

2. Is it conceivable to develop a design exploration method for designing building skins as alternatives to conventional mass-produced shadings that have the capability to be modified and applied to different buildings with different shapes and forms?

Biology and Computation-Oriented Research Questions:

- 3. Can biological lessons and evolutionary algorithms help the design of the skin in order to solve the conflict of view and heat issue of conventional building shadings?
- 4. Lastly, the study will address the following main question; how can the varying preferences, needs and the location of the occupants in the building, considering their thermal and visual comfort, be addressed during the design process of passive building skins?

1.2 Background of the Study

1.2.1 Building Skin: An Environmental Moderator

A building skin is typically described as an enclosure that separates the inner environment from the outer environment and serves the following purposes: support, control, finish (aesthetics), and service distribution (López, 2017). However, this study focuses on the building envelope as an interface and not as a division between the needs of the inhabitants within and the environmental forces outside.

As a result of the environment's ongoing change, there are always new problems to overcome. The essential environmental concerns that have an impact on a building include light (solar radiation), temperature, relative humidity, rain, wind (air movement), sounds and carbon dioxide (air quality). These problems have a substantial impact on both occupant comfort requirements and building performance. Conventional façades are mainly static, despite the fact that the local climate is a changeable factor; as a result, a significant amount of energy is consumed to regulate inside comfort.

Approximately 60% of the total energy used in buildings is used for space heating and cooling (Omrany, 2016). While exterior climatic parameters can fluctuate significantly, the conventional solutions of a static building envelope and dynamic building services have resulted in a significant amount of energy being lost in ventilating, cooling, and lighting between very well-defined limitations. Consequently, the building industry is accountable for nearly two-thirds of halocarbon releases and 25–33 per cent of black carbon footprint (Ürge-Vorsatz et al., 2012), as well as consuming 23 per cent of the world's primary energy and 30 per cent of the world's electricity (Ürge-Vorsatz et al., 2015).

1.2.2 Design Research Domain

Around 1960, Buckminster Fuller argued for a "design science revolution" based on the idea that political and economical solutions to environmental problems should be prioritised over scientific, technological, and rational approaches (Cross, 2001; Baldwin and Fuller, 1996). Fuller emphasised the significance of the act of design by stating at the beginning of the book that "humanity is moving ever

deeper into crisis - a crisis without a precedent" (Fuller, 1982, p. xvii) and at its conclusion that "we have committed ourselves to solving humanity's problem with artefacts" (Fuller, 1982, p. 309). In the book, "The Science of Artificial", Simon (1996) methodically outlined the science of design. He positioned design as a science among other scientific fields and asserted that design is concerned with how things should be, as opposed to natural science, which is focused on how things are (Simon, 1996). Understanding an artefact's "special properties [that] lie on the thin interface between the natural laws within it and the natural laws without" is necessary for its creation (Simon, 1996, p. 113). Alexander Christopher recognised a crucial distinction between a designer and a scientist; scientists strive to find components of an existing system while designers build components for a new system (Alexander, 1965). In this process, "the ultimate object of design is form" (Alexander, 1965, p. 15), and it cannot be acknowledged without having created a comprehensive grasp of the forces to which the form is emerged. Thompson's concept of form as a "diagram of forces" is reiterated by this multidimensional network of forces, which includes social and physical factors, among others (Thompson, 1992)

The majority of biology's contribution to design has been restricted to the employment of form and shape in the bounds of buildings. However, biomimetic adaptation lessons can influence evolutionary design processes to generate skin morphological attributes that are associated with adaptive characteristics. In this study, these adaptive characteristics are studied in a variety of shapes and forms of building skins situated in extremely hot weather conditions. Adaptive architectural envelopes are defined as those that respond to changing interior and exterior environmental conditions while regulating the internal environment. Adaptive architectural envelopes are able to respond to changes effectively as a result of adaptation mechanisms that anticipate outer environmental changes as well as interior activities and their interactions with occupants (Beesley, 2006).

This study attempts to relate the factors that control species' homeostasis and adaptative behaviours to the elements that control the adaptation of building skin tissues. The application of regulating systems in an evolutionary design procedure is one use of the abstracted principles in the design phase. The other front is the implementation of the extracted adaptation lessons (morphological attributes) in the experiment setup procedure. It requires an evolutionary approach where various levels of assessment, control, and adjustment take place repeatedly. The model should simultaneously take into account internal and external influences. Homeostasis also takes place throughout the evolution of species. Consequently, the chosen design procedure through which the suggested workflow is evaluated is an evolutionary model.

A detailed investigation of the role of biological processes in relation to the species' evolutionary growth is obtained throughout this research to gain the knowledge and abilities required. An

understanding of evolutionary adaptation concepts is required to apply such ideas to the computation-based design of building skin. In order to create a workflow of design for this study, it is considered essential to understand how biological fundamentals of evolution are applied via evolutionary computation. Objective evaluations are created in accordance with a series of implementations. This research is positioned within the design field through a series of objective and logical computational experiments that result in a collection of building skin configurations that solve various design issues. It bridges the space in the middle of two fields, architectural (building) design and biology. The findings of this study offer additional information and vision for architectural designers that are curious about how morphological configurations affect the thermal and visual comfort of users within buildings located in extremely hot weather conditions.

1.2.3 Setting the Boundaries of Comfort

In this research, Comfort refers to the ability of a building to satisfy the user's expectations in terms of temperature and visual controls. In architecture, comfort consists of both thermal comfort and visual comfort (Kuhn, Bühler and Platzer, 2001). Figure 1 (below) shows the aspects that facilitate both



Figure 1 The Definition and Boundaries of Comfort for This Research (Kuhn, 2001).

thermal and visual comforts based on the research done by Tilmann Kuhn (2001). Although it may be hard to have a facade that best matches the user's priorities, it is important to concentrate on daylight

and the effect that it might have on ventilation and concentration on solar input and the heat produced by it. For most facades, good visual contact with the outside is achieved only with minimised protection against overheating. Moreover, an adequate supply of daylight is achievable only with minimized protection against overheating. It is also possible to minimize winter solar gains when shading systems are applied for glare protection (Kuhn, Bühler and Platzer, 2001). The comfort criteria considered for this study are focused on solar radiation, natural light, and the visual range of the exterior of the building, which is highlighted in figure 1 above.

1.3 Problem Definition

1.3.1 The Global Context

At present, most of the greenhouse gas emissions come from cities that are currently the major consumers of global energy. More importantly, cities' authorities have the capability to do something about climate change by prioritising urban issues in a responsible way over metropolitan areas and buildings. The European Council (EC) reports that buildings currently consume an estimated 40% of the region's energy and are responsible for up to 36% of the European Union's CO2 emissions. This is shown by plans that are underway to reduce those greenhouse emissions by at least 80-95% under 1990 levels before 2050 (European Commission, Energy Roadmap, 2011). This is evident by looking at how the European Union has been developing and funding numerous building efficiency projects to advance research and innovation programmes, as can be seen in the Horizon 2020 framework (European Commission, Horizon 2020, 2011). The framework recommends raising energy efficiency to a greater level by increasing the coherent utilisation of both passive and active design tactics; in order that heating and cooling loads can be reduced to allow an ascent in equipment energy efficiency and the application of renewable energies (Stevanovic, 2013). Some of the European Union programmes are committed to making retrofitting or setting up energy-efficient technologies, specifically on facades. Superior insulation resources, greener energy supplies, better funding, and more resourceful utilisation of information and communication technology are some of the major avenues being explored (Skou, 2013).

The building envelope divides the interior and exterior environments of a building and is the main barrier that determines the quality and controls the internal conditions regardless of the transient exterior (Sadineni, Srinkath, & Boehm, 2011). Building envelope is one of the most vital design elements that define the interior physical environment, therefore, influencing how energy is used in buildings (Yilmaz, 2003). Considering this significant role, in the past few years, many studies and research work around the world have been focused on envelopes in a bid to improve performance and efficiency with regard to structure, comfort, and energy (Selkowitz, 2001; Selkowitz, 2003). A proper architectural design of an envelope can meaningfully decrease energy consumption if it makes occupants use fewer cooling systems by controlling excessive heat coming into the building. Additionally, 'the reduction of energy consumption' and 'enhancing indoor comfort' are the central goals that are important to be realised as the standards of smart building performance (Lee, 2004). The existing measures of regulating external environmental changes have contributed to a significant amount of energy being lost through heating, cooling, or lighting buildings between quite well-known limits. While peripheral ecological factors can change considerably, they can also lead to developing the current solutions of the static building envelope and dynamic building services. Consequently, the building sector is accountable for roughly two-thirds of halocarbon emissions and an estimated 25-33% of black carbon releases (Ürge-Vorsatz, 2012). Additionally, the building sector consumes 23% of the world's primary energy and approximately 30% of the world's electricity (Vorsatz, 2015). Conventionally, the building envelope has been regarded as a thermal blockade or guard that must be; for instance, insulation to stop heat loss or shaded to regulate solar gain. This method limits more effective solutions, where the building envelope is not regarded as a blockade but as a medium. Therefore, traditional solutions for façades and roofs are not planned for prime adaptation to contextual matters and demands. In contrast to buildings, which remain inactive, living organisms respond to the surrounding, and they are able to adjust to the varying weather conditions (Armstrong, 2012). The façade technology in architecture has increased its use of Biomimetic innovations for novel solutions for the purpose of promoting energy efficiency. (Gruber & Gosztony, 2014:8). This project is inspired by biological resolutions to adaptation as they are usually intricate, multifunctional, and exceedingly responsive. Hence, unlike static and traditional building envelopes, a novel adaptable architectural envelope is required for energy performance improvement and the comfort of occupants. The aim of globalising this field of architecture creates the need to explore different facades that are able to improve buildings' heat control quality and the comfort of the occupants.

1.3.2 Study's Target Area - The Persian Gulf

The goal of this research's design experiment is to generate building skins with morphological characteristics integrated into their shadings and geometry that allow them to adjust to excessive solar radiation, particularly in the Persian Gulf Region, which is one of the regions with growing interest in building constructions and has extreme environmental conditions in summer, where temperatures could rise to 60 degrees in the next decade (Pal and Eltahir, 2016). The need to make buildings more comfortable in terms of solar light has led to the growing demand for adaptive facades

in the world. Electricity loads of cooling systems commonly used in the Persian Gulf region are outstandingly high. (Attia, 2017). A need for designing and developing a facade that is responsive to both human and environmental conditions is required. A proper adaptive model of an envelope can meaningfully decrease energy consumption (Attia, 2017). Additionally, 'the decrease of energy intake' and 'boosting the interior comfort' is the central objectives that are important to be realised as the standards of smart building performance. Therefore, there is a need for a new technique in the façade of buildings to reduce the electricity loads of cooling systems, taking into consideration that cooling systems use more energy in summer than heating systems in winter (Napier, 2015). With the facade technology in architecture increasing its use of Biomimetic innovations for novel solutions with the intention of promoting energy efficiency, this research suggests a novel adaptable architectural envelope that can be applied in the Persian Gulf region that is exposed to excessive summer solar radiation in order to decrease the consumption of cooling systems.

1.4 Aims and Objectives

The main aim of this PhD thesis is to explore and demonstrate the benefits of integration of biomimicry and computational design to revolutionise the design of future building facades by implementing machine learning (Evolutionary Algorithm techniques) in order to address environmental challenges such as solar heat transmission control and enhancing occupant comfort in extremely hot climates. To accomplish the aim of this research, the following objectives have been proposed:

Objectives:

- To study how biological processes in natural science, specifically living organisms, can give adaptation lessons that are applicable in architecture.
- To investigate the design strategies of the high-rise building skins in terms of shape, formation, and geometry by applying evolutionary computation and morphogenesis¹ elements adapted from nature to solve the view and heat conflict of the responsive skins.
- 3. To develop an innovative approach for intelligently considering the local intensity and occupant's thermal/visual comfort in the design process of high-rise building skins.
- 4. To develop a design exploration method for generating client-considered skins applicable to high-rise buildings with various shapes and conditions.
- 5. To develop a building skin design methodology for the improvement of thermal and visual comfort of mass-produced conventional building skins and shadings.

¹ Morphogenesis is a biological process that causes a tissue or organ to develop its shape by controlling the spatial distribution of cells during embryonic development. (McNamara, 2017)

2 Literature Review - Chapter 2

2.1 Establishing the Biomimetic Principal Aspects of the Project

Nature as a solution and inspiration for architecture is a case that has been discussed over ages, arousing interest and constructive discussions (Benyus, 2009). Biomimicry and biomimetics are terms that have a Greek origin. They have derived from the words bios, meaning life and mimesis, which means to imitate. Biomimetics is described as the "abstraction of good design from nature" (Vincent, 2006) or "an emerging discipline that emulates nature's designs and processes to create a healthier, more sustainable planet" (Benyus, 2002). Biomimicry requires humans to mimic design elements in nature and this, in essence, brings about good aesthetics since the architectural forms blend well with nature. Biomimicry involves borrowing from natural elements that experienced, developed, and evolved by nature in the past 3.8 billion years (Pawlyn, 2016). Holistically, this phenomenon explores nature and its contributing characteristics to the world of architecture. The goal here is to meet the ever-changing human needs while simultaneously providing a platform for efficiency and adaptability. This information is valuable in developing future building skin designs that optimise the energy performance of buildings while reducing the adverse impacts on the comfort of occupants.

This research explores how Biomimicry can bring innovation and improvement in mainstream building skin designs and make significant changes to their future. In addition, the study will try to discover the possible benefits of cooperating aspects of computational design into the biomimicry sector, as well as highlighting how it could help make improvements in mainstream skin designs by dealing with environmental issues such as excessive solar radiation, which results in increasing the temperature of the buildings. Moreover, the research investigates how different aspects of natural science, such as evolution, biological processes and adaptation, can be applied and beneficial in the built environment and architecture to come up with innovative designs for building skins while considering the comfort of the people living in buildings located in areas with very hot climates.

2.1.1 Biomimicry as a Design Tool for Thermal Comfort

As previously mentioned, the words biomimicry and biomimetics originate from the Greek words bios, representing life, and mimesis. Biomimetics is explained as the act of using nature to abstract practical designs (Bogatyreva, et al., 2006). It is also an expanding field that imitates designs of nature and processes to develop a better planet that is more sustainable (Benyus, 2002).

Recent developments in technology have ensured that biomimicry can be incorporated into the field of architecture to find lost-lasting solutions to some of the problems affecting the field. One of the notable architects pioneering the utilisation of biomimetic standards in architecture is Michael Pawlyn. He describes biomimicry as the act of studying and mimicking the operational fundamentals of biological mechanisms, forms, procedures, processes, and networks to generate solutions that are sustainable (Pawlyn, 2011). He studies the natural world to establish ways that can be adopted to build more efficient structures and develop systems that will produce zero waste or generate energy for the structures. Biomimetic principles have also been used as the basis of creating new building envelopes in a majority of the research works conducted in the last few years (Lopez et al., 2017). The following examples are three built projects as far as their adaptive envelopes are concerned and how they engage with the surroundings through exchanges of energy and efficiency improvement. The built projects such as Flectofins by ITKE (2012), One Ocean Thematic Pavilion (2012), and a meteorosensitive pavilion known as HygroSkin (Lopez et al., 2017). Plants have inspired the creation of the three structures, and by making them dynamic, the effectiveness of system's reactivity to an environment that is continuously changing will also be increased. The three experimental systems demonstrate biomimicry as a possible tool that can be utilized in the improvement of energy effectiveness in buildings. A culture of dynamic ecological design is created following the effective employment of biomimetics as an instrument in the field of structural design (Gruber, 2010).

Biomimicry is also a representation of substitute methods that can be used in reconciling energy efficiencies with the necessity for high-quality interior environments incorporating flexibility into the design of the envelope, as the doctrine of nature inspires (Loonen, 2015). Present-day building methods provide adequate opportunities that enable the development of inventive adaptive envelopes that are responsive to climate circumstances in a better way, thus enabling the facade to act as a live membrane (John et al., 2005). It is significant to take into consideration that in all scenarios, biomimicry is a concept and a shift of operational principles from biology and not employed to develop the same imitation from nature (Brayer et al., 2013). Biomimetics enables the development of sustainable building systems through the provision of ideas to be discovered and obtained from the designs given by nature. Nature provides significant lessons to be employed as innovative technologies to conduct future envelopes (Vincent, 2001).

Contrary to simply interpreting biomorphic aspects of architecture from biology, the exchange of understanding occurs on a level of performance through the evaluation of strategies in a manner similar to the way problems are resolved in engineering and biology (Kennedy et al., 2015). However,

it is not an easy task to transfer from biology to design and technology. Julian Vincent (2006) gives a reflection on the exchange of information between these disciplines and the processes to discover answers to essential questions from engineering and integrate them appropriately with the solutions provided by nature. Potential factors that may contribute to the collapse of transfer may be shallow study, inadequate data from life sciences, inappropriate strategy, or a phenomenon that is not scaleable. Consulting specialists in the field of life sciences may contribute to the success of the transfer (Gruber, 2008). Hence, this new way through which nature inspires techniques to create structures contributes to the emergence of opportunities resulting from the collaborations of biologists inspired by nature and designers (Mazzoleni, 2013).

Evolutionary computation is the preferred technique through which the generative model is created in order to integrate extracted biological principles in skin design processes and to assess and analyse the outcomes. The assessment techniques used to evaluate the outcomes include thermal and view analysis. For this reason, a concise summary of these two fields (computation and biology) is given before the computational experiments in the following sections of chapter two. This study has used computer computational design principles (in the field of computer science) as a bridge between biology and architecture to apply the adapted biological principles and apply them to the design experiment of this research (figure 2).



Figure 2 Computation as a bridge between biology and architectural design

2.1.2 Adaptation of Biological Concepts in Architectural Discourse

Apart from the built projects previously mentioned in the field of biomimicry, it is worth highlighting the comparison and analysis of other academic research works in this field. There exist some of the most important channels of research that study numerous biological doctrines for innovative strategies to create biomimetic design conceptions in construction envelopes. These research works include "BioSkin" by Susanne Gosztonyi (2010) and Petra Gruber, "Towards the living envelope" by Lidia Badarnah Kadri (2010) and "Architecture follows nature" by Ilaria Mazzoleni (Gosztonyi et al., 2010).

In "BioSkin" (2010), researchers investigate the possibility of biomimetics by discovering pioneering and natural resolutions to create new energy-proficient facades of the future (Gruber and Gosztonyi, 2010). There is the creation of a biological database depending on 240 organic creatures discovered to have capabilities of transmission for envelopes. The created database analyses different role models obtained from nature, inclusive of all types of plants, animals, animal products, cellular walls, or events like swarm activities (Gruber, 2010).

In "Towards the living envelope" (Kadri, 2010), the writer suggests a tactical approach, through practical features and approaches present in nature, for the creation of devise conception for envelopes. This biomimetic design approach is planned to depend on the four significant aspects of the environment: water, air, heat, and light, and design concepts are created from these items (Badarnah, 2012). For instance, a system to harvest water is designed, depending on natural mechanisms to regulate water, like in animals, insect vegetation or human skin, instead of restricting it to certain stratagem or organisms (Badarnah and Kadri, 2014). Another example designed in this research is the heat regulation system, depending on various thermoregulation methods in creatures that minimize the loss of energy for heating and maximize cooling effectiveness through dispersing surplus heat, like termites, tuna fish, and skin of humans or birds (Badarnah et al., 2010).

2.1.2.1 Adaptation

Adaptation is the evolutionary process where an organism improves its ability to survive in its habitat (Dobzhansky, 2012). Another key element in the field of biomimicry is 'Adaptation' which is the natural process by which a living thing becomes more adjusted to living in its habitat. It can also help an animal or plant to survive in the conditions in which they normally live. Based on the 2012 publication of Materials for the Study of Variation (Bateson, 2012), that have been deeply influential in the development of the biological science of evolutionary development and contained the first substantial

account of variation in living forms, "Materials for the study of variation: treated with special regard to discontinuity in the origin of species" (Bateson, 2012). Bateson's argument rests on his analysis of the morphology of living beings, observing that "the bodies of living things are mostly made up of repeated parts" (Bateson, 2012), organized bilaterally or radially in series, and many body parts themselves are also made up of repeated units so that morphological changes or variations occur by changes to the arrangement, number, or the order of parts. There is something here that speaks directly to the principle of adaptation in a new or changing environment in which living beings exist, so adaptive changes are not only context-dependent but are a continuous process of mutation that occurs over multiple generations. Adaptation is an evolutionary response to gain a metabolic advantage and is produced through mutation and natural selection. (Kaviani *et al.*, 2022)

Many species have adaptively evolved their form and metabolism with other species for mutual benefit. The evolution of specialised morphological features for collecting nectar and pollen, such as the tubular proboscis in flies, moths and butterflies, enable them to collect a rich energy source and, at the same time, enables the transfer of genetic information by pollen grains from the male anther to the female stigma for fertilization (Kaviani et al., 2021). Co-evolution, speciation and adaptive radiation have produced great diversity in the morphology of flowering plants and in the species that act to pollinate them. (Weinstock, 2008) Responsiveness is a reactive behaviour that occurs within the lifetime of the organism. It is comprised of sensing, decision-making, and reactions that are widely distributed in the skin and in the internal organs so that the overall higher-level response of the whole being is the product of multiple local decisions and actions. The responsive movements of plants are most familiar, such as the opening and closing of the petals of flowers in the diurnal cycles of day and night or trees shedding their leaves in autumn as the temperature falls in the approach of winter. Mammals similarly have direct, locally autonomous processes; for example, when one starts to run, the increase in the rate and volume of breath, the opening of pores to regulate the higher internal temperatures generated, and the acceleration of heartbeat are not conscious decisions. (Waddington, 2019).

The combined metabolism of many various individuals and species creates ecological systems. An individual tree's anatomy is set up to support the three-dimensional array of leaves necessary for the metabolism of photosynthetic organisms. It modifies its local environment by the transpiration of water drawn up from the ground, which modifies the structure of the soil, and therefore the water vapour and gases excreted by the leaves modify the temperature, humidity, and oxygen content of the local atmosphere. As a result, this directly influences other plants' metabolism, as will the shade they cast, and produces the environment that bacteria and fungi, insects, birds, and animals inhabit

and which they, in turn, modify. (Weinstock, 2008a, p. 27). The flow of energy and material through an ecological system is regulated by the collective responses of the metabolism of all the living forms within it, and over time the regime of natural selection will produce evolutionary adaptions across a range of species in the collective. Over many generations, this has changed the local regime of 'fitness' and, consequently, the dynamics of natural selection. (Darwin, 1872)

2.1.2.2 Inside, Outside, and In-Between

According to Michael Weinstock, metabolic processes in living things are assured by a sequence of changes that take place in interaction with the neighbouring environment (Weinstock, 2008b) (Faraud, 2017). Weinstock states that metabolism is the defining feature in the reciprocal interaction between biological forms and their surrounding environment (Weinstock, 2008b). Homeostasis is a fundamental biological function that maintains metabolism and energy exchange.

Similarly to natural systems, artificial systems convert resource inputs into the energy necessary for living, a process that eventually results in waste in the form of matter of heat (Pataki, 2010; Bettencourt et al., 2007). Using a similar rationale as biology, using homeostasis principles in the design of building skin (behavioural and morphological traits) can have a favourable influence on the energy performance of the buildings.

In biology, an organism's lifespan is determined by the metabolic processes that cause change inside the organism in reaction to its regional environment. (Faraud, 2017).

These metabolic processes guarantee the continuation of life across a range of scales and determine "the relations of individuals and populations of natural forms with their local environment" (Weinstock, 2008). Species have evolved effective morphological characteristics, responsive behaviours, and processes of sustaining the exchange of matter and energy with their environment through the course of evolution. These effluxes and influxes are being monitored, regulated and maintained through responsive regulatory mechanisms, which in turn affects the 'Homeostasis' of an organism (the term that was originally cemented by Cannon (Cannon, 1963)), by which the organism is able to sustain the state of equilibrium through internal and external changes. This equilibrium at any level is defined within three physical domains of any system: inside and outside, and what separates them from one and another, in-between.

Homeostasis amongst all species is manifested through responsive behaviours, morphological characteristics and processes. J. Scott Turner (2016) stresses that homeostasis is not the final result but rather an independent process triggered by unfavourable internal or external changes (L St Hilaire,

2002). Building upon the idea of the process, J. S Torday emphasizes the significance of such processes in the evolutionary development of species which subsequently ensures their adaptation to the everchanging environmental conditions by providing "reference point for change" (Torday, 2015). This scale-free process (Torday, 2015) by which all biological systems will maintain their vital parameters in an acceptable range has been manifested physically through their formal configuration and morphological characteristics throughout their evolutionary developments.

2.1.2.3 Homeostatic Behaviour

Feedback mechanisms are a crucial component of the homeostatic processes that other disciplines have explored. In response to unanticipated changes, these systems enable organisms to conduct responsive behaviours. The fundamental ideas behind these regulatory processes have a profound influence on other scientific fields and cleared the road for their application in other fields. The fundamental concepts of biological systems' homeostasis and feedback mechanisms served as the foundation for the multidisciplinary field of cybernetics. The thorough investigation of natural system control patterns by D. and K. Stanley Jones (1960) provided insight into the connection between a species' homeostatic mechanisms and its physical architecture (Stanley-Jones, 2014). Norbert Weiner (1985), by connecting the feedback of homeostasis and the biological principles of prediction to constructed machines (artefacts), established the cybernetics school of thought (Wiener, 1948). This connection established a new way of thinking about the artefact and how it relates to its setting. The ability of a machine or artefact to conduct predictive behaviours began to gain footing in the late 20th century. In order to create artefacts that conduct anticipatory behaviours in response to environmental changes, cybernetics investigated the applicability of behavioural principles of governing mechanisms of homeostasis.

Regulatory Behaviours:

Sensing, recognising, and undoing undesirable changes are the three steps of any homeostatic process (Simon, 1996). The variable of concern in this research is a heat-related (solar radiation intensity) factor that is investigated across building surfaces and skin tissues. An iterative model is necessary to carry out these actions continuously in order to incorporate this behaviour into the design process. As a result, the evolutionary model is chosen as the foundation for the research's design trials recognising a change and reversing it. In this study's evolutionary model, two distinct heat and view-related analysis methods are developed to enable the evolution to stop if the variables fall outside of a certain range. Additionally, the evolutionary engine built for this study enables the application of several conditional statements, analysing the differences of the variable of concern throughout various

iterative model phases. This is the same as homeostasis' scale-free feature, which applies to various organisational levels in colonies of any kind and to species.

Morphological Characteristics

It has been shown that morphology is just as important to any homeostatic mechanism in both individual species and colonies as regulating behaviours (Simon, 1996). These characteristics may be abstracted and applied into evolutionary models to push the experiments towards developing such morphological attributes in various skin tissues. These morphological characteristics are as follows.

First, morphological configurations can be used to manage the surface-to-volume ratio (figure 5). Increasing the surface-to-volume ratio of a particular volume may help with heat dissipation (described in section 2.1.2.5 and figure 5). This geometrical technique promotes the self-shading processes of the produced morphologies in the design model in addition to modifying the surface-to-volume ratios. One of the most prevalent morphological qualities that promote heat exchange via temperature shifts from one domain to another in colonies and individual species is the ability to shade oneself (figure 6). Moreover, the ability to create groups and partitions over skin tissues as a density strategy can help divide the skin tissues or shadings, based on size and density, into different groups for different functions in order to optimise performance. These geometrical arrangements, Hensel et al. (2004) assert, improve structural capacity, increase strength, and improve flexibility. The development of these morphological qualities in skin tissue that are a manifestation of biological homeostatic behaviours will be explored in chapter four of this research.

2.1.2.4 Homeostatic Principles and their Morphological Manifestations:

The final form and function of a system will depend on how a system responds to environmental changes, according to Gerlee et al. in their study "Evolving Homeostatic Tissue using Genetic Algorithm" (Gerlee et al., 2011). In organisms, homeostasis happens on many different levels and regulates a large range of factors. In the context of this study, heat and visual comfort are two of these factors and the regulatory mechanisms involved with them are being examined.

Any homeostatic mechanism, including thermoregulation, aims to counteract the negative effects of an unfavourable stimulus on the system. These procedures consist of three key components: 1. A set point, 2. Receptors 3. Effectors (Rye et al., 2016). In the event that any deviation is discovered by receptors, effectors will return the system to its set point through responsive feedback loops. Both internal and external stability of the organism is maintained by these feedback loops, which can be either positive or negative. Due to this equilibrium, organisms are able to consistently adapt to changes in their environment that are both extreme and unexpected, yet still, survive. Throughout the course of their evolution, species develop morphological attributes that are actually the conclusion of their homeostatic mechanisms.



Figure 3 Feedback loops can be positive or negative. A positive feedback loop recognises a change and amplifies it. A negative feedback loop recognises a change and brings it back to normal. Homeostasis mechanism performs based on negative feedback loop.

2.1.2.5 The Proposed Mind Map for Extracting Biological Principals

Nature has been for a long time a source of inspiration for architecture, with architects drawing inspiration from nature's morphological processes, skin and form, resulting in responsive environments. Nature is responsive as it is purposeful, complex, predictive and a self-organizing active environment. There is a distinction between sources of explanation and of inspiration. Natural science offers explanations that suggest analogies are valid, whereas a source of inspiration provides imaginative stimulus. The inspiration derived from nature facilitates the mapping process with biological information, which can be incorporated into architectural applications. This process results in the creation of a responsive environment described as a self-organising, active and purposeful environment.

The information applied in the collection of data was obtained from an initial study in attempts that were made to understand the evolving process of the Geranium stem and extract how it could be manipulated for an architectural application as a partitioning principle for architectural skin modules while at the same time how it can help to design responsive skins for buildings to control the excessive solar radiation. In order to classify the data collected from nature and how they could be applied to architecture, the mind map table below has been introduced. The goal of this mind map is to find suitable natural adaptability and response of living organisms to their environmental conditions and to find out how the responses and adaptability can be applied in architecture when the context is the same.



Figure 4 The way the proposed data mining mind map has been set-up for this research

The Biological lessons chosen for this research project that has been extracted from the mind map are the following. (the following living organisms have been analysed and in the complete version of the mind map available at: https://www.mindmeister.com/966873314?t=PXf65DicQ6)

• Jackrabbit: Surface-to-volume ratio²

The ear of jackrabbits is approximated to be 19 per cent of their bodies. The huge ears of the Jack Rabbit give a vast area of exposed skin that is densely packed with blood veins. The blood vessels in the outer part of the rabbit's ears widen when the surrounding air temperature is slightly lower than the rabbit's body temperature, as example when it retreats from the hot desert sun into the shade. This lowers the rabbit's body temperature by increasing the surface-area-to-volume ratio of the vessels, which favours heat loss to the surrounding air (Weebly, 2022).





Total surface area (height x width x number of sides x number of boxes)	6	150	750
Total volume (height x width x length x number of boxes)	1	125	125
Surface-to-volume ratio (surface area / volume)	6	1.2	6

Figure 5 Left side: Jackrabbit with huge ears to maximise surface-to-volume ratio (Weebly, 2022). Right side: Author's illustration of geometrical attributes extracted from Jackrabbit's morphological quality which can be applied in architecture

• Ribbed Cacti: Self-Shading Attribute

The Barrel cacti shape and ribs can provide self-shading and enhance heat dissipation. Cacti use selfshading as one of their key adaptation strategies. Through its unique rib structure, the cactus stem expands, shrinks, and maintains a high surface-to-volume ratio. According to studies, Cacti Grusonii may extend up to 54% of its original surface area (Bhushan, 2009). Self-shaded regions in between the ribs assist in decreasing the surface temperatures when the ribs are shrunk. As the cactus becomes larger, the surface-to-volume ratio rises, allowing heat and light to escape. At the cortex, there are areoles from which spines develop, self-shading and generating a colder environment. Through these morphological modifications, Cacti may attain a temperature differential of up to 17°C in winter and 25°C in summer between the surface and air temperatures, according to studies. Kuru et al. (Kuru et al., 2020)

² In surface area to volume ratio (SA:Vol) the outside surface area of an object to its internal volume is compared has a direct relationship with heat loss.



Figure 6 Left side: Ribbed Cacti with Self-Shading Attribute (Bhushan, 2009). Right side: Author's illustration of geometrical attributes extracted from Cacti's self-shading morphological quality which can be applied in architecture

• Homeostasis Principles

Homeostasis refers to the biological processes through which organisms and collectives keep a regulatory behaviour in their environments, and encompasses a wide range of morphological and behavioural properties shared by many species. Homeostasis and evolutionary developmental processes control these morphological traits. Examining and reflecting on the interrelationships of forms, processes, and behaviours might lead to effective strategies for computational skin design methodologies that demand significant environmental performance improvements. (Turner, 2002, p. 192).



Body Temperature Regulation

Figure 7 Body temperature regulation as a homeostasis mechanism



Figure 8 Negative Feedback Loop of blood glucose homeostasis mechanism

According to Torday, it is essential to simultaneously study an organism's biological internal development and changes (ontogenetic) and the evolution and external changes (phylogenetic background) in order to adequately appreciate evolution's mechanism and its influence on species' attributes and morphology (J. Torday, 2015). Every stage of evolutionary adaptation and biological development involves the biological process of homeostasis, which is essential to life. Therefore, it must be examined from both angles. Any system, whether biological or synthetic, must be able to develop adaptation to possible unanticipated changes in its environment over a wide variety of time scales in order to survive. Rather than creating artefacts based on hypothetical predictions, Herbert Simon (1996) postulated that implementing regulatory processes was a more practical way to create environmental adaptation. He stated that two procedures—"homeostatic mechanisms that make the system relatively insensitive to the environment and retrospective feedback adjustment to the environment's variation" (Simon, 1996, p. 149)— are more beneficial in the adaptation process than predictive behaviours.

The phrase "Milieu Interieur" was first used by Claude Bernard in the late 19th century to describe "the stability of the internal environment" (Bernard, 1974). He asserts that it is a necessary condition for any biological organism to be able to live a free and independent life (Bernard, 1974). Bernard believed that interstitial fluid surrounds the internal organs and tissues of multicellular organisms, maintaining their stability through changes in the external environment. The central idea behind Walter Bradford Cannon's coining of the term "homeostasis" later in the early 20th century was Bernard's research (Cannon, 1963). The process by which a biological organism maintains its steady state is known as homeostasis (Martin, 2008). Eventually, this stability will lead to the "maintenance of life and evolution" (Novak, 1968, p. 99). Numerous variables, each under the control of a homeostatic process, must be maintained in order to sustain the internal state of a biological system at a steady state. Homeostasis, according to Cannon, is a highly organised process that results from the organism's self-governance (Cannon, 1963). This characteristic is essential for a system's context responsiveness and, on a bigger scale, its evolutionary adaptation. Temperature and glucose level regulating mechanisms are two examples of homeostasis.

• The Geranium plant stem cells: cell grouping and partitioning technique

Hensel et al. (2004) discuss the example of the geranium plant, suggesting that it is "the perfect example of integration and differentiation in a plant stem."



Figure 9 Cross-section view of the geranium plant's stem (Hensel et al., 2004)

As shown in Figure 9, the stem is made up of specialised cells and differentiated vessels, which are arranged as closely packed bundles. This geometrical arrangement, Hensel et al. (2004) asserts, improves structural capacity, increases strength, and improves flexibility. According to Hensel and his colleagues, every cell plays an essential role in creating structural capacity. For example, the xylem

vessels (represented in figure 10) are primarily designed to transport nutrients and water from the roots. Due to their critical role, these cells are helices of lignin which ensures that elongation does not affect the plant's stability. Similarly, the phloem cells (represented as five bundles of green vessels) form part of the vascular system that distributes hormones and carbohydrate cells. Hensel et al. (2004) also explain how the stem achieves movement, stating that the parenchyma cells take in water to increase their size and vice versa, movements that cause deformation and helps the plant to move around objects. To constrain the plant in a specific direction, the stem cells are all different sizes and oriented differently. To sum up, the geranium stem has influenced this study with three important lessons; density strategy, minimum usage of the material for perimeter and partitioning of the cells for different functions and cell growth processes.



Figure 10 Cross-section view of the geranium plant's stem that follows the same principles of cell grouping as Geranium Plant showing different groups of cells with different functions (Hensel et al., 2004)

2.1.2.6 Relevance in Design:

Architecture and design have always drawn inspiration from nature. However, the focus has shifted to simulating processes rather than formal inspirations. Systems and processes found in nature can play a significant role in bringing architecture closer to harmony with the environment, as is evident
in the differences between the revised and original editions of Steadman's (1979) book "The Evolution of Designs: Biological Analogy in Architecture and Applied Arts" (Steadman, 2008). The evolution of a species' homeostatic behaviours and the emergence of its formal characteristics depend heavily on these behaviours. These processes operate within a spatial domain that includes the internal environment, external environment, and boundaries in between.

Evolutionary design processes have been used as a robust problem-solving mechanism in architecture and design in recent years, given the importance of the homeostatic behaviours of species within their evolutionary development (Torday, 2015). The homeostatic behaviours of species within their evolutionary development are important as feedback mechanisms and algorithmic loops in the evolutionary design processes to drive the simulation to generate solutions with morphological characteristics that enable their adaptation to extreme environmental conditions. The skin, which in fact, is inseparable from the overall morphology of an organism, is a key player in controlling the exchange of energy and matter between the inside and outside environment. Architectural forms and skins, in a similar fashion, are situated between internal environments where human activities occur in the external environment. As in biology, it is crucial that the border between the inside and outside contains mechanisms for the exchange of matter and energy if necessary (Gruber and Gosztonyi, 2010). These exchanges are enabled by processes and unique formal characteristics. Likewise, architectural forms and skins can be evolved in a way which contains formal characteristics suitable for their environments.

Conventional cooling and heating mechanisms use up to 60% of the entire energy in the buildings (Omrany et al., 2016). Given the significance of the morphological characteristics of species in their adaptation to extreme environmental conditions, this research aims to develop a method for creating skins produced by the proposed mindmap and an evolutionary design system within which the biomimetic morphology of the building skin contributes to their adaptation to the contexts with excessive solar radiation.

2.1.3 Evolution

The Cambridge dictionary defines the term evolution as "a gradual process of change and development." In biology, the term evolution is defined as "the process by which the physical characteristics of types of creatures change over time, new types of creatures develop, and others disappear." (Cambridge English Dictionary", 2019) Evolution is caused by changes in gene expression as they are passed through the hereditary process from mother to offspring. Natural processes, including genetic drift and natural selection, are responsible for triggering changes in gene expression. This assertion is supported by scientists and researchers who provide evidence to show the role of

natural selection in evolution. The current literature describes natural selection as the process of "differential survival and reproduction of individuals in populations" (Colautti, & Lau, 2015). It occurs when parents pass on modified genes to their offspring resulting in differences in characteristics and traits of the new generation.

The theory of evolution by natural selection was introduced by Charles Darwin and Alfred Russel Wallace independently in the middle of the 19th century. In 1858, they jointly presented their concepts at the Linnean Society of London (Darwin and Wallace, 1858; Wallace, 1858). Within a year of their joint discovery, Darwin published his influential book "On the Origin of Species," in which he outlined the concept of evolution by natural selection in great detail (Darwin, 1859). The foundation for modern evolutionary theory has been laid by Charles Darwin's theory of evolution, which argues that natural selection can modify descent through time. He believed that population growth would lead to competition between individuals with the best combinations of morphological and behavioural traits, which would result in the survival of the fittest individuals at the expense of the rest. Scientists today still consider this theory as one of the key sensible explanations for evolutionary changes. Natural selection explains how living organisms maximise their biological fitness as a result of living in harsh environments or due to developmental and genetic factors. It is important to note that Evolution in animals is a bottom-up process on the basis that organisms evolve their form in response to external changes in the environment instead of changing to fit a predefined form. From a digital perspective, these environmental changes are comparable to external constraints on design systems. In architecture, these may include weather constraints, occupancy and the site.

The process of evolution occurs systematically "from heredity to genotype³ to environment to variation to phenotype⁴." (Campbell, 2019) Imposing the environment eliminates the likelihood of passing on undesirable features. Although Darwin's conception of evolution is simply referred to as Darwin's theory, it encompasses a number of theories to explain concepts such as natural selection and Darwin's vibrational evolution. In simple terms, Darwin's theory of evolution can be summed by the idea that variable essences are an essential feature of the living world. Darwin's proposal challenged the traditional way of thinking, which held that the natural world is made of invariable essences. Furthermore, Darwin's theory suggests that the change in evolution underlies the changes witnessed in organisms' populations from one generation to another (Darwin, 1859).

 ³ A Genotype is an organism's set of heritable genes that can be passed down from parents to offspring (Campbell, 2019).
⁴ Phenotype (from Greek pheno- 'showing', and type 'type') is the term used in genetics for the composite observable characteristics or traits of an organism (Campbell, 2019).

2.1.3.1 Evolutionary Design

Evolutionary designs are founded on concepts derived from evolutionary biology, computer science, and design. Moreover, this design technique uses concepts from natural selection, and it also integrates analysis software with CAD (Bentley, 1999). Evolutionary design has been applied in various forms over the past decade. For example, it is used to optimise the functionality of smart buildings, plays an important part in the design of aesthetic and 3D artistic forms (Tabuada, et al., 1998), and finds application in the creation of artificial life (Paun,1995). Regarding architecture, evolutionary systems entail the use of evolutionary algorithms to improve the performance of buildings as per the changes in natural phenomena and varying human needs (Bentley, 1999).

The idea of Evolutionary Algorithms (EA) has been defined as a "heuristic-based approach to solving problems that cannot be easily solved in polynomial time, such as classically NP-Hard problems, and anything else that would take far too long to exhaustively process." (Soni, 2018)

Just like Darwin's theory, EAs are founded on the principles of natural selection. More specifically, EA is divided into four stages.

- Initialization
- Selection
- Genetic Operators
- Termination

EA designs are based on the principles of biological evolution, including selection, reproduction, recombination, mutation, and random sampling. Given a quality element, an evolutionary algorithm evaluates candidates and tries to find the best solution. The primary benefit of using EA is the flexibility it offers because most EAs work perfectly well in multiple complex scenarios. Randomness ensures that the quality function is maximized to fit the problem domain (Hart et al., 2005). New generations are made up of components that are fitter than old ones. Recombination (represented by binary operators) and mutation facilitate this. Recombination can be used to evaluate multiple candidates in a bid to produce the fittest offspring (Goldberg, 1995; Rudolph, 1998). This is unlike mutation, which is used on a single candidate to produce one offspring. The whole process is iterative, meaning that it goes on until the best candidate is generated.

2.1.3.2 Evolutionary Computation

Evolutionary computation is a concept that leverages the evolution theory to optimize methodologies and computer-based processes. Scientists usually use the term evolutionary computation as a general term that encompasses evolutionary-inspired problem-solving strategies (Bäck, Fogel, & Michalewicz, 2018). EC is applied not only in architecture but also in other industries that rely on prediction algorithms and accurate analytics. One of the key subclasses of Evolutionary computation is Evolutionary Algorithms (EA) which are also classified under stochastic search algorithms. EA works on populations using Metaheuristics optimization techniques. Essentially, the concept of Metaheuristics refers to higher-level procedures that are designed to locate, produce or partial searches based on heuristics or lower-level procedures. EA is applied to solve a myriad of optimisation problems, including Dynamic programming, Evolutionarily related issues, Calculus-Based Techniques, Annealing Evolutionary Algorithms, Guided Random Search Techniques, Enumerative techniques etc. (Menges, 2011).

Recent advancements in computational design suggest that this technology offers remarkable benefits in fields such as architecture on the basis that it facilitates the design of smart buildings to fit various design requirements (Mosleh, Dalili, & Heydari, 2018; Wong et al., 2005). Evidence of this assertion can be found in some of the newest generative software such as Autodesk's architectural software, which has the capability to produce automatically custom designs. Such software allows designers to input customized commands that produce a multitude of unique designs as per the design requirements (budget, constructability, environmental conditions, and performance dynamics).

Undoubtedly, computational designs offer a myriad of advantages, as evidenced by the numerous practical applications mentioned here. However, there are inherent limitations that come with the use of computational designs. For example, there are suggestions that computational designs could corrupt the architectural field akin to other industries where automation has completely revolutionized traditional techniques. The effect in this regard is that the new technologies may affect the livelihood of architectures, which are traditionally heavily involved in the design process in terms of deciding elements such as interior design, aesthetics, and style.



Figure 11 The evolutionary process in generation in computation

2.1.3.3 Evolutionary Systems

This study has used computer science principles in order to apply the adapted biological principles of this research to the architecture and design sector. The science of Evolutionary systems is concerned

with exploring the consequences of changing the interaction through evolution by natural selection. Specialists in this field combine experimenting with population genetics and mathematical models to determine the relationships between the elements (Richards et al., 2018). Evolutionary systems are designed in a manner that mimics the process of evolution as described by Darwin's evolution theory. This concept can be applied to enhance design creativity to produce smart systems (Hensel et al., 2004).

Evolutionary system function is powered by the evolutionary algorithm. Some of the common evolutionary algorithms include:

- Genetic Programming (GP)
- Genetic Algorithm (GA)
- Evolutionary Programming (EP)
- Evolutionary Strategies (ES)

While all the above techniques have been tested, GP and GA are the most popular ones (Menges, 2011).

In essence, Evolutionary systems trigger creativity and provide solutions that would otherwise be challenging to find. For example, the fact that evolutionary systems allow for human interaction means that designers can easily come up with designs that meet specific aesthetic characteristics. Moreover, knowledge-lean component-based representations are an effective way of removing search constraints. When applied in the design, evolutionary principles can be used to explain the variations in genotypes. Bentley and Corne (Bentley, 2002) suggest interactive techniques that use generalized information to achieve creative and innovative solutions.

This research follows the following framework proposed by Peter Bentley (Bentley, 2002) that contains five elements to construct a creative evolutionary system:

- An evolutionary algorithm
- A genetic representation
- An embryogeny (mapping process) using components
- A phenotype representation
- Fitness function(s) and/or processing or user input

To summarize, in order to produce new solutions, a creative evolutionary system needs some kind of evolutionary algorithm. The genotypes identified by the genetic representation are updated by the algorithm and should be designed to reduce disruption caused by the genetic operator. The genotype should be decoded by embryogeny, and the phenotype should be built using some kind of component.

The phenotype representation should be designed to allow the fitness function(s) to be evaluated quickly and efficiently (Menges, 2011). The evolutionary algorithm forms the core of an evolutionary system, and from all types of EAs in use today, this research implements a Genetic algorithm to achieve its goals.



Figure 12 Evolutionary Algorithm (Bentley, 2002)

2.1.3.4 Evolutionary Development

In order to comprehend evolution, Charles Darwin (1859) emphasised the importance of the developing stage (embryology). However, any link between development and evolution was at that time disregarded in the theory of evolution due to Mendel's genetic studies on the origin of biological heredity. (Mendel, 1866) Additionally, this field of research was viewed as a "black box" due to the lack of understanding (Hall, 2012). An agreement was reached that alterations and mutations to genes are the causes of morphological attributes in the evolutionary process thanks to genetic advancements and the birth of modern synthesis (Wittkopp and Kalay, 2012). Sadier stated that improvements in research methodology and instruments make this field of study simpler to pursue (Sadier, 2016).

The origin of morphological variation among species was contested in the late 20th century following the identification of regulatory areas in the genome. These discoveries increased our knowledge of the role played by the genetic toolbox of organisms at different developmental stages and provided a stronger case for the emergence of phenotypic diversity (Carroll, 1995). It was discovered that genetic toolkits are maintained throughout the evolutionary histories of species and across various kinds, which in fact, reinforced the notion of common descent between species (Carroll, 2005). The regulatory genes control the expression or repression of the genes in an organism during its developmental stage. Contextual factors and ecological forces may affect this process. It was also recognised that this genetic toolbox formed morphological attributes through growing modules, each of which had its own toolkit (Schneider and Amemiya, 2016).

2.1.3.5 Natural Selection and Evolutionary Thinking

The following section discusses the connection between homeostasis (as a biological regulatory process) and evolution and reviews the relevance of both concepts. Darwin's discoveries had a significant impact on the typological thinking that was the foundation of early man's attempt to categorise and understand the variety of natural systems. It called attention to the distinctive qualities of individuals within a group (Mayr, 1994).

The foundation of modern evolutionary theory is Charles Darwin's theory of evolution (Darwin, 1859), which advocates "descent with modification by means of natural selection." After reading Darwin's book, Thomas Huxley exclaimed, "How exceedingly dumb to have not thought of it!" since his explanation of the mechanism behind the evolutionary process seemed so straightforward at the time. (Huxley, 1900, p. 105)

According to Mayr (1994), from the middle of the 19th century, the scientific community has placed a strong emphasis on two of Darwin's three major scientific contributions: first, the overwhelming proof for the existence of evolution, and second, evolution's logical and biological mechanisms. This was described by Muller as "an intellectual monument that is unrivalled in the history of human thinking." (Muller, 1949). Darwin's role in introducing a novel way of thought, bringing the population thinking to the scientific literature, appears to be underappreciated, as Mayr noted. Population thinking highlights the individuality of members of a collection and puts more weight on the population than a single person, in contrast to typological thinking, which was the dominant school of thought throughout the seventeenth to nineteenth centuries.

Typological thinking, which has its roots in Plato's theories of form and eidos (idea), symbolically explains the variety in nature as the shadow of a constant and unchanging collection of natural kinds. To put it another way, in typological thinking, the variation among individuals within a collective is an illusion, and the type (average of a collective) is the sole truth. The average is a statistical abstraction of a collective, and only variance is actual, yet for a populationist this is the exact opposite (Mayr, 1994). Every issue in evolutionary theory, including natural selection, is at two extremes: typological theory and population theory.

According to typological thought, natural selection is the binary survival of the fittest. Evolution is thus defined as a test mechanism for newly created 'types'. The environment picks the best types and eliminates the rest. There is no gradual change. This is based on scientific evidence. Typological thinking suggests that natural selection does not work or that other forces are involved in the evolution process. The understanding of natural selection in population thinking hinges on the notion

of gradual changes and gradients. Each individual has a variety of morphological or behavioural characteristics that can make them better or worse than others. A higher proportion of these traits means a greater chance of survival and, therefore, reproduction. All attributes of an individual are essential, according to population thinking. In certain circumstances, some attributes may be considered more beneficial than others in new environments. This provides a point of reference in evolutionary processes to alter the trend of progressive changes in succeeding generations (Mayr 1994).

The genetic toolkit, according to Sean Carroll, "represents possibility; ecological factors will determine how much of its potential is realised." (Carroll, 2005, p. 182) The development of physical and behavioural features is thought to be the result of the genetic toolbox (or codes) found in the organisms' genomes. This correlation and the importance of individual distinction in a group for population survival, homeostasis, and adaptability can be linked. The realisation has occurred that the production of unique morphological attributes that lead to homeostasis and context-dependent adaptation of individuals and their collective is equally dependent on internal organisational structures, extrinsic forces on phenotype, as well as genotype. This understanding is crucial for the study and implementation of evolutionary thought as a developmental and generative paradigm in the design process (the process through which individuals in a collection adjust to successive generations of pressure from both internal organisations and external factors).

Organisms can adapt and respond in a wide spectrum of temporal domains. Multiple generations of evolutionary adaptations result in distinct morphological and behavioural traits. The ability to adapt to changes in a much shorter amount of time and species' survival at the individual or collective level is a result of homeostatic processes. The importance of procedures cannot be undervalued. Homeostatic regulation takes place across a wide range of spatial domains, both individually and collectively (Racimo, 2016).

According to Torday (2015), these regulatory processes serve as the means by which morphological attributes evolve over time and serve as a reference point for change. It is an active process to maintain a steady state for an organism's essential variables despite perturbation brought on by internal and external changes. The morphological and behavioural novelties of species have an impact on this operation and are also influenced by them. The result of this reciprocal influence may be the emergence of novel morphological characteristics in the phenotype during the developmental stage, which may be passed down through genotype to succeeding generations.

2.1.3.6 Importance of Design through Evolution

To understand the critical role of evolutionary systems in design, it is important to lay the foundation for such understanding. In this study, this means defining the foundational question, "why evolve designs?" Previous research provides various explanations and justifications to address this question, most notably the idea that evolving designs improve their functional capabilities and enhances the overall effectiveness of such designs. Other reasons have been identified in the literature (Brayer & Migayrou, 2013).

Reason 1: From the general perspective of solving general-purpose issues, evolution is an excellent solution.

While there is still much debate about the most effective evolutionary-based designs, there is a consensus among scientists and scholars that evolution produces better results. Previous research has identified examples of evolution-based designs that have been shown to work effectively and consistently as envisioned by the designers (Bentley, 1999). The most notable example in this regard leverages evolutionary algorithms to solve dynamic problems in engineering problems (Roston, 1997). This characteristic of evolutionary design is also time and money-saving because designers do not have to spend time redesigning machines every time an unknown problem arises.

Reason 2: Evolutionary designs can be used to solve problems in multiple unique evolutionary systems.

Currently, scientists and designers have not settled on an evolutionary design that solves every problem in multiple systems. However, algorithms such as Tabu search, simulated annealing and Hillclimbing have been used in the past to solve a wide range of problems (Rudolph, 1998). Notably, genetic algorithms are currently one of the more popular evolutionary systems used in automatic machines.

Reason 3: The human design process and the concept of evolution are significantly similar.

History shows that man is naturally drawn to evolution, as evidenced by the numerous design changes that have been part of recorded history. From bone knives to guns, computer systems, and now artificial intelligence and augmented reality, the human design process is evidently an evolving process. In other words, it is only natural to want to evolve machines as new knowledge emerges. This, in essence, points back to the idea that evolution in biological systems is underlined by the need to develop complex living organisms in response to changes in the environment. Researchers have made an attempt to use the idea of the genetic algorithm in the definition of evolution (Schwefel, 1995).

Reason 4: Natural evolution has inspired the most outstanding design phenomena in nature and is responsible for the outstanding achievements made by mankind.

Scientists have been interested in the process of natural evolution for as long as science itself has existed. In this quest, the realization that natural phenomena encompass the most outstanding design characteristics because of their authenticity, consistency, and lack of imperfections. Consider man's brain, for example; this is the most complex system that is known, even though no one has been able to fully explain its function and how it was designed. However, the dominant theory suggests that the human brain has gradually become more complex and more powerful over the years in response to changes in man's environment (Gould, 1975). Indeed, other research supports this assertion, suggesting that the human brain was originally a single cell that has been modified by gene expression over millions of years (Roth & Dicke, 2005). The fact that these evolutionary changes have helped man become a better survivor in the environment is supportive of the idea that evolutionary architectural designs can be used to solve some of the current design problems.

2.2 Computation and Design

Computational Design leverages computerized processes to improve transformations and forms in architectural design. This links back with the biological definition of Morphogenesis as "the formation and differentiation of tissues and organs" (Merriam Webster, 2019). Morphogenesis is a bottom-up process meaning that organisms evolve their form in response to external changes in the environment instead of changing to fit a predefined form. From a digital perspective, these environmental changes are comparable to external constraints on design systems. In architecture, these may include weather constraints, occupancy, and site. Architectural designs that use digital morphogenesis are based on algorithms that are designed to mimic biological morphogenesis and the processes of form-finding. These have been previously defined as "parametric modelling and performance-based generative techniques such as multi-agent systems or genetic algorithms" (Leach, 2009).

Architects use visual programming languages to help them visualise complex designs that they are unable to draw using raw hands. The visual programming language normally used is referred to as Grasshopper and is run in the Rhinoceros 3D computer-aided design (CAD) application. Grasshopper is majorly utilised to create generative algorithms like generative art. Most of the Grasshopper's components are designed in 3D geometry (Mahmoud and Elghazi, 2016). Moreover, the programs used can also have other forms of algorithms like textual, numeric, audio-visual and haptic applications. The mentioned topic is novel in architecture, and the references in relation to this subject are scarce; therefore, the followings are the review of the key sources.

2.2.1 Computation

"Computerization is about automation, mechanisation, digitisation, and conversion. Generally, it involves the digitisation of entities or processes that are preconceived, predetermined, and well-defined. In contrast, computation is about the exploration of indeterminate, vague, unclear, and often ill-defined processes; because of its exploratory nature, computation aims at emulating or extending the human intellect. It is about rationalization, reasoning, logic, algorithm, deduction, induction, extrapolation, exploration, and estimation" (Terzidis, 2008).

In 1980, computers began appearing on every desk, and when new CAD software with advanced graphics and modelling techniques was developed, everything changed once again. The computer enabled architects to study fluidity, curved shapes, and simulation tools and to incorporate them into their architectural design (Aziz and El Sherif, 2016). The computer provided designers and engineers with effective optimisation tools that mimicked evolutionary processes to aid in the creation of the optimal design. Since 1960, computer scientists have investigated methods for developing genetic algorithms capable of simulating evolution and natural selection in order to overcome design challenges and introduce semi-automatic software.

The 1990s witnessed the implementation of these algorithms into architectural designs and artefact design software by architects. Computers are increasingly extensively used in the design process, where their functions range from sketching and modelling to sophisticated knowledge-based processing of architectural data. Computers are also highly beneficial in the building stage since complex shapes and geometries cannot be built in conventional approaches. (Aziz and El Sherif, 2016)

2.2.2 Computational Design Thinking

Computerised operations are sometimes falsely referred to as computer-aided because most people find it challenging to distinguish computer devices from the mode of usage. The incorporation of computer technology into the architectural design is critical in the creation of evolutionary physical spaces. Warren McCulloch defines equipment used in architecture as architecture machines (Menges & Ahlquist, 2011).

The main reason for adopting computational design thinking in this research is to establish a methodology for the architects to follow that could be generalised and used by designers and architects for the early design phase of adaptive building skins. Moreover, by combining the passive characteristics of the geranium stem with EA principles in architecture, the research aimed to propose a new design method for designing facades that could be active to the occupants' needs in terms of solar and temperature comfort. Taking into consideration the aims of the project, EA will prove very useful in assisting design and developing a facade that will simultaneously respond to human and weather conditions.

"Towards an Intelligent Architecture" (Wit, 2014) documents techniques that can be used to enhance the architectural design thinking process, which architects can use when developing the proposed intelligent facade. Smart and adaptable architectural systems are becoming more ingrained within the essence of fabrication and design. Buildings can be enabled to sense daylighting, occupation and temperature, among other variables making it easier to monitor external and internal environmental conditions as well as energy. The continual communication between personalised technologies found within the building sites and their building system integrations make it possible for architects to observe and manipulate the internal conditions. Although these systems are built on outdated architectural frameworks, fabrication methodologies, and materials platforms which cannot be changed, during the design phase, these elements can be identified as fixed variables. These finite elements limit a project's level of innovation and customization, which means that they can slightly adjust to programmatic changes resulting in small and schematic motions (Gramazio & Kohler, 2014).

2.2.3 Parametric and Generative Design

The idea of parametric design refers to and entails modelling components that have the ability to change geometrical characteristics when their dimension value is modified (Parametric Modelling, Process, Advantages and Parametric Modelling Tools , 2019). Parametric design allows designers to "define relationships between elements or groups of elements, and to assign values or expressions to organize and control those definitions." Usually, parametric designers embed such designs with CAD programs and algorithms to take advantage of interconnectivity and the relationship between various elements of a design. These algorithms capture discrete information such as the model and manufacturer's data and operating constraints. Previous research shows that parametric designs are an effective way for designers to overcome the challenges posed by traditional CAD designs (Aish & Woodbury, 2005; Camba et al., 2016).

Generative designs mimic the evolution process to improve traditional architectural designs. McKnight (2017) states that "generative design allows for a more integrated workflow between designer/engineer and computer. In effect, they both become co-creators of the final design." Unlike parametric designs, generative design models are designed to function manually, semi-automatically and automatically. Generative designs are a comparatively new technology that is still being explored for practical application.

Some of the typical features in generative designs include:

- Increased efficacy: Unlike traditional designs, generative designs are more effective because they take advantage of iterative technologies.
- Enhanced performance: Generative designs are designed in a way that optimies structural requirements such as performance and stiffness.
- Improved development time: The advances in computing allow designers to experiment with various designs within a short period of time.
- Enhanced creativity: The use of computing technology means that engineers can be more creative and take advantage of the various options available at their disposal.
- Weight saving: Most typical generative designs are designed to be significantly lighter than traditional designs.

Looking at the potential benefits, it is evident that generative technologies are a promising technology with the potential to address some of the common practical challenges in the design of bespoke buildings. For example, there is evidence to show that generative designs are a viable solution for designing spatial layouts that maximize exposure to climatic conditions such as daylight (Skou, 2013). Additionally, generative designs have been shown to be more cost-effective in terms of the overall design process. Research also shows that the use of generative designs facilitates collaboration among various stakeholders (such as contractors and clients) in the design and devilment process, for example, by enhancing the process of scheduling.

2.2.4 Design Algorithmic Architecture

An algorithm explains a computational process for handling a problem in a limited way. It comprises deduction, abstraction, structured logic, induction, and generalisation. It is the extraction of logical principles in a systematic way and the creation of a generic solution plan. The strategies used make use of the search for universal principles, repetitive patterns, and inductive links and are

interchangeable. The capability to deduce novel knowledge and to extend specific restrictions of the human intellect depends on the intellectual power of an algorithm (Menges & Ahlquist, 2011).

Generative and parametric designs usually apply graphic interfaces that preserve some understanding with traditional CAD software systems, although they greatly enlarge the capability of the computer to inform the design process. Instead of just perceiving the computer as an interface, they interact with its interior functions via programming to enable the exploitation of its abilities. Due to its investigative abilities, computation targets to imitate or enlarge the human intellect. It is concerned with rationalization, reasoning logic, exploration, induction, algorithm, extrapolation, deduction, and estimation. In the case of computerization, the ideologies are in existence in the mind of the architect and are interpreted into digital data via the software interface of the computer (Dunn, 2012). In contrast, algorithmic architecture applies a 'scripting language' that makes it possible for the designer to directly access the computational capability of the computer. Although this possibility assumes a strengthening approach to working, there are two primary factors to take into consideration. The first one is related to the 'process' of an algorithm that needs specification in a gradational way for it to create its logic efficiently. The second issue is about the needed accuracy of an algorithm because a simple mistake, like an erroneous character, will usually lead to it being unable to function or 'run' appropriately (Menges & Ahlquist, 2011).

2.2.5 Morphogenesis⁵ and its Applications

Morphogenesis refers to the evolutionary advancement of form in an organism or part thereof. Comprehending that living organisms can be perceived as systems and that these change their usual multifaceted forms and behavioural sequences because of the interactions between their components over time implies that it is possible to stimulate dynamic, biological developments and transformation (Grober, 2010). Significant to the theme of morphogenesis is the idea of 'emergence' that has achieved expanding popularity in a variety of fields because it is connected, amongst other areas, to complexity theory, cybernetics, and evolutionary biology. Emergence is perhaps most easily comprehended as those features of a system that cannot be recognized from its individual components. Emergence is of instantaneous significance to architecture, calling for substantial changes to the way designs are produced. Measures for selection of the "fittest" may be created that match the architectural needs of performance, considering structural integrity and "buildability."

⁵ Described by Stanislay Roudavski (2009) as a concept similar to biological morphogenesis. Morphogenesis in architecture are methods and tools used in the development of forms that can adapt to an environment. Morphogenesis gradually develops through adaptation or growth resulting in parallels which can be seen in emergent self-organization and properties.

Moreover, although the application of computational processes to operate morphogenetic design algorithms is moderately new, architects have been involved with the idea of form finding for much longer than this (Weinstock, 2004).

One significant example in which morphogenesis was applied is in the Faulders Studio + Studio M-Airspace, Tokyo, 2007. Thom Faulders was tasked to develop a screen facade that would provide the building with an identifiable identity in its instant environment. Moreover, it was created to give privacy from the street for occupants of open-plan private residences and barrier the weather from outside terraces and walkways (Dunn, 2012). The screen facade joins the isolated "Living Unit" blocks of the building's top floors with the commercial spaces and landscaped areas beneath. The conceptual direction of the screen was influenced by the porous layers of dense vegetation surrounding the original residence (Dunn, 2012). Taking into consideration the transitory biomorphic and atmospheric features of the original 4m-deep green space, a novel synthetic buffer zone was developed. To accomplish this novel protective atmosphere, rich in intricacy and concreteness, a layered skin system isolated by an air gap was constructed to envelop the building as a non-uniform porous mesh.

2.2.6 Agent-based Modelling and Autonomous Characters

The agent-based approach emphasises the importance of learning through organism-environment interaction (Aschwanden, 2012). This approach is part of a recent trend in computational models of learning and development toward studying autonomous organisms that are embedded in virtual or real environments. In this project, a pioneering concept in facade optimisation is introduced by highlighting the role of agent-based modelling in measuring users' thermal comfort in buildings.

A particular category of autonomous agent used in computer animation and interactive media like games and virtual reality is called an autonomous character. These characters are represented by agents, who can also improvise some of their actions. This contrasts with a character in an animated movie, whose actions are pre-written, and a virtual reality or game "avatar," whose actions are controlled in real-time by a human player or participant. In video games, non-player characters are another name for autonomous characters (Reynolds, 2002).

An autonomous character in improvisational theatre must combine elements of an autonomous robot with some acting abilities of a human. The majority of the time, these characters are not human actors or actual robots, but they do share some of their characteristics. The following aims to locate the terminology of this research in relation to that of other academic disciplines since the term "autonomous agent" is used in a variety of contexts. An autonomous agent may exist in isolation or in a shared scenario with other entities. An illustration of the former is a "data mining" agent, and an illustration of the latter is a power grid controller. A situated agent may be instinctive and stimulusdriven or deliberative ("intellectual" in the conventional AI sense). Softbots, knowbots, and information agents are examples of autonomous agents that only deal with abstract information. An autonomous agent can also take the form of a physical manifestation (a typical industrial robot or an autonomous vehicle). Different classes of autonomous agents are defined by combinations of situated, reactive, and embodied. (Reynolds, 2002).

<u>Agents</u>

Agents are intelligent machines with the ability to (1) detect their surroundings, (2) make decisions based on an internal set of preferences, and (3) respond in a dynamic system. The agents continually reevaluate their decisions to adapt to their surroundings. (Aschwanden et al., 2009; Aschwanden et al., 2011). Each agent consists of a brain and a physical body with individual abilities. To interact, they are trained to hear and emit sound, read and paint the ground, and track other objects and have interactions. In the following, each agent type is described:

Pedestrian-agents

Pedestrian agents communicate with other agents by emitting sound at a particular frequency that is perceivable to them. They can hear, see, and read the ground (Gibson, 1979). The ability to hear enables the pedestrian agents to recognise various city functions. The agents emit various frequencies to let other agents know about their condition (Egges et al., 2004). To prevent collisions with other moving objects, the agent uses vision. The agent can change its parameters and habits depending on whether it enters a public courtyard or a private courtyard due to its ability to read the ground (LeBon, 1985; Brooks, 1991; Helbing and Molnar, 1995; Helbing, Farkas, and Vicsek, 2000; Karunakaran, 2005; Narain, Golas, and Curtis, 2009). The agent can map a coloured graph of its experience, such as stress, exhaustion, decision-making, etc., onto the terrain as it travels.

<u>Decisions</u>

A probabilistic socio-statistical model underlies the decision-making process in ABM (Schenk, 1995). Each agent has a unique set of preferences for each function, and it calculates its distance from each preference to determine its next objective (Zipf, 1949). A decision is made by combining the distance and preference data sets. The agent selects a new POI (Point of Interest) when they arrive at the first one because the previously visited locations are not in competition. The number of POIs visited can range from 1 to 3.

The term "behaviour" has numerous interpretations. It can refer to a complex action taken by a person or another animal out of free will or instinct. It can refer to either the complex actions of a chaotic

system or the largely predictable actions of a simple mechanical system. It is occasionally used as a substitute for "animation" in virtual reality and multimedia applications. The term "behaviour" in this study is used to describe the improvised and lifelike actions of an autonomous character (Reynolds, 2002).

By breaking down a character's behaviour into different layers, it is possible to comprehend an autonomous character's behaviour better. These layers serve only to provide clarity and specificity in the discussion that will come next (section 3.2.4). Figure 13 illustrates a hierarchy of three layers for the selection of actions, steering, and locomotion for autonomous characters. There are further conceivable dissections. A similar three-layer hierarchy is described by Blumberg and Galyean (Blumberg, 1995); they call the layers: motivation, task, and motor.



Figure 13 Hierarchy of three layers (Reynolds, 2002)

This project uses the pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshopper. People move through PedSim⁶ from Start Gate to Destination Gate while choosing the best path and avoiding other people and obstacles. If they come across a target of interest, they will go there, stay there for a bit, and then reroute to the destination gate. The agents (Figure 14) will be moving on foot or stay static (Peng, 2019). The focus of the second phase of this project lies on the pedestrian agents as an evaluation tool of the thermal heat of the buildings. The areas that agents spend the most on the building determine



Figure 14 PedSim pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshopper (Peng, 2019)

⁶ PedSim is the most popular pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshoper. It is the predecessor of PedSim Pro.

the type of shading the building skin should have in order to respond to the users' thermal and visual comfort. The pedestrian agents first specify their objectives based on the pre-set preferences and proximity. The way of transportation might be varied from walking to public transit depending on the simulation purposes. (Aschwanden, 2012).

2.2.7 Cybernetics and Its Relevance in Architecture

One of the formal definitions of cybernetics is presented in the current literature. Thus, it is "the science of control and data processing in animals, machines and society." (Novikov, 2016) Some of the typical features of cybernetics are defined in the current literature sources. Most notably, cybernetics leverages scientific cognition and analysis. Cybernetics has been part of natural processes and has been around long as life. However, the concept was popularized for its relevance in modern times in Norbert Wiener's book "Cybernetics" (Wiener, 1948). Winner also introduced the idea of communication in machines akin to animals. His writings were significant because he set the stage for other scientists to explore how the mechanisms of control and communication could be applied to machines. Conway, Siegelman, & Alexanderson, (2006) are other technology enthusiasts who have explored the concept of cybernetics and have attempted to describe goal-based core interactions in mechanical systems. Today, considerable evidence shows that cyber genetics is a critical characteristic in biological systems which can be applied to improve machine technology.

Scientists have shown that it is possible and effective to design systems that mimic the biological processes of control, regulation and adjustment in response to feedback (Schmidt, 2018). This assertion is backed by the effort to support interdisciplinary academic domains such as biological engineering, biology, sociology, economics, and design (figure 1, page 7). Such academic disciplines emphasize a method of thinking that attempts to understand the relationship between concepts such as self-organisation, adaptation and output. According to Pask (1969), this form of thinking is the basis for comprehending the idea of having active architectural designs. Of course, this defies the traditional way of designing buildings as static objects that could not respond to human input. From a theoretical perspective, cybernetics enhances computational thinking in architecture by introducing the idea that architectural designs can be designed in a way that predicts their function.

Cybernetics has also been defined based on its interdisciplinary nature. According to Wiener, cybernetics has historically sought to unite various scientific disciplines with the aim of developing solutions to comparable problems (Wiener, 1948). Specifically, that it is at the "junction of mathematics, logic, communication, semiotics, physiology, biology and sociology" (Novikov, 2016). System analysis theories, general systems, informatics and metascience, are also often considered as part of cybernetics. Other authors have identified a special aspect of cybernetics which is an abstraction of Wiener's original definition of cybernetics. This special aspect encompasses disciplines such as socio-economic and biological cybernetics. As a multidisciplinary field of research, cybernetics (in this study) investigates the application of principles of regulating mechanisms of homeostasis in the design procedures of the artefacts to carry out predictive attributes in response to environmental changes.



Figure 15 The composition and structure of cybernetics (Novikov, 2016)

2.2.8 Discussion

The crucial component in the homeostatic procedures that have also been explored by other fields is the feedback mechanisms. In response to unexpected events, these processes enable organisms to exhibit responsive behaviours. The fundamental ideas underlying these controlling processes had a profound influence on other scientific fields and paved the way for their application in other fields. The foundational concepts of biological system homeostasis and feedback mechanisms provided the basis for the multidisciplinary field of cybernetics. The extensive study of control patterns in natural systems by D. and K. Stanley Jones (1960) shed light on the interaction between the physical structures of species and their homeostatic processes (Stanley-Jones et al., 2014). Norbert Weiner 1985 established the school of thought known as "cybernetics" by relating biological concepts of homeostasis prediction and feedback to the designed artefacts (machines) (Wiener, 1948).

This connection created a novel mode of thought about the artefact and how it relates to its setting. As of the late 20th century, there has been a growing interest in the ability of a machine or artefact to conduct predictive behaviours. As a multidisciplinary area of study, cybernetics can lead research towards finding an answer for the applicability of biological adaptation lessons in the design procedure to predict behaviours that adapt to fluctuations in varying environmental conditions.

Based on the study undertaken in this research, morphological attributes of an organism play a significant role in a biological system's capacity to detect and respond to an unfavourable change (principles of homeostasis). The evolution of these morphological attributes through a protracted process of population evolution and adaptation is essential in supporting the regulatory behaviours of each individual species.

In order to enable a variety of regulatory behaviours to change, an item that is built and positioned in a varying condition environment must have developed morphological attributes, as Simon argued: (Simon, 1996, p. 161). Applying a set of homeostasis-inspired principles to genotype and phenotype in an evolutionary model may result in the development of adaptable and morphological attributes that are responsive. As a result, the emerged characteristics can support a variety of adaptation qualities in response to unanticipated events. In the context of this research, the artefact is building skin tissue.

2.3 State of the Art

2.3.1 Buildings Skins, Shading Systems

In most cases, facades are created to be responsive to diverse situations and perform roles that can be paradoxical to each other. For example, ventilation is compared against views and energy generation, and daylighting is compared to energy efficiency. Taking into consideration that several environmental parameters may influence the standards of indoor spaces and the satisfaction of the users, several types of research have been carried out to determine the strategies of design that can develop indoor environments in alignment with the users' behaviour and locality of the buildings (Mahmoud and Elghazi, 2016).

In this study, an intelligently designed facade is described as the application of environmental control systems that are responsive to external factors and have been designed based on those parameters.

In the last two decades, progresses in electronic control systems have advanced to a level where it is possible to illustrate a building as intelligent instead of responsive.

In kinetic facades, the facades are not only neutral elevation that isolates the interior and exterior of the building (Mahmoud and Elghazi, 2016). Unlike other facades, kinetic facades develop dynamic elements that result in the buildings being more interactive with their backgrounds and their surroundings. These elements are referred to as a constant envelope of tectonic, aesthetical, and environmental association between the inside and the outside of the skin.

2.3.1.1 Requirement for Optimum Designed Façade

The design of facades is connected to daylighting and energy performances. Taking this into account, intelligent facades are presumed to be an inventive answer to the improvement of sustainability in structured environments. The word intelligent is, nonetheless, regularly applied with no detailed comprehension of the intricacy needed past the usual descriptions like responsive, adaptive, and interactive. It is widely apprehended that an intelligent envelope system needs to be active. That is, be in a position to transform its primary operational parameters in alignment with the dynamic demands of the varying environments. In addition, intelligent envelopes must be designed using smart substances that are self-actuating and self-powering. The objective of an intelligent building skin, like in the case of kinetic facades, is to optimize the systems of the building moderately to the environment, human satisfaction, and energy balance, normally depending on predictive models (Ahmed, Abel-Rahman and Ali, 2015).

One solution that is effective in such conditions is the application of 'adaptive' facade systems having their features controlled to accomplish functioning behaviour as a response to indoor and varying outdoor situations. In the deemed "best new solutions," the facades serve several corresponding responsibilities in the provision of natural ventilation, thermal, and daylight tempering. However, this needs a high level of incorporation that needs to be thought of in the initial stages of the design process (Ahmed, Abel-Rahman and Ali, 2015).

The facade, as the major component of the building envelope and a boundary between interior and exterior environments, affects the generation of electricity and attenuation of sound. Thus, both thermal and visual comforts are achieved when facades are able to achieve the following: solar load control from outside to inside, high utilisation of passive solar gains, high utilisation of daylight, protection against glare from outside, air flows between inside and outside (both ways), allow for a view to the outside, allow for privacy, rejection of heat, exploration pressure differentials ventilation chimneys (Ahmed, Abel-Rahman and Ali, 2015).

2.3.1.2 Users Requirements



Figure 16 User requirements for optimum designed façade (Kuhn, 2001)

The diagram above (Figure 16) reveals the requirements for sun-shading systems. Thermal and daylight requirements are the most significant factors that determine the behaviour of the users. The requirements listed above encompass a variety of aspects: some are essential for a product's selection; others help in determining how a system is applied (Kuhn, Bühler and Platzer, 2001).

2.4 Bespoke Designs and Solutions for Particular Buildings:

The following are some related examples where exclusive designs are used to illustrate responsive façades in action. In this study, these types of exclusive designs are not considered as a precedent as it is not possible to generalize these facade designs and apply them to other buildings. This implies that they go into a different category and are not the desired type of facades for this study. Some of these exclusive designs include:

Flectofins by ITKE

The valvular pollination method found in the Strelitzia reginae flower inspired this innovation. Flectofin is a louvre system with no hinges that is able to shift its fin 90 degrees through accumulating forces in the spike, resulting from the disarticulation of support or alteration of heat in the lamina (Lopez et al., 2017). Among the broad ranges of uses of the Flectofin conception is as a responsive shading system on the outside. This design is founded on multiple motor-powered movable parts and hence is affected by friction.



Figure 17 Flectofins by ITKE (López, 2017)

• The One Ocean Thematic Pavilion

It is an adaptive envelope system that was created as an inspiration for the movements of plants and kinematic means similar to that of Flectofin. A shading system comprising vaguely bent plates may respond to different light situations and physical structure managing and reacting to varying sunlight situations throughout the day (Lopez et al., 2017). One of the main challenges of this envelope is the friction related to the moving parts of the design. Due to friction, the design makes squealing noises. The pavilion's cover is dependent on the movements observable in spruce cones as a reflex.



Figure 18 The One Ocean Thematic Pavilion (López, 2017)

• Meteorosensitive pavilion called HygroSkin

reaction to adjustments in humidity. HygroSkin utilizes the reactive capability of the substance itself; it applies comparative moisture as a green activate to engage with the surroundings. The wood's dimensional volatility with reference to humidity is used to create a weather-responsive cover that independently unwraps and closes in reaction to changes in the weather. However, none needs the provision of functioning energy or any form of automatic or electronic regulation (Lopez et al., 2017).



Figure 19 Meteorosensitive pavilion called HygroSkin (Menges, 2012)

• Al-bahar Tower Abudabi

The facade has an interactive relationship with the climate that is inspired by the opening of the morning glory flower to the sun. Moreover, the facade takes cultural cues from the mashrabiya (Lopez et al., 2017). A key challenge in the design of the Al-bahar Tower Abudabi is to ensure the design's efficiency in absorbing natural light in an area that is densely populated with climate-controlled skyscrapers that block natural light.



Figure 20 Al-bahar Tower Abu Dhabi (Al Bahr Towers, 2011)

2.5 Non-Exclusive Facade Designs (Conventional Shading Systems That Can Be Generalised and Applied to Different Buildings' Facades)

2.5.1 Types: Active and Passive Shading Systems

Active shading strategies aim to accomplish a balance between adequate daylighting degrees, giving solar guard and energy balance, while making it possible for the users to have flexibility in controlling the shading devices depending on their changing requirements. Active shading strategies describe the systems that seem to transform their features as a response to the outside climate and inside needs. The application of active shading systems reduces the unwanted solar heat increase, enhances daylight, offers regulation for the occupants, can produce immediate energy and maximize the application of natural airing. The active systems may be in the glazing of the openings or as an exterior shading system (Kuhn, Bühler and Platzer, 2001). This is normally accomplished via the application of smart glazing technologies, control and sensor systems, or via the use of smart, active shading systems.

On the other hand, traditional passive shading systems are generally classified first as internal or external, depending on the position of the device. Passive shading systems have been identified to be effective in regulating heat increase and glaring in structures and minimizing cooling energy and price minimizations in various environmental settings (Al Dakheel and Tabet Aoul, 2017). If compared, external shading systems are more effectual than internal shading systems because they are extra effective in minimizing the cooling loads of structures in areas that have hot climates. Passive shading systems have, nonetheless, their disadvantages, the mainly significant being the incapability to the external conditions changes and blocking the view to the exterior. This incapability has been a stimulus in this research to understand how it would be possible to make passive shadings adaptive to their environment. Therefore, this project focuses on optimising the passive response of shading systems by using Evolutionary Algorithms as well as finding the limitations of conventional passive shadings, which leads to having a better understanding of gaps in the knowledge and results in proposing practical solutions.

2.5.2 Active Shading Systems

Active shading systems are grouped into three major groups: these include

(i) the glazing in the type of smart glazing (Smart Glazing Systems)

These systems contain glasses whose light transmission features are modified either to be transparent or translucent depending on the light, voltage or heat applied. They apply smart windows that regulate the transmission of light into and out of the building. Examples include electrochromic devices, suspended particle devices, and liquid crystal devices (Baetens et al., 2010).

(ii) kinetic external shading systems

These systems make it possible for a building to minimize the cooling and lighting loads. They operate by being responsive to the chemical, mechanical or electrical stimuli through which sliding, folding, shrinking, expanding, and transformation in the shading devices occur. Examples include rotating shading systems and folding shading systems (Moloney, 2011).

(iii) Shading devices that integrate energy production (integration of renewable energy systems)

These systems utilize renewable sources of energy like solar. Examples include algae facade systems, PV shading devices, and solar collectors integrated shading devices (ElSayed, 2016).

2.5.2.1 Different Types of Active Shading Systems and Their Limitations

One of the main challenges of using active shading systems is that they are expensive, especially since the technology is still relatively new. In smart glass, the transformation between opaque and transparent might also take several minutes. Some smart glass technology may also require electricity to transform, which may be problematic in case of power shortages. The following section discusses the limitations of the different types of active shading systems.

I. Electrochromic Glazing

- Extreme amplified surface temperature and sluggish bloom procedure

A typical challenge is extreme surface temperatures which are usually due to the fabrication of stable electrodes (Eh et al., 2018). The issue of the blooming effect and its effect on conductivity has also been discussed in the literature. According to Jensen et al., the blooming effect is caused by variation in surface resistance, which leads to accelerated switching responses. A possible solution for this issue involves homogenising the electric field distribution in the Electrochromic device leading to homogeneous colouration.

- Low durability for electrochromic glazing

One of the major drawbacks of electrochromic glazing systems is related to their durability. Generally, the glass used in electrochromic glazing lasts an average of ten years which is a significantly short duration compared to traditional glazing systems. Eh et al. (2018) This challenge is compounded significantly by the high cost required to install a working electrochromic glazing system.

- The optical features that modify the switching electrochromic are unknown

Commercial electrochromic windows seem to be an effective technique for reducing lighting energy and heating loads in buildings particularly due to their computability with substrates coupled with low power consumption. However, more research is needed to develop effective optical switching to modulate the transmittance of the solar spectrum. As Eh et al. (2018) note, accurate switching requires well-controlled operating environments, especially window properties. This is often challenging because window properties may vary constantly depending on factors such as the time of active shading.

II. SPDs (Suspended particle devices)

- Reduced clearness in the SPDs' faded condition, in contrast to the EC glazing

- A haze that is not desirable

SPD windows require a tiny but constant electrical current to remain in a clear state. Like LCD windows, SPDs operate between 65-220V AC and require constant power to maintain transparency. In contrast, EC devices require power only during switching, giving them an edge over SPDs and LCDs.

III. LCD (Liquid crystal devices)

- Unsuitable in dark environments

LCD glazing is hazy, implying that it will scatter instead of absorbing light such that there will be a fog aspect when the device is in visible condition (Al Dakheel and Tabet Aoul, 2017). In most cases, the LC glazing is usually opaque or transparent and has no state in between. This can be problematic in terms of colour saturation, contrast and black level. Basically, LCDs can also fail to produce very dark and black greys, making them unsuitable for use in dark environments and dimly lit areas. A possible solution involves careful control and adjustment of contrast. Research also confirms that LCD panels are limited in that they allow for uncontrolled heat flow through the glazing. As Marchwiński (2013) Oasserts, "they do not actually exhibit variable transmission characteristics, since they only affect the way light is transferred and not the quantity of radiation that is allowed to pass through."

LCDs use organic components

LCDs comprise organic components that are vulnerable to UV and infrared radiation. At the bandwidth of these radiations, there is a notable impact on the organic constituents in LCs. Prolonged exposure to these radiations causes a shift in colour and blurry appearance of images viewed through LCDs. With time, infrared and UV radiations damage the organic components making them inoperable.

- Overheating

LCDs are also susceptible to overheating following excess IR radiation. Liquid crystal devices are supposed to operate within a range of temperatures prescribed by the manufacturer. Outdoor use can result in higher temperatures than normal. Exposure to excess heat can make the crystal isotropic and, subsequently, fail to function as expected.

IV. Folding Shading Systems

External Variable Conditions

External variable conditions, such as climate changes, significantly impact the performance of shading devices. In folding shading systems, the effect is on the reflectance and solar radiation and, ultimately, the overall efficiency of the systems. This is particularly true due to the fact that folding glazing systems are challenging to clean. When this sort of glazing is used in high-perched areas, the issue is more problematic.

Folded shading devices are designed to be in constant motion; therefore, deformation causes strain and stress, which usually limits their movement and may result in total material failure. 1D deformation is particularly common in Folding shading systems (Addington 2005).

- The efficiency and the movement of the folding shading systems could be limited by the variable external conditions

- Their movements are limited by the behaviour of the SMPs that are limited to 1D deformation (Addington, 2005).

V. PV (Photovoltaic) mounted shading

- In cases of higher temperatures, the power production of the PV panels is minimised

It is a well-documented fact that the performance of solar cells is highly dependent on the operating environment, specifically the temperature. Generally, for PV applications, higher temperatures lead to higher carrier concentration which in turn boosts power output and overall performance. Conversely, low temperatures reduce power output and impact efficiency negatively because of this linear relationship between the carrier concentration levels and temperature.

- Limited tolerance to overheating due to partial shading

There are incidences of dust accumulation and limited tolerance to overheating that lowers efficiency (Yoo and Lee, 2002). This phenomenon is commonly referred to as partial shading (also be caused by shadows or cell damage) and to hot spots due to uneven illumination over the PV cells. Hot spots are typically characterized by higher-than-normal temperatures, with the compounding effect being lower reduced power output, material degradation and the overall reduction in efficiency of the devices (Garcia et al., 2003).

- There are incidences of dust accumulation and limited tolerance to overheating that lowers efficiency (Yoo and Lee, 2002).

VI. Algae Facade System

- There are cases of high maintenance costs as well as initial costs that are involved

Algae panels are costly compared to other smart devices. However, the high costs can be attributed to the fact that the technology in use is new. Additional costs are also incurred in researching, developing and designing the technology. However, the costs should fall once economies of scale, incentivization, innovation and evolution of technology come into play.

- Contamination concerns

Environmentalists have raised concerns regarding the potential dangers of some algae, like cyanobacteria. These algae constitute neurotoxins and hepatotoxins that are relatively toxic to humans. Moreover, leakages or damages can bring about unpleasant odours. These concerns make people hesitant to adopt algae façade systems.

VII. Solar Collectors Integrated Shading Devices

- These shading devices can block solar radiation and affect the amount of light entering a building leading to a limited view range to the outside for the occupants (Priatman et al., 2015).

Complex and Expensive Execution

One major drawback to these devices is that the building of solar collectors integrated shading devices requires complex and expensive execution. Their execution requires highly skilled personnel and sophisticated equipment, which makes these devices expensive. The layers of applied paint in these collectors are extremely thin, and therefore, these collectors have to be assembled and

installed with a lot of caution. Also, collectors with TSSS coatings must be applied on metal absorbers and have to be extremely thin. Moreover, in most cases, it is imperative that the paint coatings be shielded from atmospheric conditions by glazing.

- Limited range of applicable surface colour finishes

In most cases, the absorber surface is covered with TSSS coatings that either come in dark hues or are totally black. In case of widespread adoption, collectors make buildings appear unvaried.

VIII. Rotating Shading Systems

- The large size and the view range

A primary setback of rotating shading systems regards the large size of the rotating fabric panels since it incorporates both the retracting spring and the drive mechanism. Moreover, in terms of design, it is essential to ensure coordination between the support structures and allow full rotation and easy accessibility for maintenance services. Additionally, using rotating shading devices always comes with the challenge of preventing the view to the outside from being blocked.

To sum up, recent research in the field of smart materials has provided valuable insights into their potential application in building facade design, particularly within the context of biomimicry and computational design; apart from the studies mentioned above, projects by Sadegh et al. (2022), Yi and Kim (2021), Kim et al. (2023), Kuru et al. (2021), and ElDin and Abdou (2020) have explored various aspects of smart materials, showcasing their ability to mimic natural, plant-based cooling approaches in multifunctional building envelopes. Investigations into shape-memory-alloy (SMA) response and artificial intelligence (AI) kinetic control have demonstrated the feasibility of self-shaping building skins, and comparative analyses have highlighted their environmental performance. Moreover, integrating hybrid soft robot actuators and fabric membranes has been investigated to create responsive building facades with adaptive biomimetic features. Additionally, novel simulation frameworks have been developed to predict the performance of biomimetic adaptive building skins, integrating multifunctionality for enhanced energy efficiency. These findings on smart materials present valuable contributions to the existing literature and inspire the aim and direction of the proposed methodology of this PhD thesis.

2.5.3 Passive Shading Systems

Passive architecture shading incorporates different mechanisms, including the blending of conventional architectural principles with the relevant materials for building to ensure there are stable

temperatures, thus ensuring there is a comfortable environment year-round. Effectively installed shading and sun control passive wall systems significantly reduce the cooling requirements as well as the peak heat gain of a building and, in turn, boost the interior quality of natural lighting. These passive solar shadings are ideal for boosting visual comfort through the regulation of glare and reduction of contrast ratios. This literature review explores different types of passive solar shadings and devices employed in building constructions. These passive solar devices are crucial for buildings since they create a chance for the differentiation of various building facades hence creating a specific human scale to undistinguished architectural designs helpful in achieving energy efficiency by allowing thermal transmission and radiation into and out of the building during warm and cold weather conditions respectively.

Different types of passive shading devices are used in many architectural designs in buildings to help in temperature regulations of the internal spaces within a building structure. They are essential in that they make it easy and efficient to control the internal house heating conditions either during warm or cold weather situations. During cold weather, without these passive solar shadings, one may have to use a lot of energy to raise temperatures to favourable levels. However, during warm weather, temperatures go high such that to lower them, it will consume a lot of energy to run fans and other air conditioning devices that are not energy efficient. This problem of maintaining efficient thermal conditioning within houses can be controlled by passive solar designs that are employed in constructing passive solar shadings. In most cases, external devices are considered better than internal ones. However, they are less common due to specific reasons like maintenance, initial cost, and aesthetic reasons. An accurate or effective shading device majorly relies on the building façade's solar orientation (Prowler 2016). Given the dramatic increase in various shading devices, the main issues in making the right choice include durability and efficiency concerns. For instance, while there are a variety of adjustable shading devices, they are limited by the aspect of practicality issues like the requirement for manual adjustments. In the modern world, there are emerging effective techniques of shading which are more reliable.

2.5.3.1 Overhangs

Overhangs are of many forms. They can be in the form of walls or aluminium window shades. They are fixed on the exterior parts of the windows in a horizontal position. Overhangs remain modern means of shading and can be effectively utilized to regulate the extreme sun rays. They also protect the house openings and walls from the rain impact. There is very little or no effect on the outside view and the movement of air in the building. In this case, the obstructions of different materials are only

used for blocking the sky, whereby the light beams pass through or even the brighter parts, which have a high probability of creating temperature problems. The overhangs are also ideal for regulating wind, and the climate of a given area dictates their specific length. The exterior louvred design of the overhang placed above the solar glazing paves the way for the penetration of more daylight directly into space and, in turn, blocks any form of unwanted sun rays (Palette n.d.). Overhangs are usually ideal for shading the southern exposures, especially in the case of low-rise buildings. This ideology is highly effective, aesthetically appealing, and also an economical option for residential applications. However, overhang shadings generally have the shortcoming of low thermal capacity and high heat loss influx (Sameti and Jokar 2017). This is because of their partial shading on the solar-absorbing surfaces. Therefore, it becomes a problem to save energy during heating and cooling times since these overhangs are finite and do not offer optimal shading.

Some basic characteristics of overhangs are

- Shading:
- Very effective at shading south-facing windows in the summer
- A hot climate decreases energy consumption by 33% for cooling and 30% for heating (Al Dakheel and Aoul 2017)
 - Visibility:
- Reduce the occupants' view to the outside(De Luca, Voll, and Thalfeldt 2018)
 - Cost and Maintenance:
- The controlling expenses of mechanical pieces of equipment are considerably lowered (De Luca, Voll, and Thalfeldt 2018).
 - Energy Saving:
- Reduce energy consumption
- Reducing direct solar gains and peak electricity demand
- Reduces design cooling capacities in the east and west-orientated facades with reductions of between approximately 40% and 50% (De Luca, Voll, and Thalfeldt 2018)

2.5.3.2 Horizontal and Vertical Louvres

Horizontal louvres are fixed on the exterior of glazed windows. They are designed with prolonged lengths, which help them in preventing summer sun and allow little of the winter sunlight radiations.



Figure 21 Overhangs (Nature of home, 2022)

Their disadvantage is that they prevent only a small portion of the radiation during heating times. Especially during summer, horizontal devices have the challenge of preventing afternoon solar radiation penetration into the building. Louvres are vulnerable to mechanical damage where the tilting mechanism can easily break down, making them less useful. The clips that hold the louvre slat may loosen, and louvres fall and get damaged, which may require additional costs to repair them. Louvres should be strategically designed to block sun rays during summer and allow entrance in summer times (Taleb 2014). Horizontally fixed louvres should be strategically angled to the winter sun and ensure there is accurate spacing to allow in the winter sun.

Vertical louvres are useful where the sun is directly hitting the façade from the direction of southeast or west. They are hence employed on the buildings as east or west facades. They can be designed to be responsive to the position of the sun. Vertical fins cause a vertical shadow, which can cause total shading depending on their angle positioning (Kirimtat 2016). They can hence be adjusted to allow or prevent sunlight from penetrating the building.

Other characteristics include;

- Shading:
- Indoor comfortable thermal conditions (Palmero-Marrero and Oliveira 2010)

- In hot climates, horizontal louvres decreased energy consumption by 33% for cooling and 30% for heating(Al Dakheel and Aoul 2017)
 - Visibility:
- The relation between window height and louvre width allows that closed louvres
- A higher visibility is wanted, then a lower louvre inclination angle will be necessary(Palmero-Marrero and Oliveira 2010)

-Cost and Maintenance:

- The operating costs of mechanical equipment are significantly reduced(De Luca, Voll, and Thalfeldt 2018)
 - Energy Saving:
- Significant energy savings
- Reducing loads during the cooling season(Palmero-Marrero and Oliveira 2010)



Figure 22 Horizontal and vertical louvers (Choi, 2022)

2.5.3.3 Egg-crates

They are unique solar shadings with both vertical and horizontal features that prevent solar radiation and sunlight from all directions. The horizontal elements control the glare, while the vertical ones cause the shading (Utpariya and Mishra 2018). The negative aspect of egg crates is that in critical shading angles, they fail to provide seasonal shading variations. They prevent winter sunlight penetration during the period that receiving sunlight is required. Their performance is affected by internal reflection and sky-diffusing radiation, which is not directly penetrating through the egg crates. Due to their enclosure design, solar radiations get entrapped and circulate within the crates and eventually get absorbed into the building surfaces. While they are useful in avoiding optimal shading, especially in hot regions, they prevent much of the useful sunlight's radiations and interfere with the view.

Other characteristics include:

- Shading:
- Reducing incident solar radiation on the window with maximum values of 39% in summer and 33% in mid-season(Calama-González, León-Rodríguez, and Suárez 2018)
 - Visibility:
- Improving natural illuminance levels (Calama-González, León-Rodríguez, and Suárez 2018)
 - Cost and Maintenance:
- The operating costs of mechanical equipment are significantly reduced(De Luca, Voll, and Thalfeldt 2018)
 - Energy Saving:
- Allows a better yearly performance
- Decreasing artificial lighting consumption
- Energy savings of air-conditioning systems (Calama-González, León-Rodríguez, and Suárez 2018)



Figure 23 Egg-crates (ResearchGate, 2017)

2.5.3.4 The Limitations of the Passive Shading Systems

The drawbacks of using horizontal passive shading devices include the following:

- They work less efficiently in the early morning and late afternoon, regardless of direction, when the profile angle is quite low. Devices that provide horizontal shading must be extremely lengthy and difficult to use in order to be effective at this time.
- 2. The passive horizontal shading devices are negatively impacted by changes in profile angle at any point. As a result, they are unable to block direct sunlight from entering the building via the window when the profile angle is low in the morning and the afternoon.

The drawbacks of using vertical passive shading devices:

- 1. Vertical passive shading devices impair the view of building occupants; consequently, their use is discouraged if a superior alternative is available.
- 2. The continual reorientation of the sun's angle poses a problem for fixed vertical shading systems. Therefore, when the solar surface angle is close to 0 degrees (nearly perpendicular to the observing facade), they are unable to shield the window from direct solar radiation. In this instance, vertical shading devices must be continuously adjusted in order to maintain their effectiveness.
- 3. "In general, when direct sunlight falls to the vertical shading devices, they always downward the sunlight, which impacts the distribution and illumination in the interior when the reflection is preferred as far as possible to get uniform illumination" (Aladar Olygay: Solar Control and Shading Devices). Typically. They are known to contribute less to the control of daylighting. (Olgyay, 1976)
- 4. When vertical shadings are employed alone, they cannot be utilised to shield windows from rain, especially during the rainy season when there is a great deal of precipitation. Consequently, receiving fresh air and circulation will be problematic.
- 5. When the solar surface azimuth is 0 degrees in the afternoon, North and South-facing objects cannot block sun energy. Moreover, on December 22, when declination is -23.5, they are less effective in the West, South West, and South East.

The downsides of employing crossed (egg-crate) passive shading devices are:

 Though passive crossed shading devices are suitable to be used in different parts of the world, they are less effective at North West and North East orientation on June 22nd, when the declination is +23.5 degrees, and at South West and South East orientation on December
22nd, when the declination is - 23.5 degrees. Because at this period, the profile angle is quite low, and the sun azimuth at the surface is close to 0 degrees.

2. The combined shading devices must be regularly adjusted to follow the constantly shifting direction of the sun's angle in order to be effective in all orientations and at all times. Consequently, they will be unable to block solar radiation when the angle of the profile is very minimal and nearly perpendicular to the observing facade. (Oenardi, 1990)

2.5.4 Conclusions and Suggestions Based on Shadings' Limitations in Literature

The increasing demand for interior comfort and energy consumption in buildings has resulted in greater demand for more efficient façade systems. Facades are one of the potential solutions to the issue of energy consumption and thermal comfort. However, the commonly used active façade shading systems are typically designed to be responsive to one or several environmental conditions (Lopez et al., 2015). As this literature review has indicated, there are various inherent challenges that limit the practical application of existing shading systems. Al Dakheel and Tabet Aoul (2017). One of the biggest issues that designers have to deal with in conventional building shadings is that the majority of the existing shadings suffer from the conflicting issue of maximising the view of the occupants and minimising solar radiation exposure (Zvironaite et al., 2014). In light of the mentioned limitations of passive shadings and skins, this research has identified the following characteristics as important for a new adaptive building shading design (gap in the literature):

- 1. The facade's morphology should carry the (attribution) genes that make them adaptable to the environment in which they are planned to be built.
- 2. The adaptability of the shadings should be clearly responding to specific objectives such as view and radiation (users' thermal and visual comfort).
- 3. The facade should block the sun when needed but have minimum effect in blocking the view.
- 4. The design phase of the shadings should evolve from what is a repetitive and typical design across the building to a new generation with design morphology that speaks to the building's form and location specificity, therefore eradicating underutilised solar angles that may not be considered within a generic shading strategy having an effect on the intensive solar radiation on occupants' thermal comforts.
- 5. The criteria which simultaneously need to be met during the design phase of the building skin or facade fall into the following considerations: during the design phase, taking into account how the shadings need to respond with respect to the solar radiation and angle analysis over

a different period of the day, as well as the occupants' most visited area in the building (movement heatmap) to successfully achieve an efficient design.

- 6. It is very important that the shadings are smartly designed and customised to only target the areas where blocked solar radiation is needed (based on the users' needs in order to maximise efficiency and performance) rather than using a repetitive pattern all over the facade that sacrifices the view and only blocks radiation at certain angles.
- 7. Any proposed morphology for the skin should be applicable to both the freeform and geometric shape of the building.
- 8. A contextually-considered design exploration or analysis is required for any passive part and static morphology of the skin.
- 9. Building skins and facades should respond to conflicting objectives of view and thermal comfort during the design phase (Zvironaite et al., 2014).

By focusing on the points above, this study has identified the gap in the literature related to mainstream building shadings. Various researchers have proposed bio-inspired facade designs as a method of improving performance (discussed in section 2.1). The performance of such systems can be improved through the use of several integrated programmable software (Evolutionary Computation) in order to be individually customised for the different environmental and morphological conditions.

3 Research Methodology⁷

As previously mentioned, this study falls into the category of design science, which defines a distinctive class of inquiry via the use of a vast collection of behaviour, form, and holistic understanding from the natural sciences. Instead of scientific design, which combines intuitive and non-intuitive design exercises to reflect the reality of contemporary design practises, design science entails a systematic investigation of the design process through comprehension of the scientific and technological key elements of an artefact's design (Cross, 2001). This research suggests a design model that generates design solutions that are related to those features. The design model proposed in this study produces design solutions that Herbert Simon's definition of an artefact, "the artefact as interface" (Simon, 1996, p. 6), described as an interface between the inner and the outside.

The methodology used to test the hypothesis and research questions of this study initially comprised two connected stages, the evolutionary design and the Agent-Based Modelling ABM, in which the latter optimises the generated solutions of the former simulations in order to respond directly to users' comfort. The first stage reflects the insight gained through biological and building skin studies in chapter two. Through the evolutionary design phase, ways of implementing principles of adaptation lessons in biomimicry in the early-design exploration phase are established and analysed. Through the ABM phase, a collection of systematic analyses, evaluations, and objectives are suggested to respond directly to users' comfort in the building.

According to Simon (1996), it is unrealistic to predict every occurrence in the future. "What makes such design even conceivable is that we need to know or guess about the future only enough to guide the commitments we must make today. Design is unrelated to future eventualities that don't affect current commitments (Simon, 1996, p. 160). Following Simon's claim, both stages—evolutionary design and ABM, include a degree of abstraction and are carried out through a series of forecasting simulations.

⁷ To provide a clear and concise overview of the rigorous methodology employed in this study, a visual representation of the research journey and methodology is presented in the following PDF: [<u>https://drive.google.com/file/d/15_W3-uPHXVpbal1eWx5BMAnWej5-xh1k/view?usp=sharing</u>]. This diagram provides a clear and concise overview of the key stages and methods utilised throughout the research process.

3.1 Towards Evolved Solar Radiation Control in Building Skins

After developing the mind map (section 2.1.2.5) and addressing the potential adaptation lessons in nature, the research surveyed industry inputs in order to propose computational simulations and modelling as well as addressing gaps resulting in substantial changes to maximise productivity through reviews and feedback. The main aim of simulation and modelling is to give a description of various interdependent factors within a complex, intelligent system and provide a predictable pattern of their integration and better manage the desired results. These approaches are categorised as an experiment setup, case studies, optimisation of view, radiation and comfort.

The research methodology is based on an investigation of the techniques and behaviours that living organisms gain through evolution (natural selection) as a response to reducing the amount of solar radiation they receive. To identify potential living organisms with suitable applicability in architectural skins, the BioSkin database was extensively explored. The subsequent step involved the implementation of biomimetic adaptation lessons and inspirations from living organisms into a new skin design proposal. For this purpose, the design process was carried out using Rhino 3D, a powerful 3D modelling software, along with its plugin Grasshopper, known for its exceptional capabilities in parametric modelling. The decision to utilize Rhino 3D and Grasshopper was driven by their ability to efficiently handle the parametric nature of both proposed and existing design models in the case studies. Moreover, Grasshopper's flexibility enabled the seamless integration of biomimetic principles into the design process, fostering the exploration and testing of various design iterations.



Figure 24 The focus and the scope of the research in the world of building skin and facade

3.1.1 Alternative Path: Rudimentary Experimentations with Active Shading Systems for Building Skins

As discussed, the main focus of this research study is on the design stage of the building skins, where the Evolutionary Algorithm can influence the performance by bringing the gap between thermal and visual comfort in building skins. However, this study initially took a path that involved experimentation with proposed active shading systems as a solution to the research problem and to achieve the study objectives.

It is important to mention that the study initially assessed both types of mass-produced shadings (active and passive). The attempts toward creating prototypes for active shading systems are explained in detail with figures and links to the related information below.

Attempt 1: Automatic and manual control of temperature and light

In this attempt, PDLC⁸ films as components represent active parts of the façade that can interact with solar radiation and temperature. Below each PDLC film, there is a temperature and light sensor that can send signals to the Arduino kit⁹ in order to control how much solar radiations need to be blocked in order to maintain a comfortable temperature. The goal was to keep the space behind PDLC films below 25 degrees by blocking solar rays in an automatic way, as well as provide the ability to manually control the device via mobile phone.



Figure 28 Light Sensor and Arduino Kit



Figure 28 Temperature sensor Arduino Kit



Figure 28 An attempt towards controlling five light and one temperature sensor



Figure 28 PDLC films attached over light sensors

⁸ The term "PDLC film" stands for "Polymer Dispersed Liquid Crystals," which is essentially a three-dimensional structure made up of liquid crystal microdrops dispersed in a polymer matrix.

⁹ The Arduino Kit consists of all the components used for building digital or electronic devices.



Figure 29 The diagrammatic visualisation of input and output

The next attempt was to place the sensors in isolated boxes and test how much-infrared light (that is, the main thermal ray emitted from the sun) is blocked via PDLC films and their smart behaviour.



Figure 30 Testing the PDLC performance against Infrared light with light and temperature sensor

The next attempt was to control the system via mobile phone, and the pictures below demonstrate two ways to control it via the 1Sheeld app that links to Arduino.



Figure 31 Mobile app interactivity with Arduino

The link below represents how the PDLC films are controlled via mobile phones.

https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/733151605



Figure 32 Effectiveness of PDLC films in blocking light and infrared

Attempt 2: Human interactivity with facade systems

This was an attempt to make a facade system respond to human needs by being controlled with the movement of the left and right hands. In this experiment, the right hand opens the hexagons that represent the building skin cells, and the left hand closes them. The test is illustrated in the link below. https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/733150014/privacy



Figure 33 Human interactivity with facade systems

In the end, based on the literature review and the research conducted in chapter three regarding active shadings, it was evident that they cannot yet be a reliable choice due to the extremely high maintenance cost and prototyping expenses. Therefore, the study's focus was shifted towards passive shadings as a better choice to achieve the goals and objectives of this research.

3.1.2 Passive (Main) Route

As mentioned, the first stage of the methodology acquires completing an extensive and comprehensive literature review to gauge the current knowledge about how biomimicry, morphogenesis, and digital architecture can become a contribution to the development and efficiency of kinetic facade elements.

- Analysis of the relevant documents, including books, journals, articles, magazines, and archival data.
- Case studies and existing similar works in the field will be reviewed to gain a deeper understanding of a selected range of building intelligent double facades in respect of light (solar radiation) and temperature.
- Receiving support from industry professionals who have experience in digital simulations and modelling in order to learn more about parametric and algorithmic designs to deduce failure and success rates of the project and make substantial changes to maximise its productivity.

This stage involves finding inspiring adaptation lessons from living organisms as well as seeking their applicability in terms of responding to solar radiation. In order to document the findings, the data-collecting mind map (section 2.1.2.5) proposed in this research has been implemented to find out the applicability of adaptation, evolution techniques and strategies of a living organism in architectural skins. The main obtained elements from the mind map are the following:

- a) Surface-to-Volume Ratio
- b) Self-shading Techniques
- c) Homeostasis Principals
- d) Emergence, Evolution, Growth: Grouping and Partitioning Technique of Stem Cells of Plants

3.1.3 Simulations (Passive Response)

The study created an initial mind map to grasp and explore the adaptation lessons available in biology that are associated with the research aims and objectives (section 2.1.2.5). After developing the mind map (section 2.1.2.5) and addressing the potential adaptation lessons in nature, the research surveyed industry inputs to carry out the research on case studies and experimental examinations of buildings with skins designed to control solar radiation. Rudimentary simulation experiments of synthetic living skin with morphogenesis characteristics were conducted in order to understand how to implement

the principles and the rules of responsiveness, adaptability¹⁰ and the parameters (Parametricism)¹¹ in the design stage of buildings skins. By elaboration and examination of these principles, a better understanding of their application in the biomimetic context of architecture will be achieved by means of more efficiency and effectiveness. This process involves developing simulations and modelling to derive rules from such principles. Most current building "skins" are quite static. Rather than being a bridge that permits the outside and interior to speak, several building skins nowadays serve to separate the inside from the outside with solely, if any, intermittent window openings.

As previously mentioned, this simulation concentrates on experimenting with the effect of the application of Biomimetic elements, established in this research, into three conventional and one unconventional shading. Additionally, this study claims the research is based on generic solid materials transparency and the translucency of materials was not taken into account; therefore, the material is a constant factor, and any material variation would produce a negligible impact on the solar gain calculation.

3.1.3.1 Case Studies

One of the regions with increasing interest in construction while having extreme environmental conditions in the summer is the Persian Gulf. The temperature of this region can rise up to 60 degrees in the summer (Pal and Eltahir, 2016). This research attempts to respond to the objectives in chapter one through comparisons of the original and evolutionary-generated skins of the following four towers located in the Persian Gulf region. Given the monotony of the building skins in these projects, the overall morphology of the skins will be incapable of responding to all part of the building that requires different criteria of view and solar radiation reduction. Early design explorations to improve the final design outputs are crucial in order to lower the construction and post-construction costs, as well as enable the static skin to be able to respond exclusively to a different part of the building. By focusing on the office floors of each case study building, an alternative formal configuration of the selected floors in relation to their skin form is addressed through the experiments presented in this research. This limitation of the study results in improving the efficiency, time-consuming, and quality of proposed design solutions.

¹⁰ It is important to note that the word "Adaptability" in this context is not referring to dynamic façade systems (i.e. able to be mechanically reconfigured) but to an adaptive design process that results in a static, but highly differentiated design. This will be achieved via early design exploration method through predicting users behaviour and considering sunpath and solar radiation angle during the busies time of the day and hottest days of the year.

¹¹ Parametricism is a style within contemporary avant-garde architecture, promoted as a successor to post-modern architecture and modern architecture. The term was coined in 2008 by Patrik Schumacher, an architectural partner of Zaha Hadid (1950-2016) (Schumacher, 2010).

In other words, this part of the study highlights the significance of the adaptation of skin to extreme environmental conditions as well as the early-stage skin design exploration. Secondary evaluation mechanisms have been embedded into the evolutionary simulation to steer the evolutionary process toward generating such adapted formal attributes.

The PIF towers, Abu Dhabi Market Square and Al-hilal Tower, are protected from solar radiation by linear shadings, and Al-Bahr towers take advantage of dynamic cellular shadings. In the literature review chapter of this study, the downside of all linear shadings has been highlighted. The paragraph below is the outcome of the investigation into the Albahr towers' skin for the purpose of understanding the pros and cons of the cellular case study of this study.

PIF towers

A 385 m (1,263 ft) high skyscraper in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, is known as the Public Investment Fund (PIF) Tower. It became Riyadh's tallest skyscraper in 2014 after construction began in 2010 and was completed.

The building's design was primarily focused on making it simultaneously functional and iconic. An irregularly shaped building site with numerous surfaces surrounding it placed restrictions on architects. This influenced the building's prismatic design, which has numerous diamond-shaped facets that enable the sun to be captured in several different ways. When developing this structure, which is anticipated to receive LEED Gold certification, the architects took Riyadh's hot and sunny climate into great consideration. Because of the transparency of the tower, the interior is open, and the workers have access to natural light. The extreme Saudi heat and light are moderated with a high-performance sun control system. The triple-pane unitized glazing's thermal efficiency is increased by



Figure 34 PIF towers (Capital Market Authority Tower, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, 2016)

an exterior layer of fins, gantries, and perforated panels, which also provide shade. Together, these shading tools reduce internal cooling loads and solar gain, which lowers the need for HV AC.

Abu Dhabi Market Square

Four office towers frame the headquarters building: two at 31 stories and the other two at 37 stories located in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. The first full office floor of each building starts 34 meters above the ground level.

The project emphasized a sustainable design approach throughout. One of the main initiatives involved the environmentally responsive enclosure system that uses a mechanically ventilated cavity and a double-skin façade system over large portions of the office buildings. These elements help mitigate the 40 °F interior-exterior temperature differential. The double-skin cavities run the entire height of the four office towers. Within the cavities, active solar shades track and adjust for the sun angle in order to provide optimal shading to the building's interior. Active lighting controls also help balance natural and artificial light. Because of these and other measures, the complex became the first integrated development in Abu Dhabi to be certified LEED-CS Gold.



Figure 35 Abu Dhabi Market Square (Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, 2019)

Al Hilal Bank Tower

This 24-story office tower is located on Al Maryah Island in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. With the best Class A office space available, the building is designed to draw top national and international businesses. With its effective, column-free floor plates, floor-to-ceiling glass, and the newest amenities and technology, the building fills a need in the expanding market. The podium contains retail space and a dramatic three-story transparent lobby to the north, with pedestrian arcades on the east and west. Three cubical masses sit atop the podium, stacked like shifted blocks. Designed to set the building apart from other towers on the island, these forms derive their interest from recessed corners that are offset from each other. In addition, the building's façade changes at the created voids

to accentuate the shifted aesthetic. A spectacular three-story translucent lobby and retail space are located on the podium, which also has pedestrian arcades on the east and west sides. On top of the podium, three cubical masses are arranged in a jumbled fashion. These shapes were intended to distinguish the building from neighbouring island towers, and the forms are inspired by their offset recessed corners (Al Hilal Bank Office Tower, 2020).

Orange highlights draw attention to the gaps while emphasising the bank's identity both throughout the day and at night. The facade is built of an aluminium-and-glass curtain wall system with glass and notched metal spandrel components and vertical glass fins that accentuate the building's verticality and provide slight shadings (Al Hilal Bank Office Tower / Goettsch Partners, 2021).



Figure 36 Al Hilal Bank Tower (Al Hilal Bank Office Tower / Goettsch Partners, 2021)

The Al Bahr Towers

Towers, located in Abu Dhabi's financial centre, have been constructed with the objective of creating a sustainable project for a region with hot and extreme climatic conditions. The building is comprised of two identical 145m tall towers with 26 stories each, and geometric patterns inspired by Islamic culture. Al Bahr towers are amongst many other buildings to employ methods of neutralizing the effects of extreme temperature rise in the region (Armstrong *et al.*, 2013).

According to Arup Journal 2013, the main area of consideration in response to the environment in the case of Al Bahr Towers was the skin system, comprising the external kinetic panels to reduce the effects of the excessive solar radiation exposure on the building (Armstrong et al., 2013).

The mechanical movements of the skin have made it responsive to external conditions; however, on the other hand, this increases the cost of energy consumed by this system and, subsequently, its maintenance expenditures. Given the uniqueness of the skin system in this project, the overall morphology of the towers is comprising of two cylinders with having no other formal attributes rather than the applied skin to respond to the exposed excessive solar radiation.

The choice of glass material in the case of the Al-Bahr towers, in order to maintain a degree of freedom of view from inside to outside, is in fact another reason for the employment of such a skin system to block the excessive solar radiation as much as possible. This research tries to put forward an evolutionary design methodology that implies the importance of early design explorations of form and skin through which the adaptation to excessive solar radiation will be addressed from early design phases.



Figure 37 The view from inside to the outside of the Al-Bahr towers (Al Bahr Towers, 2011)



Figure 38 The Al-Bahr Towers (Al Bahr Towers, 2011)

The criticism regarding the implemented skin system in the Al-Bahr project to adapt to its environmental conditions is the reason that made this project to be selected as a case study with more potential room for deeper investigation and experiment in comparison to other case studies. The research that was conducted by Shady Attia (2018) has raised concerns regarding the sustainability of this project. Based on the result of Attia's surveys, 60% of the users are uncomfortable with the natural light that is received through the skin. Covering the buildings with glass material (to maintain the freedom of view from inside to outside) in the desert environment creates a challenging problem. The use of the kinetic panels is a response to a problem that was created by the glass façade initially. The mechanical movements of the skin have made it responsive to external conditions; however, on the other hand, this increases the cost of energy consumed by this system and, subsequently, its maintenance expenditures. The skin also tremendously increased the cost of the construction to 390 million euros. (Attia, 2018)

Species have developed formal characteristics to adapt to extreme environmental conditions throughout the course of their evolutions. Through investigations on species and the ways in which

they adapt their forms and behaviours to their environment, the experiments presented in this study is going to explore alternative skin morphological configuration of the four selected buildings in relation to their skin in extreme environmental condition, i.e. the Persian Gulf region. This research aims to emphasise the formal configuration of architectural skin in their adaptation to their environment via early design explorations to improve the final design outputs. This is crucial in order to lower construction and post-construction costs.

3.1.3.2 Computational Platform

Evolutionary multi-objective optimization strategies have been utilised widely since the late 20th century as problem-solving methods. The work of Sewell Wright in the 1930s is the earliest instance of the application of evolutionary principles as optimization processes (Aedas, 2019). Midway through the 20th century, John Holland's Genetic Algorithms (GA) (Helbing and Molnar, 1995), Rechenberg and Schwefel's Evolutionary Strategies (ES) (Surowiecki and Silverman, 2007) and Fogel et al. 's Evolutionary Programming (EP) (Harvey, 2001) were developed independently from one another and led to the establishment of a unified field of evolutionary computation in the late 20th century (Skou, 2013).

Erns Mayr (1988) described the evolutionary model as a two-step process; random variation within the genome (instructions behind building the geometry in this context) of a phenotype (geometry) and, subsequently, the selection of the phenotype through environmental pressures (Mayr, 1988). Most widely used evolutionary algorithms, such as NSGA-II ¹² (Bateson, 2012), have been developed based on Mayr's definition. The algorithm goes through a primary loop and starts by generating an initial random population of solutions. It continues with modifications of genomes through random



Figure 39 NSGA-II algorithm pseudocode.

¹² Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II; an standard Evolutionary algorithms for Multi-objective optimisation purposes

variations and evaluation of the solutions on their objective performance. It ends by selecting a group of solutions based on a predefined selection mechanism (Turner, 2002) (Figure 39).

Despite the large number of evolutionary optimisation algorithms that are now in use, they may be classified into either Single-Objective Evolutionary Algorithms (SOEA) or Multi-Objective Evolutionary Algorithms (MOEA). When addressing issues with a single objective, the former employs evolutionary problem-solving approaches; when tackling problems with multiple competing objectives, however (if the objectives are not in conflict, the problem may be addressed using an SOEA), the latter employs the same ideas. The main distinction between these two categories of algorithms is the result, as SOEA often produces a single solution that solves the problem's solitary issue. However, due to the competing aims guiding the simulation, there is not a single best answer in the MOEA. A solution that works best for one goal may not be the best choice for another. In order to try to optimize for each goal separately within the same algorithmic run, the MOEA generates a solution set (Deb, 2006).

Through the use of variation and selection techniques, the algorithmic application of evolutionary concepts in multi-objective optimisation schemes mimics the behaviour of its natural equivalent (Pareto front solutions). Nevertheless, for their application to be successful, it must produce a wide range of solutions in a reasonable amount of time. Luke Sean (2013) claims that a search and optimization method that is both exploratory and exploitative should be balanced in the algorithm configuration. The first one relates to a sufficient level of mutation and crossover to enable a varied population of candidate solutions, and the second one refers to the effective selection and variation techniques that guide the algorithm towards an optimal solution set within an acceptable amount of generations (Luke, 2013)

The advantages of using evolutionary concepts in design were investigated by architects and planners beginning in the second half of the 20th century (Batty, 2013; Coates, 2010; Weinstock, 2010b; Marshall, 2008; Steadman, 2008b; Frazer, 1995). The design issues under investigation in the context of the presented study involve several sets of competing objectives and a broad search area. In order to execute the evolutionary simulations, the MOEA is the primary approach used in this situation. Additionally, evolutionary simulation makes it easier to include biological homeostatic principles into its algorithmic loops by facilitating a responsive generative framework as a design model (Kaviani and Showkatbakhsh, 2020; Showkatbakhsh and Makki, 2020).

Although research by Wortmann et al. (2017) questions the effectiveness of evolutionary algorithms, specifically genetic algorithms, in addressing a single-objective issue because of several competing objectives and a wide range of potential solutions, MOEA is the approach used in this study (Coello,

2006; Branke et al., 2008; Deb, 2008; Luke, 2013; Rothlauf, 2011) Furthermore, compared to other optimisation techniques used in the design discipline, multi-objective evolutionary optimisation strategies are more in accordance with the evolution's biological principles (abstracted in section 2.1.2.5).

The use of multi-objective evolutionary algorithms has grown both in academia and industry recently as a result of advancements in computing power and general accessibility to design platforms that enable algorithmic implementations. One of the well-known platforms, Grasshopper, created by (Rutten, 2013), allowed the use of unique algorithms in the design process, including evolutionary algorithms. Users can perform evolutionary simulations using one of the several evolutionary solvers available in the Grasshopper platform. Among the most well-known and frequently used evolutionary solvers to date are Galapagos, developed by Rutten in 2010; Octopus, developed by Vierlinger in 2013. Biomorpher, developed by Harding and Branst in 2017; Design Space Exploration, developed by MIT in 2017; and Wallacei (Makki et al., 2019). With the exception of Galapagos, which is a single-goal optimisation, the others are multi-objective optimisation engines. Wallacei, in the presented experiments, is used as the primary evolutionary solver due to a number of factors, including access to the simulation's whole evolutionary history, as well as live and dynamic statistical representations of the performances of the solutions, and the provision of a comprehensive collection of methods for analysis and selection that use machine learning algorithms to reduce the population.

Evolutionary optimisation techniques have become more prevalent in recent years among academics and practitioners in the fields of architecture and design. Ayman Hassaan (2016), in his research, looked at the early geometric formations of the skin to examine the use of evolutionary optimisation in the design phase (Mahmoud and Elghazi, 2016).

Yun Kyu Yi implemented NSGA-II algorithm in his investigations of optimising building facades (Yi, 2019). Machairas et al. used the genetic algorithm to address a set of conflicting objectives in the early design phase of a building (Machairas et al., 2014). Bionic Partition, a partition that was designed by The Living Office in collaboration with Airbus and Autodesk, is an example of the application of evolutionary optimization techniques in practice with functional and structural objectives (The Living, 2019).

In nature, Homeostasis occurs through evaluations and responsive feedback mechanisms. The application of homeostatic principles for the development of adaptive architectural skins requires an iterative generative model that includes a mechanism of evaluation and reconfiguration of the generated results. Thus, the experiment presented in this research utilises evolutionary computation

as the main framework through which generated design solutions address the predefined environmental pressures via an increase in their fitness (Luke, 2015). In this context, heat ¹³received by solar radiation is the parameter by which homeostasis will be maintained and monitored through the insertion of secondary evaluation mechanisms as the algorithm loops into the evolutionary simulation (Figure 5). With a similar goal but a different algorithmic approach to the experiments presented in the study (Kaviani and Showkatbakhsh, 2021), this research investigates the application of homeostatic feedback mechanisms into the evolutionary simulations to generate adaptive forms.

The main components of a homeostatic process (setpoint, receptor and effector) are mapped to a set of algorithmic conditional statements within the main design problem algorithm. Building upon Torday's (2015) statement of 'a reference point for change', these algorithmic conditional statements as the secondary evaluation mechanisms create the reference points for morphological changes through the evolutionary simulation.



Figure 40 The modified evolutionary simulation workflow with two secondary evaluation mechanisms. The red squares show the modified stages. The green square shows the added step on the application of evolutionary simulation in design using Wallacei.

¹³ In the context of this study, solar radiation is taken as the only way by which heat can be exchanged. Thus, the primary aspect of the conducted experiment is the significance of the building skin's shadings in the adaptation to excessive solar radiation through evolutionary simulation with homeostatic feedback mechanisms.

4 Experiments, Results & Analysis

The design experiment in this research aims to generate building skins with morphological properties embedded into their shadings and geometry that enable their adaptation to the excessive solar radiation of the Persian Gulf region. In the context of this research, the seasonal solstices and equinoxes (21st of June, September, December and March) are considered the dates on which solar radiation is calculated and studied. This research, through comparisons to the original skins of the PIF towers, Abu Dhabi Market Square, Al-hilal Tower, and Al-Bahr Towers, highlights the significance of adaptation of skin to extreme environmental conditions. In each case study, the original skin of the building will be completely modelled, and the skin will be exposed to solar radiation during selected dates in order to measure the skin's performance in terms of solar radiation occlusion and to provide visibility (view) to the outside. Then, by utilising each case study skin as the basic geometry component, a primitive geometry will be constructed to enable the changes necessary in the simulation. A set of genes, concluded from the studies conducted on the significance of morphology on the adaptation of species (section 2.1.2.5), inserted into the genome to enable the modifications should simulation favour them (table 3 & figure 43). The experiments of this study fall into two phases with different design problem-solving approaches that will be elaborated on in the following sections.

4.1 Experiment Setup (Phase I)

Throughout the evolutionary simulations of this research, four types of building skin on four selected case studies will be evaluated (both statistically and morphologically) to highlight any emergent behaviour among the evolved solutions at either the different levels or surfaces of a building across multiple generations. The experiment will present these behavioural attributes by analysing individual solutions extracted from different generations throughout seven evolutionary simulations. Their performance in adapting to the excessive solar radiation of the region based on a set of measurement criteria will be compared with the original skin of each case study. The Abu-Dhabi Market, Al-Hilal Tower and PIF tower simulations will be based on the evolution of their original shape of skin (horizontal, vertical and crossed; explained in Figure 41). The study over Al-Bahr towers in this research is more in-depth in comparison to the other three case studies as the skin is more complex, and there are more modelling, survey and analysis data available for this project than in other case studies. Therefore, both cellular and linear types of skin are going to be experimented and tested in this project (described in figures 53 & 54). Hence, four out of seven experiments presented in this study will explore alternative skin morphological configurations of the Al-Bahr towers in relation to their original skin.



Figure 41 Basic Illustration of the development of each type of skin in the evolutionary design experiment as well as the types of shadings used in the evolutionary design platform (Phase I). The red dots are attractor units that can be spread throughout the building surface area to change the density of the skin cells or shadings

4.1.1 Homeostatic Feedback Mechanism

Two secondary feedback mechanisms are added to the evolutionary simulation to steer it towards generating the extra set of adaptive formal attributes within the phonotypes. They are called homeostatic mechanism A and homeostatic mechanism B (figure 42).

Homeostatic Mechanism A (*H-M-A*) directs the simulation to generate the skin system on the buildings should a specific condition be met. Homeostatic regulatory mechanism in the algorithm can be identified into its three main elements, and they are as follows (table 1):

a) **Set point**: solar radiation of more than 3.5 kWh/m² exposed on the building's surface with no skin is the threshold, after which a responsive feedback mechanism will be activated in order to counteract the deviation. (The figure of 3.5 kWh/m² was chosen as a design input and excessive radiation threshold; this number can be modified accordingly in the other scenarios based on the location.

b) Receptor: Building skin has been created algorithmically, allowing for the evaluation of the solar radiation on the building surfaces.

c) *Effector:* if the amount of solar radiation exceeds 3.5 kWh/m^{2,} a new morphological attribute will be activated on the exposed surfaces and modifies the existing shadings. (Table 3).

if(F(X) != null) G(X); else

Х;

Functions and Variables	Description
х	The generated phenotype in each iteration
F ()	Receptor. The Function that returns the parts of the phenotype that receive solar radiation of more than
	3.5kwh/m ²
G ()	Effector. The Function that applies the morphological changes onto the phenotype

Table 1 Homeostatic Mechanism A (H-M-A)

Homeostatic Mechanism B (H-M-B) affects areas of the buildings with exposure to higher solar radiation in comparison to H-M-A. However, in a similar fashion, this regulatory mechanism in the algorithm can be simplified to its three main elements, and they are as follows (table 2):

a) **Set point**: 4 kWh/m² of the solar radiation on the building skin is the threshold after which a responsive feedback mechanism will be activated in order to counteract the deviation (4kwh/m² was chosen as a design input and excessive radiation threshold, this number can be modified accordingly in the other scenarios based on the location).

b) Receptor: Building skins have been created algorithmically, allowing for the evaluation of the solar radiation on the building surfaces.

c) *Effector:* if the amount of solar radiation exceeds 4 kWh/m², a new set of shading with new morphological attributes will be activated on the exposed building surfaces. (resulting in increasing the density of the shading in the selected areas)

```
if(F(X) != null)
    {
        if(K(G(X)) != null)
            H(G(X));
        else
            G(X);
    }
    else
        {
            if (K(X) != null)
            H(X);
        else
            X;
        }
    }
}
```

Table 2 Homeostatic Mechanism B (H-M-B)

Functions and Variables	Description
Х	The generated phenotype in each iteration
к ()	Receptor. The Function that returns the parts of the phenotype with no skin that receives solar radiation more than 4 kWh/m ²
Н ()	Effector. The Function that applies the morphological changes to the phenotype



Figure 42 The pseudocode of the design problem within which the evolutionary simulation will be operating.



Figure 43 Homeostasis Feedback Loop In relation to the Evolutionary Algorithm that generates skin

4.1.2 Selection of the Fitness Criteria

The evolutionary simulation was developed to generate a building skin in Abu-Dhabi and Riyadh for the four different towers to optimise for the following Fitness Objectives (FO):

a) <u>FO1</u>: To increase the shadow on the buildings by *self-shading* mechanisms (Figures 44 & 45)

b) <u>FO2</u>: To increase the view from the inside of the buildings towards the outside (figure 46)

Each of these objectives was formulated to direct the evolutionary simulation toward the emergence of the formal attributes (table 3 & figures 47 to 54) suitable for the context. Secondary homeostatic mechanisms in the simulation will then steer the simulation towards preferred morphological attributes by creating reference points for change. The architectural application of these fitness objectives, however, holds an equal significance, and they are as follows.

A set of genes was introduced to the primitive skin (table 3 & figures 47 to 54) to enable the necessary transformations to occur in the phenotypes to increase the shadow on the buildings by a self-shading mechanism. By increasing the self-shading of the building skin, the morphology will be essential in preventing solar radiation from hitting the object. As a result, it will help to lower the amount of energy needed for cooling systems during hot weather. The sample points populate the geometries to efficiently calculate the self-shading objective (Pa). The volume of the phenotypes is inversely correlated with the number of (Pa). The sun vectors can access some of (Pa), but some are blocked (Ps). Objective 2 is calculated to increase the number of (Ps) in the simulation in order to increase the

self-shading on the buildings. The ratio is calculated as the objective since each solution may have a different number of sample points Pa (due to their various volumes).



Figure 45 The Illustration of sun radiation application over the building



Figure 44 The grouping technique inspired by geranium plant stem for the process of activation of HMA & HMB over the skin during the optimisation

As a result of the inserted homeostatic mechanisms in the evolutionary system, a new morphological attribute (skin system), will be activated. To address the concern regarding the blockage of the view from inside of the buildings towards outside, the second objective is introduced to the evolutionary simulation to increase the view from inside to outside.



Figure 46 View Analysis Method

Each room on the selected floors (office floors) is divided into four parts, and from each part, vectors are projected to the outside of the building from an elevated point (eye level of 1.7m). The number of vectors that are blocked by the skin will be mapped and shown in percentage to have a clear ratio of blocked and unblocked rays. Vectors (V_a) are drawn outwards, as shown in figure 46. The skin system will block some of them, while some vectors will not hit the skin and pass through (V_p). Fitness objective two is assigned to increase the number of vectors (V_p) from inside to outside¹⁴.

$$\alpha = \sum_{n=0}^{n} V_{an} \times V$$
 $\beta = \sum_{n=0}^{n} V_{pn}$ $FO2 = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right)$

Given the complexity of the design problem, the experiment was limited to 10 individuals per generation with a total number of 500 generations (in total, 5000 generated solutions). The main purpose of the conducted experiment is to test the success/failure of the implemented homeostatic mechanisms within the evolutionary simulation to generate phenotypes with formal attributes suitable for adaptation to hot climates.

(Length of blocked vectors < length of vectors)

¹⁴ Number of vectors (n) = area/x

Number of points to test on window = n

[%] of view = $(\beta / \alpha) \times 100$

 $[\]beta$ = Number of blocked Vectors , α = all of the vectors

2

1

4.1.3 Genotypes and Phenotypes and the Development of the Skin:

The illustration of the skin development below is also available in an animated gif file format at: https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1zEtwqAz4HfTFDBM2wfbKZHQZOHYd4z00?usp=sharing

Table 3 This table shows the selected bio-inspired elements (based on the mind map) that have become the genes of the phenotypes in the evolutionary simulation

Fitness Criteria	Genes			
	Offset	Extrusion	Rotation	Density
Increasing Self-Shading				
Maximising the View from Inside to Outside				
	1	2	3	4

3



Figure 47 Illustration of an example of genes morphological representation of proposed cellular skin



Figure 48 The Illustration of the effect of the genes' modification on self-shading of the façade and by increasing surface to volume ratio. (Based on the grouping technique of geranium plant stem)



Figure 49 Gene group 1 (offset) controls the selection of the algorithm that generates offsets for shadings (HMA)



Figure 50 Gene group 2 controls the morphological changes that generates and changes extrusions of the shadings which is part of the HMA and HMB.



Figure 52 Gene Group 3 controls the density of the shadings panels and cells. (Part of the HMA)



Figure 51 Gene group 4 controls the morphological changes that generates and changes extrusions of the shadings which is part of the HMB.

Cellular Skin

The figures below demonstrate the development process of cellular skin and linear skin:



Figure 53 Cellular Skin: Cellular skins can have different density of cells depending on the surface they are placed. In this instance, the red dot produces more density and black dot generates less density of cells.



Figure 54 Linear Skin, linear shadings can have different angles, length and arrangements

4.1.4 Optimisation Mechanism

In addition to the analysis of the entire simulation for each case study, the best phenotypes were selected among the 5000 phenotypes to study how successful or unsuccessful the simulation was in optimising their objectives and, more importantly, how better or worse they performed relative to the original skin of the buildings in adapting to the excessive solar radiation of the Persian Gulf region. To select a set of candidate solutions in the multiobjective evolutionary algorithm while limiting the user's preference is a challenging task. To compare a wide range of solutions to the case studies' original skins, the selected solutions are the best option for each of both fitness objectives. As the view and the thermal comfort (fitness objectives) may contradict each other, the selected solution is the relative difference between the best fitness rank of each fitness objective (the solutions which address the fitness objectives equally). They also have the lowest average fitness rank amongst 5000 solutions (for further description of the selection strategies, please refer to (Makki et al., 2019).

To study the selected individuals thoroughly, each solution is accompanied by a full Wallacei analysis of their fitness performance independently and relative to the entire simulation. This is completed by an illustration of the morphological properties of each solution which can be seen at <a href="https://www.https

- a) What percentage of the building surface area will receive more than the threshold of 3.5 KwH/m2 solar radiation? According to the annual maximum solar gain in Abu-Dhabi (Bankable solar data for better decisions, 2019), 6.3 KwH/m2 is the maximum solar gain per day in a year. Since neither the case studies nor the selected solutions will receive this much solar radiation (without considering the roofs), the figure 3.5 KwH/m2 is selected in this research to conduct a meaningful comparison between the case studies (with original skin) and the selected solutions (proposed and alternative skins). This analysis demonstrates how well the evolved morphological attributes of the phenotypes obstruct the solar radiation¹⁵ exposed to the building surfaces compared to the case studies.
- b) How much the evolved skin system obstructs the view from the inside to the outside of the buildings? Increasing the view as a fitness objective was introduced to the simulation to ensure the evolved skin contributes to the obstruction of solar radiation while maintaining a

¹⁵ The Evolutionary Design Fitness Objective 1 for solar radiation has been facilitated via occlusion hits (occlusion component) in Grasshopper 3D software. And the analysis of this process over the proposed case studies in the following next pages of this section is done via ladybug plugin of Grasshopper 3D (Ladybug Tools. 2019). This has been done to have more assurance that the method used for optimisation process and the data produced from this simulation are valid.

degree of freedom of view from inside to outside of the buildings. In order to conduct a meaningful analysis between the selected solutions and the case studies, the only obstructing geometry that was counted in the calculation of the view rays from inside to the outside is the frame of the skin systems in both cases (case studies and selected candidates). The materiality, form, and function of the panels inside the frames have not been explored in the context of this research; these elements have been marked as further studies for exploring this subject further.

c) In all case studies and solutions, the only floors selected in terms of function are the office floors. This focused action results in more accurate data and increases the reproducibility of the experiment. In other words, any other function and unselected floor in the case studies can be optimised via the same method.

The selected phenotypes display a wide range of morphological variations. All the selected phenotypes have H-M-A (skin system) activated, while H-M-B (extra layer of skin) was triggered selectively (based on the fitness criteria and solar radiation intensively). The percentage of surface area for each of the case study proposed solutions that receive solar radiation more than the threshold is less than the case studies' original skin. All the selected solutions successfully created pockets of shadow on exactly the surface areas of the towers, which were exposed to excessive solar radiation that facilitated indoor office activities, an attribute that is missing in the case studies. The selected solutions hold advantages in facilitating the view from the inside to the outside of the buildings when compared to the case studies (Thorough analysis from section 4.1.4.1 to 4.1.4.7).

The evolutionary simulation used in this experiment is built using the multi-objective Non-Dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm II (NSGA-II) developed by Deb. et al. (Deb et al., 2000). The simulation is conducted, and the results are extensively analysed using Rhinoceros3D, Grasshopper3D, and its plugin Wallacei (Makki et al., 2019). The following values were entered into the evolutionary simulation's algorithm parameters: (Table 4). (Please see (Makki et al., 2019) for an explanation of the terminology used in the simulation).

Wallacie evolutionary optimisation plugin was employed to run simulations aimed at achieving the best-performing building skin designs based on evolutionary principles. By utilising this plugin, the research tapped into the potential of genetic algorithms to optimize the building skin's performance in response to solar radiation.

Additionally, the Pedsim plugin for Grasshopper was utilized for agent-based modelling, enabling the investigation of pedestrian behaviour and its impact on building skin performance. Through agent-

based simulations, the research gained valuable insights into how biomimetic building skins can enhance user comfort and experience while interacting with the architectural environment.

In the next section (4.2), the combination of Rhino 3D, Grasshopper, Wallacie, and Pedsim will play a pivotal role in facilitating a robust and comprehensive research methodology, enabling the exploration of biomimicry's potential in revolutionising building skin and facade design. These tools were chosen for their specific purposes, offering sophisticated parametric modelling, evolutionary optimisation, and agent-based simulation capabilities, which proved instrumental in achieving the research's objectives.

Parameter	Short Description	Value
Generation Size	Number of individuals per generation	10
Generation Count	Number of generations in the simulation	500
Crossover Probability	Percentage of solutions that reproduce in each generation	0.9
Mutation Probability	The percentage of mutation 1/ (number of variables)	1/n
Crossover distribution index	Probability of similarity of the offspring to the parents	20
Mutation Distribution Index	Probability of similarity of the offspring to the parents	20
Random Seed	Random seed in the simulation	1

The following pages comprise a series of illustrations¹⁶ of the extended set of selected skin morphologies that evolved in the experiment. The drawings highlight the variations of skin tissues over the case studies. (figures 55 to 96).

Please visit <u>https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/512950848</u> to view the entire process in the design evolution of one of the case studies (the Albahr towers), as well as the new skin during the optimisation simulation.

¹⁶ All design models for the case study buildings presented in this thesis were created by the candidate. The dimensions and specifications of the models were based on the information available from the construction companies, including Arup (Al Bahr Towers, 2011 and Armstrong et al., 2013). While every effort has been made to ensure accuracy, it is acknowledged that the models may not perfectly resemble the as-built facilities. However, the validity of the simulations is not compromised, as the primary purpose of the simulations was to compare the shading type of the buildings with their evolved versions. Any deviations in accuracy do not hinder the research's core objectives or conclusions.

Abu-Dhabi Market, Horizontal:



Figure 55 Abu-Dhabi Market, Horizontal Skin (Before and After)



Figure 56 Radiation Analysis of Abu-Dhabi Market with the original skin



Figure 57 Radiation Analysis Abu-Dhabi Market with the evolved skin



Figure 58 View Analysis Abu-Dhabi Market

Evaluation and Results: Abu Dhabi Market

Original Skin	% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity	(KWh/m2)	View
	Office 0.13 17.6 8.48 3.41 3.16 0.34 10.33 20.48 20.23 15.84	5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 1.5 0.5	O f f i c e 6 7 . 8 8 %
	Other Places 0.04 0.19 2.76 10.56 30.3 1.05 1.03 9.76 11.91 32.4	5 4 3 3 2 2 5 2 1 5 1 0 5	Other places 63.21%
	Overall 0.03 0.14 2.04 12.48 24.47 1.88 1.39 10.76 14.87 31.94	5 4 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 1 0.5	Overall 64.15%
New Skin	% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity	(KWh/m2)	View
New Skin	% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity Office 0.06 0.03 3.07 8.45 13.71 8.83 11.15 7.98 17.5 29.21	5 4.5 4 3.5 2.5 2 1.5 1 0.5	View Office 74.06%
New Skin	% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity Office 0.06 0.03 3.07 8.45 13.71 8.83 11.61 8.83 11.15 7.98 17.5 29.21 Other Places 0.02 0.09 0.31 1.08 4.38 11.27 13.95 20.37 25.53 23	5 4 . 5 4 3 . 5 3 2 . 5 2 1 . 5 1 0 . 5 5 4 . 5 3 2 . 5 2 1 . 5 1 0 . 5	View Office 74.06% Other places 64.51%

Figure 59 Evaluation and Results: of Abu-Dhabi Market
Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution: Abu-Dhabi Market, Horizontal:



Generation 313, Solution 8

Parallel Coordinate Plot



Method of selecting



Figure 60 Optimisation Graphs of Generation 313

4.1.4.1 Al-Hilal tower, Vertical:



Figure 61 Al-Hilal tower with vertical shadings



Figure 62 Radiation Analysis of Al-Hilal tower with the original skin



Figure 63 Radiation Analysis Al-Hilal tower with the evolved skin



Figure 64 View Analysis of the Al-Hilal tower

Evaluation and Results: the AI-Hilal tower

Original Skin	% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity	(KWh/m2)	View
	Office 0.39 0 4.01 7.55 0.31 11 29.58 35.67 4.22 8.27	5 4.5 4 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 1.5 1.5	O f f i c e 6 1 . 9 4 %
	Other Places 2.43 5.74 7.54 51.55 4.31 4.34 10.9 5.43 2.4 5.38	5 4.5 4 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 1 0.5	Other places 82.05%
	Overall 0.01 0.02 1.46 4.73 4.56 22.67 19.13 12.75 3.96 30.71	5 4.5 4 3.5 2.5 2 1.5 1.5 1 0.5	Overall 63.35%
New Skin	% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity	(KWh/m2)	View
	Office 0.3 0.35 0.84 6.89 14.73 23.03 27.17 19.78 5.9 1	5 4.5 3.5 2.5 2.1.5 1.5 1.5	O f f i c e 6 9 . 5 9 %
	Other Places		
	0.02 0.09 0.31 1.08 4.38 1.27 13.95 20.37 25.53 23	5 4.5 4 3.5 2.5 2.5 1.5 1.0 5	Other places 68.38%
	Overall		
U	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & .1 & 1 \\ 0 & .1 & 2 \\ 0 & .4 & 2 \\ 0 & .6 & 1 \\ 4 & .2 \\ 1 & 5 \\ 1 & 9 & .2 & 9 \\ 1 & 5 & .6 & 2 \\ 1 & 0 & .6 & 1 \\ 3 & 4 & .0 & 3 \end{bmatrix} = 1 \cdot 2 \cdot 6$	5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 1 0.5	Overall 70.55%

Figure 65 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Hilal tower

Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution: Al-Hilal tower, Vertical



Generation 318, Solution 7



Method of selecting



Figure 66 Optimisation Graphs of Generation 318

4.1.4.2 PIF Tower, with Square (Crossed) Shadings:



Figure 67 PIF Tower, with Square (Crossed) Shadings



Figure 68 Radiation Analysis of the PIF Tower with the original skin



Figure 69 Radiation Analysis of the PIF Tower with the evolved skin



Figure 70 View Analysis of the PIF Tower

Evaluation and Results: the PIF Tower

Original Skin

New Skin

% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity	(KWh/m2)	View
Office 0 0 1 1 2.14 0 0.13 20.60 50.54 22.85 2.41 1.13	5 4.5 4 3.5 3 2.5 2.5 1.5 1 0.5	Office 48.77%
Other Places 0 1.1 5.41 21.56 46.47 23.08 1.05 1.33	5 4.5 3.5 2.5 2.5 1.5 1.5	Other places 47.56%
Overall 0 2.02 7.71 2.86	5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5	Overal I
2 0 . 8 9 4 0 . 3 1 2 2 . 9 2 . 1 4 1 . 1 7	2 1.5 1 0.5	40,4270
20.89 40.31 22.9 2.14 1.17 % of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity	2 1.5 1 0.5 (KWh/m2)	View
20.89 40.31 22.9 2.14 1.17 % of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity Office 0 0 0.13 2.7 17.79 35.69 27.62 13.27 2.81	2 1.5 1.5 (KWh/m2) 5 4.5 4 3.5 3 2.5 2.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	View Office 72.69%
20.89 40.31 22.9 2.14 1.17 % of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity Office 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2 1.5 1.5 (KWh/m2) (KWh/m2) 5 4.5 4.5 4.5 2.5 2 1.5 1 0.5 5 4.5 4 .5 2 1.5 1 0.5	View Office 72.69% Other places 74.86%

Figure 71 Evaluation and Results: the PIF Tower

Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution, the PIF Tower

Generation 95, Solution 8





Figure 72 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution, the PIF Tower, Generation 95





Figure 73 The Al-Bahr towers and Cellular Pattern (before and after)



Figure 74 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers with the original skin



Figure 75 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers with the evolved skin



Figure 76 View Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers

50

Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr towers



(KWh/m2)

View

Figure 77 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr towers

Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution, the Al-Bahr towers

Generation 399, Solution 3







Method of selecting



Figure 78 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution, the Al-Bahr towers, Generation 399

4.1.4.4 Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings:



Figure 79 Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings (Before and After)



Figure 80 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers with the original skin



Figure 81 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr Towers with the Evolved Horizontal Shadings



Figure 82 View Analysis of the Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings

Evaluation and Results: Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings:

% of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity

Original Skin



New Skin

50

50

Office $\begin{array}{c} 1 \;.\; 0 \; 5 \\ 2 \;.\; 1 \; 5 \\ 0 \;.\; 8 \; 5 \\ 3 \;.\; 1 \; 5 \\ 1 \;.\; 5 \; 8 \\ 5 \;.\; 8 \; 1 \\ 1 \; 6 \;.\; 5 \\ 2 \; 5 \;.\; 7 \\ 2 \; 5 \;.\; 7 \\ 2 \; 2 \;.\; 8 \\ 2 \; 0 \;.\; 1 \end{array}$ 5 4.5 3.5 2.5 2 1.5 = 7.2 Office 44.45% 1 0.5 Other Places $\begin{array}{c} 1 \ . \ 6 \ 2 \\ 2 \ . \ 4 \ 7 \\ 1 \ . \ 2 \ 4 \\ 1 \ . \ 2 \ 9 \\ 1 \ 2 \ . \ 5 \\ 2 \ 0 \ . \ 4 \\ 1 \ 8 \ . \ 4 \\ 1 \ 7 \ . \ 0 \\ 1 \ 3 \ . \ 5 \\ 1 \ 1 \ . \ 3 \end{array}$ 5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 = 6 . 6 2 Other places 45.97% 0.5 Overall $\begin{array}{c} 2 \, . \, 4 \, 2 \\ 1 \, . \, 3 \, 2 \\ 3 \, . \, 1 \, 6 \\ 2 \, . \, 8 \, 7 \\ 8 \, . \, 6 \, 5 \\ 1 \, 5 \, . \, 2 \\ 1 \, 5 \, . \, 2 \\ 2 \, 0 \, . \, 2 \\ 1 \, 6 \, . \, 6 \\ 1 \, 4 \, . \, 2 \end{array}$ 5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 = 9.77 Overall 43.74% 1 0.5 % of whole surface area effected by radiation intensity (KWh/m2) View Office 0 0 0.75 4.58 20.2 30.3 17.5 18.6 7.87 5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 1 0.5 = 0.75 Office 67.84% Other Places $\begin{array}{c} 0.42\\ 0.24\\ 0.05\\ 0.51\\ 2.68\\ 22.7\\ 34.9\\ 19.0\\ 12.3\\ 6.92 \end{array}$ 5 4.5 3.5 3 2.5 2 1.5 = 1 . 2 2 Other places 65.47% 0.5 Overall 5 4.5 4 3.5 3 2.5 $\begin{matrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ . & 0 \\ 0 \\ . & 4 \\ 6 \\ 3 \\ . & 9 \\ 6 \\ 2 \\ 7 \\ . & 7 \\ 2 \\ 9 \\ . & 9 \\ 1 \\ 5 \\ . & 8 \\ 1 \\ 4 \\ . & 6 \\ 7 \\ . & 3 \\ 0 \end{matrix}$ = 0.46 Overall 66.70% 2 1.5 1 0.5

Figure 83 Evaluation and Results: Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings

View

(KWh/m2)

Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution, Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings

Generation 399, Solution 7



Figure 84 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution, Al-Bahr Towers, Horizontal Shadings, Generation 399





Figure 85 Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading (Before and After)



Figure 86 Radiation analysis of Al-Bahr Towers (Vertical Shading) with the original skin



Figure 87 Radiation analysis of Al-Bahr Towers (Vertical Shading) with the evolved skin



Figure 88 View Analysis Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading

Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading



Figure 89 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading

Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution of the Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading



Figure 90 Optimisation Graphs of the Best Solution of the Al-Bahr Towers, Vertical Shading, Generation 399

4.1.4.6 Al-Bahr towers, egg-crate (crossed) Pattern:



Figure 91 Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) Pattern (before and after)



Figure 92 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) pattern with the original skin



Figure 93 Radiation Analysis of the Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) pattern with the evolved skin



Figure 94 View Analysis Al-Bahr towers and egg-crate (crossed) pattern

Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr towers with egg-crate (crossed) pattern



Figure 95 Evaluation and Results: the Al-Bahr towers with egg-crate (crossed) pattern
Optimisation Analysis of the Best Solution of the Al-Bahr towers with egg-crate (crossed) pattern





4.2 Response to Users' Comfort (Phase II)

This phase of the research presents a simulation tool to evaluate one office floor of Al-Bahr towers in terms of users' thermal comfort with a set of agents representing staff and visitors. The building and the skin in this simulation are modelled based on the previous evolutionary optimisation solutions. Therefore, this simulation aims to make the previously generated solutions (new passive skins) adaptive to users' needs during specific times and periods. The experiment below shows that simulating users' behaviour inside a building provides designers and architects with data about the most used and solar radiation-exposed areas. This allows designers to evaluate their design before implementation.

This phase aims to respond to the users' comfort discussion initially mentioned by introducing an advanced method to bring adaptation to passive shadings in terms of reducing solar radiation. This method will be studied and illustrated on a selected office floor of Al-Bahr towers as a case study which takes place after the previous phase of the skin development process (phase 1). The reason for choosing only one case study for this phase is because of the time and computation power required to run the ABM simulations. However, it is worth mentioning that the proposed method can also be applied to other case studies by simply replacing the floor plan used in the simulation.

This project uses a pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshopper called PedSim (Peng, 2019) as the platform to develop the ABM model. In PedSim, People move from Start Gate to Destination Gate, following the best route and avoiding obstacles and other People. If they see a Target of their Interest, they will go to that Target, stay a while and re-route to the Destination Gate. The agents can be mobile (pedestrians, cars, buses etc.) or immobile (buildings, bus stations etc.) (figure 97).



Figure 97 PedSim pedestrian simulation plug-in in Grasshopper (Peng, 2019)

This phase of the project is primarily concerned with pedestrian agents as an evaluation tool for optimising and designing the buildings' skin. The areas that the agents spend the most on the floor determine the type of shading the building skin should have in order to take into consideration during the design phase of the facade to maximise the users' thermal and visual comfort. The pedestrian agents in this process are divided into two parts. First, the users that are working in the building and second, visitors who spend a limited period on the building and have access to only a specific part of the floor.

The goal of this experiment is to collect data about the density agents in each area and the amount of time that they spend on a different part of the floor. The orientation of movement and linger time of each agent, based on the type of the agent, is different and is decided randomly by each individual agent from the pre-specified targets.



Figure 98 Eight Steps of the ABM process of this research

The period of the day selected for this experiment is the 21st of June, and the solar exposure analysis is calculated from 9 am to 5 pm (office hours).



Figure 99 Solar Exposure Analysis (Armstrong et al., 2013).

After selecting the floor for the period of the day period, the places where the users (agents) need to be in circulation or working are marked.



Staff Moving (Working) Areas



Figure 100 Staffs visiting (working) areas

137



Figure 101 Visitor moving areas

After setting targets for the agents,¹⁷ the two groups of visitors and staff were introduced in this simulation in order to detect the most visited and circulated areas on the floor during the office hours. The (ABM¹⁸) experiment in this research employed Rhinoceros3D, Grasshopper3D and its plugin 'PedSim Pro' (Peng, 2019) to run the simulation and analyse the results thoroughly. The decisions that the agents make during the simulation are based on their role in the building (visitor or staff). As a result, their meeting targets, movements and the time they spend at each location are also depended on their role.

¹⁷ Agents are intelligent machines with the capacity to perceive their surroundings, make choices based on a personal set of preferences, and respond to changing conditions. The agents constantly evaluate their choices in order to respond to their environment. Each agent has a physical body, a brain, and unique abilities (ASCHWANDEN et al., 2012).

¹⁸ An agent-based model (ABM) is a class of computational models used to simulate the behaviour of autonomous agents (individuals or collective entities like organisations or groups), as well as their interactions, in order to evaluate the effects of these behaviours on the system as a whole. It incorporates concepts from evolutionary programming, complex systems, computational sociology, emergence, and game theory. Monte Carlo methods are used to introduce randomness. Particularly within ecology, ABMs are also called individual-based models (IBMs) (Grimm, Railsback 2005)

Users' (visitors and staff) Movement and Activity Heatmap



Figure 102 ABM simulation of the users' movement and activity area from 9 am to 5 pm on the 21st of June. The full video of the simulation is available at: <u>https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/719396423</u>

High Traffic Areas Detected



Radiation Exposure on the Office Floor from 9 pm to 5



Figure 104 Radiation Exposure on the Office Floor from 9 pm to 5 pm

High Traffic Locations Overlaid with Radiated Spots



Figure 105 High Traffic Locations Overlaid with Radiated Spots



Target Areas Detected Spots From 9 am to 5 pm

Figure 106: The Most Visited and Radiation Exposed Spots Detected From 9 am to 5 pm



Cells Responsible for Radiation Exposed on Detected Spots from 9 am to 5 pm in June

Figure 107 Illustration of the solar radiation rays going through the specific parts of the skin towards the areas on the floor with the most users' interaction



Figure 108 Method of detecting parts of the skin for adaption

The method for detecting the parts of the skin that the radiation rays are going through has been detected, as shown above. At the first and the second stage, the skin and the floor have been introduced. In the third stage, the seed points are scattered all over the floor as sensors for detecting rays. In the fourth stage, the solar rays are tracked. And at the fifth stage, the parts of the skin that allow the seed points with most users' presence to be exposed to solar radiation start to form a bubble around themselves. This bubble highlights the parts of the skin that the rays are passing through in order to reach the most user-visited seed points on the ground, which will be used for further optimisation in the research skin adaptation process.



Figure 109 Skin adaptation process: selected (detected) parts of the skin are taken to the evolutionary optimisation for adaptation to users needs. Animation available at: https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/719396423



Figure 110 Areas Exposed to Solar Radiation During 9 am to 5 pm on June 21st

5 Discussion

The proceedings chapter described a systematic process for implementing a collection of biomimetic principles into experiments via evolutionary design processes to evolve building skin morphological configurations with formal and behavioural properties suitable for adaptation to a variety of different building forms in hot environments. Through a series of analyses (regarding thermal and visual comfort) devised specifically for this research, the experiments looked at how homeostatic principles may be applied to the processes of building skin design.

Four distinct tower forms in two different cities but with similar weather conditions were selected to evaluate the proposed methodologies. PIF towers in Riyadh in Saudi Arabia, Abu Dhabi Market Square, Al Hilal Bank Tower and Al-Bahr towers in Abu Dhabi in the UAE were selected because of their relative differences in forms and morphology. This difference creates a challenging condition for the design experiment to ensure that the research outcome is applicable to different scenarios and building morphologies.

As a result, the experiments were created to address a specific building skin design problem by using evolutionary computing to enable the formation of homeostatic properties across various forms of shadings. All design experiments were carried out to evolve and develop building skin morphologies that fulfil the specific thermal and visual goals considering their environments.

The followings are the abstracted biomimetic behaviours that were included in a group of evolutionary design models. (described in section 4.1.1, figure 43).

- The algorithmic application of a homeostatic process's regulatory mechanism to keep the solar radiation variable in a steady state (less than 3.5 kWh/m2 solar radiation exposure on the building's surface) throughout the repeated evolution process.
- The algorithmic construction allows the development of morphological characteristics that result from extracted biological adaptation lessons. These formal characteristics include the capability to manage the volume-to-surface ratio using self-shading mechanisms, morphological configurations, and size variations all over the skin.

These morphological attributes are included in the phenotypes by the changes allowed in the genotypes as well as attractor units that can be spread throughout the building surface area to change the density of the skin cells or shadings (figure 41).

The agent-based modelling analysis was conducted to examine a method to respond directly to users' needs in the building. It also helped to spot the most crowded areas that people visit on each floor to ensure that the skin is not evolving for unwanted zones in the building during the generative design process. By doing this, the design process will be focused, optimised, and less time-consuming, leading to generating better solutions.

Seven evolutionary design experiments and one agent-based modelling simulation emphasise the importance of early-stage design exploration before finalising the design and the construction phase. It is concluded that the success rate of retaining a 'good' view while reducing solar rays' variable in the evolutionary design system by adding implementing biomimetic behaviours in the system such as surface-to-volume ratio, self-shading attribute, biological process and evolution and homeostasis principles. The proposed evolutionary design system has freedom and flexibility in exploring solutions with different rates of applicability of the biomimetic elements mentioned above, depending on the effect they have over the view and thermal comfort goals. The effectiveness of the elements brought into the simulation is analysed by:

- Measuring the amount of solar rays that is blocked by the skin.
- The amount of blocked rays that is projected from inside to the outside of the building represents the view of the users. (Section 4.1.4)

Both of these are manifested in the process of analysis and construction of the proposed solutions during the evolutionary design simulation. Hence, the applied technique was investigated case by case, and it was shown that this approach could be used as a universal strategy across many evolutionary models (Analysis pages of section 4.1.4).

The selected towers were chosen carefully due to their difference and complexity of form and their skin arrangement, which is divided into horizontal, vertical, egg-crate (crossed) and cellular type. (Section 2.5.1)

A methodical strategy (figure 42) was developed for this stage by which the part of the building which is exposed to excessive radiation will be capable of generating new morphological attributes which significantly, according to the data (the results pages of section 4.1.4), reduce the excessive radiation (the emergence of biomimetic and homeostatic behaviours). In the seven performed evolutionary designed skin on the selected towers, all analysis method, visual and thermal, proves that after implementing the new morphological attributes through the evolutionary algorithm, the results are significantly improved to achieve the main goal, which is to maximise blocking the solar rays, while improving the view to the outside. (the result pages of section 4.1.4)

This analysis came to a conclusion that to what extent the proposed evolutionary design system could evolve buildings' skin and obtained solutions for the visual and thermal objectives that acquired high fitness values of adaptability and performance for the form of the building and the location of the selected towers.

The accomplished analysis revealed that the proposed evolutionary design system evolved solutions with morphological configurations that derived from biology leading to higher and better ranks of solutions in terms of their performance for thermal and visual comfort.

The newly applied morphological configurations on the skin of towers emerged from evolutionary simulations with formal attribution taken as an abstraction from homeostatic concepts like high surface-to-volume and high surface-area ratios. The proposed method can help architectural designers and architects perform objective and subjective selection methods on the solutions generated by the evolutionary model during the form finding and early-stage design of towers and buildings in the Persian Gulf and other regions with similar weather conditions. Hence, the evolved skin morphologies with embedded biomimetic adaptive behaviours are called Biomimetic (homeostatic) skin morphologies.

The research was evaluated through a sequence of analyses comprising three elements of thermal analysis, view analysis, and agent-based modelling section. (Section 4.1 & 4.2) Each case study contains two pages of evaluation and analysis that validates the results of the evolutionary computation simulations (Section 4.1.4.1 to 4.1.4.7). These sections of enquiries evaluated the effectiveness of the applied method in three different ways. Investigated the efficacy of the implemented methodology in three parts; the first element of simulation tackled the visual comfort problem. The second element of the analysis proposed a unique way of measuring thermal comfort and minimising unwanted solar rays.

5.1 Response to Research Questions

Below are a restatement of the research questions from section 1.2, along with an explanation of how the research was conducted to address them.

1. How can the combination of the strategies from living organisms, biological processes, and computational design principles be used to design a building skin that can bring thermal and visual comfort to the occupants in compression to conventional ones?

A detailed investigation of the potential adaptation lesson in biology, alongside looking at the BioSkin database in order to find a good source of potential living organisms that can have suitable applicability in architecture, was the cornerstone of a proposed mind map (figure 4); which shapes the evolutionary design system and method developed in the context of this research. The proposed mind map of this research clearly demonstrates how the extracted biological lessons in nature can be used and adapted in disciplines like architecture and computational design.

This research categorised the adopted, biological lessons into the following four parts.

- a) Surface-to-Volume Ratio
- b) Self-shading Techniques
- c) Homeostasis Principals
- d) Emergence, Evolution, Growth: Grouping and Partitioning Technique of Stem Cells of Plants

The development of these morphological qualities in skin tissue, which are a manifestation of biological homeostatic behaviours, can be made possible by the algorithmic building of the phenotype and genotype of evolutionary models. In organisms, the adaptation strategy of the above four groups occurs through multiple generations. By mimicking and embedding these attributes in the genes of the new proposed skins, through many generations in the evolutionary design model, the attributes emerge on the new buildings' skin.

In order to address the above research question, this project highlighted the association between the four phenomena above (a, b, c, d) and their combined effects on the evolution of morphological attributes of species. The concepts of species biomimetic behaviours and evolutionary adaptation were put into a series of mathematical loops and used to a generative skin design process.

The evolutionary design models were created by utilising the extracted principles mentioned above in the construction of phenotypes and regulations in genotypes to evolve new skin morphologies on selected parts of buildings in different locations with morphological attributes that, in comparison to the original skin of the buildings, obtained enhanced visual and thermal performances (analysis conducted in Section 4.1.4). The proposed design system successfully evolved skin morphologies sensitive to their context and building form on four different buildings, areas with distinct solar radiation angles.

To determine if the evolving skin morphologies were successful or unsuccessful in generating biomimetic characteristics (that enhance the skin performances), a proposed set of solar radiation and view measurement heat maps was applied over the selected buildings' surfaces, demonstrating the difference in performance before and after applying the biomimetic principles to the skins.

It was observed that the interventions of morphologies applied to the skins impacted the transferred radiation and established an improved radiation gradient and visual comfort level for the buildings with the evolved skin tissues in comparison to the original skins. These morphological implementations were imposed on the skin tissues by applying the following attributes to the genes of the new skins during the evolutionary design process. The ability to change the shadings' length, width, angle of attachment to the building, their grouping and proximity between each other, and their morphological arrangements were obtained from extracted biological lessons and principles.(Section 2.1.2.5)

In Section 4.1, an analysis was conducted to comprehend the relationship between the skin morphologies and solar radiation blockage to explore any emerging biomimetic qualities. Therefore, to analyse and assess the techniques established in this study (and to employ the biomimetic adaptation lessons (principles) in the evolutionary design processes), a proposed homeostatic workflow for the generative models was established and effectively applied to several design scenarios (figure 42). Due to the size and complexity of the design scenarios, the morphological details of the selected buildings' skin were abstracted, leaving just the skin's overall contribution to be taken into account. The previously mentioned morphological implementations left a positive impact on solar radiation blockage and evolved skin tissues across all selected candidates, resulting in elevating the visual and thermal comfort levels of the users in the buildings. Lastly, the study in section 4.14 showed that these qualities emerged in a variety of evolving skin morphologies, as well as their application to the chosen buildings of various forms further proved that these characteristics contributed to the development of biomimetic behaviours.

2. Is it conceivable to develop a design exploration method for designing building skins as an alternative to conventional mass-produced shadings that has the capability to be modified and applied to different buildings with different shapes and forms?

The production of skin morphologies using adapted biological principles necessitates the use of a responsive generative model that comprises a feedback system that enables the assessment, selection, and reconfiguration of the generated design solutions. As a result, the experiments that were presented used an evolutionary biological model as their main design driver (figure 43), in which the biomimetic lessons (collected from the proposed mind map) were analysed, and was conducted with two key techniques for incorporating biomimetic adaptation lessons in an evolutionary design model, as follows:

- The algorithmic construction of a regulatory system to keep a thermal and visual-related variable in a steady state throughout the evolution (using conditional statements to act as homeostasis). This is a phenotypic and genotypic implementation that enables a detecting behaviour and the capacity to undo a change effectively (figure 42).
- The algorithmic implementation of the phenotype allows the development of a collection of morphological attributes that emerge from biological adaption behaviours. These formal attributes include the capability and control over the surface-to-volume ratio, self-shading mechanisms through morphological configurations, size and geometrical changes across different levels of organisation and grouping and partitioning techniques (density variation strategy). This helps divide the skin tissues or shadings based on size and density into various groups in order to be applicable to its context (buildings surface areas with different forms and shapes) with the purpose of maximising the view and minimising solar radiation intake (optimise performance).

The experiments in chapter four's evolutionary design models were successful in emerging new skin tissues with biomimetic adaptation attributes all over the experiment area (selected buildings' surface area that came with different forms and shapes). In order to include a regulatory mechanism inside the iterative process of evolutionary computing, this operation enables the modification of surface-to-volume ratios and self-shading processes, which are crucial morphological characteristics of biological homeostasis.

This was accomplished by specifying two trigger points (Excessive Radiation Exposure of more than 3.5 kWh/m2 to activate HMA¹⁹ and 4 kWh/m2 to activate HMB²⁰) purely for the aim of regulating and sustaining solar radiation transmission variable within a specified range during the course of the simulation.

In addition, to determine how the model would react under analysis in relation to the original skin, a separate test was carried out for each case study (without incorporating the biomimetic behaviours). In the Evaluation and Results pages of Section 4.1.4, the success and failure of this strategy were examined by the proposed analysis methods (for thermal and visual comfort) and the in-depth comparisons. It was determined that the flexibility of exploring the design space and the setup of the evolutionary design model (thermal and visual conditions, as well as trigger points to activate morphological interventions for genotypes and phenotypes) are highly dependent on the degree to which this method can be effective. In order to drive the simulation toward evolving these attributes across the selected buildings' surface area, which comes in a variety of forms and shapes, the four key morphological characteristics (extracted from the proposed mind map) were selected to be implemented in the evolutionary design models. These ideas were utilised in the evolutionary models' genotype and phenotype (described in section 4.1.3).

3. Can biological lessons and evolutionary algorithms help the design of the skin in order to solve the conflict of view and heat issue of conventional building shadings?

Section 4.1 (experiment setup) outlined how the extracted biological principles can be applied in the NSGA-II algorithm in order to develop a computational design system that can be utilised for designing different types of buildings' skin. Within every design scenario of case studies, the evolutionary model was developed based on four different mainstream types of building shadings (vertical, horizontal, egg-crate, and cellular shading) and was configured to optimise for a certain set of goals (visual and thermal comfort), which were specific to their locations.

The biomimetic adaptation behaviours built-in into each evolutionary design model were equal across all towers (section 4.1.4), but the parameters and variables obtained from the location and morphological inputs are unique to each tower. These variables are expected to change when used in future implementations on other buildings.

¹⁹ Homeostasis Mechanism A

²⁰ Homeostasis Mechanism B

The research carried out in section 4.1.4 demonstrated that the evolutionary simulations across all experiments could effectively meet the skin objectives and produced a population of skin morphologies that iteratively improved their fitness. A successful algorithm in evolutionary computing is one with rising fitness and a low (thin) standard deviation²¹. This is evident in the optimisation analysis pages of sections 4.1.4.1 to 4.1.4.7, which acts as an extra indicator to evaluate the process of optimisation and the performances of visual and thermal comfort of the experiments of this study.

As described in section 4.1 (page 73), a total of seven evolutionary simulations were run to examine the thermal and visual performance of four case studies with different shading systems (vertical, horizontal, crossed, and cellular) based on average seasonal scenarios (winter and summer solstice, spring and autumn equinox) with and without the biomimetic adaptation attributes involved in the simulations and development process of the skin. The evolutionary models successfully demonstrated flexibility and success in results to address a range of changes regarding the buildings' form, location, and time that were explored in-depth in section 4.1.4.

It is important to mention that the comparison of visual and thermal comfort performance among all selected towers was performed between the phenotypes that are evolved (new skins) and the original shadings. As shown in section 4.1.4, in all cases, growth or reduction in size, extrusion and angle of the shadings impacted the thermal or visual comfort across developed morphologies in comparison to the original blocks. This explains that evolved morphologies gained biomimetic adaptation behaviours (homeostasis) to find the regulated balanced design and form of skin that addresses both conflicting objectives of visual and thermal comfort of the users.

4. How can the varying preferences, needs and location of the occupants in the building, considering their thermal and visual comfort, be addressed during the design process of passive building skins?

To ensure the evolved skin morphologies approach response to users' comfort directly, an Agent-Based Modelling technique was necessary apart from the evolutionary model to evaluate whether the skin is affected in the places that are needed and to avoid unnecessary shadings and skin materials on areas that it is not actually needed.

²¹ Standard deviation measures a set's variance or dispersion in statistics. When the standard deviation is low (thin), the data are concentrated around the mean; when it is high (fat), the data are widely dispersed (Walker, 1975).

Increased shading extrusion, modification of angle, width and density that obtained a high degree of variation across the evolved skin in order to achieve more self-shading and surface-to-volume ratio, tissues led to a less transition of unwanted radiation into the building when compared to the original blocks. However, blocking unwanted radiation could be conducted for areas in buildings where users would rarely meet. Therefore, a systematic approach was required to detect highly visited spots in the building and direct the evolutionary design platform to only target those areas. This naturally led to attaining a smart and efficient generative design system as well as boosting the effect of biomimetic adaptive behaviours to target the occupants' comfort with more accuracy.

The ABM part of this work (section 4.2) includes a series of assessment and analysis techniques to examine the preceding evolutionary models from various angles. In this section (figure 98), a method of analysing the pathways of staff and visitors on the office floor was developed. In figure 103, a detailed heatmap of users' (staff and visitors) pathways and engagements on the office floor is developed. In figure 105, the most visited pathways and areas are overlayed with those that are receiving excessive solar radiation from 9 am to 5 pm. Figure 108 illustrates the method for outlining the parts of the skin that are responsible for the transition of excessive solar radiation. The overlayed of the users' interaction and solar exposure heatmap map was then taken to the same evolutionary design process as the previous phase to adjust the skin by specifically targeting areas where excessive radiation is not fully blocked.

Additionally, the study in section 4.2 analysed the flexibility of the proposed skin generative design platform in order to be applied to different hour ranges of any day or month of the year. Considering all solar radiation angles and intensity changes, and most visited places as well as users' behaviours during specific periods. In the proposed examined experiment, the selected period was the office hours (9 am to 5 pm) on 21st of June. The evaluation models developed in this research (radiation and view analysis) can be used with a variety of evolutionary models and skin design processes. It equips designers and architects with the information they need to make well-informed decisions while designing building skins specifically.

5.2 Contribution to Knowledge and the Significance of the Research

This study investigated how biomimicry and adaptation lessons in biology affect building skin design. Unlike the mainstream practice in which the shapes and forms of the shadings are replicated all over the buildings' skin, and the comfort level of occupants on the floors are overlooked, this research

151

highlighted the neglected point in the conventional skin design and proposed a new method in which

the focus of the buildings' skin design shifts to occupants rather than the overall performance of the building. In this method, the areas of the buildings that occupants visit the most are detected and highlighted and become the focus point of the design methodology. In order to detect and elevate the thermal and visual comfort level of these areas, an innovative approach has been proposed with embedded ABM and evolutionary design techniques.

Through computer experiments reported in Chapter 4, this research suggests that morphological attributes of skin forms should be considered during the early design exploration phase to promote a better view of the outside for the users and blockage of unwanted solar radiation and by, which leads to less consumption of cooling systems and increased energy performance optimisation. This acknowledges the significance of skin morphology, especially in the early design explorations of buildings and towers in their mature forms. In addition, the experiments highlighted the contribution of lessons from nature in shaping optimised building skins. This research emphasises following the proposed data collecting system (discussed in Section 2.1.2.5) in order to find the suitable applicability of adapted lessons in nature for skin tissues.

This research explored the role of biomimicry (biological adaptation lessons) on adaptive behaviours and the design of buildings' skin. In contrast to contemporary, mainstream practice in which the shapes and form of the skin are replicated all over the buildings, and the comfort level of individuals on the floors across the buildings are the areas of focus, this research examined the neglected mostvisited areas of the buildings. In order to detect and elevate the thermal and visual comfort level of these areas, an innovative method has been proposed with embedded ABM and evolutionary design techniques.

Through computational experiments, this research argued that attention should be given to the morphological characteristics of skin forms at the early design exploration phase to facilitate a better view of the outside for the users and blockage of unwanted solar radiation and by, which leads to less consumption of cooling systems and increased energy performance optimisation. This recognises the importance of skin morphology, particularly in the early design explorations of buildings and towers at the stage of their mature forms. In addition, the experiments highlighted the contribution of lessons from nature in shaping optimised building skins.

This study looked at how skin tissues' morphological attributes affect the thermal and visual comfort levels of buildings, which in fact, affect how well they can adapt to excessive solar radiation. This study's investigation includes generative and analytical processes, and during phase one, a unique technique was produced to generate skin morphologies with phenotypic variants that can enhance the visual and thermal comfort level of office floors of the selected buildings. The second phase of the research experiment developed a workflow to fine-tune the outputted results of the generative process by making sure that the skin reaches the ultimate optimisation

level by targeting users' most visited spots in each floor rather than any other spots of the building that are not visited by occupants during working hours.

This research contributed to two primary fields: Architecture (buildings' skin design) and computational design (evolutionary computation) through computational experimentation of biologically driven evolutionary design simulations. It highlighted the significance of biomimetic skin morphologies in the adaptation of buildings to excessive solar radiation through a variety of changes and morphological reconfiguration of the geometries of the skin. Investigations have been performed on the vital biological process of homeostasis, which assures that organisms can adapt to their local environment through interactions. The abstracted genotypic and phenotypic characteristics derived from biological adaptation lessons were applied to a variety of evolutionary models through a series of computational experiments to create a unique generative engine that evolves skin morphologies with embedded biomimetic attributes appropriate for their location and context.

5.2.1 Advancement of Mainstream Passive Shadings.

The findings of this research align with and extend the current body of knowledge of passive shadings and are based on the suggested conclusion of the study on literature.

The conclusion of the research's literature (Section 2.5.4) provided a comprehensive overview of existing studies on passive shadings systems. Unlike passive shadings systems, the commonly used active façade shading systems are typically designed to be responsive to one or several environmental conditions (Lopez et al., 2015). However, due to their significant problems in terms of cost, maintenance and durability, they are not widely used. Al Dakheel and Tabet Aoul (2017).

While many previous works have explored the benefits of using passive shadings in reducing unwanted solar radiation and glare, this research goes beyond mere glare protection and thermal comfort. Instead, it delves into the adaptation lessons of biological organisms, investigating how these principles can be integrated into the design process of building shadings to attempt to produce solutions that can respond to the nine criteria and characteristics they need to have to be improved and considered adaptive.

This approach not only demonstrates the importance and effectiveness of morphological attributes in different types of building shadings but also emphasises the significance of enabling shadings to respond to specific objectives such as view and radiation (users' thermal and visual comfort).

Furthermore, the proposed evolutionary design models presented in this study offer a departure from conventional mass-produced building shadings with repetitive louvres to evolved morphological characteristics that respond to users' thermal and visual needs by utilising computational design (evolutionary optimisation) and agent-based modelling. The research enables the generation of skin morphologies that are tailored to specific building forms, locations, and user needs; the ability to adapt and fine-tune the generated designs to optimise visual and thermal comfort for occupants represents a considerable advancement in building skin design which is one of the most significant issues that designers have to deal with in conventional building shadings (Zvironaite et al., 2014).

In addition to its contribution to existing literature, this research advances the field of building skin design by offering a systematic and innovative approach. The integration of homeostatic principles and morphological attributes in the design process leads to the emergence of biomimetic behaviours within the building skins. This dynamic adaptation to solar radiation and user comfort showcases the potential for using evolutionary computation as a powerful tool for the design process in architecture, specifically building skin design.

Overall, this research presents a compelling argument for considering morphological configurations and adaptive behaviours in building skin design. Unlike the existing mainstream shading systems, which lack the ability to respond to constant-changing solar radiation angles and users' needs (Prowler 2016), The proposed design system and its focus on occupants' comfort, solar radiation blockage, and visual performance demonstrate the potential for creating building skins that respond passively, yet intelligently, to their environments, marking a significant advancement in the field and making a valuable addition to the existing literature on biomimicry and architecture and computational design.

5.2.2 Buildings' Skin Design

The proposed computational procedure was employed in several buildings in different locations with excessive hot weather conditions to illustrate how the suggested techniques may be used to solve a number of skin design challenges (explained in sections 2.5.3). This research investigated the

importance of building skins that divide the interior and exterior environments of a building and their impact on the solar radiation transition and view of the user to the outside.

This research builds a bridge from the discipline of Architecture (outlined in Section 1.3.1) to Biology (biomimicry) (outlined in Section 2.1) to explore the possibility of applying morphological attributes throughout the evolution of skin systems (section 3.1). It also argues that data collection and lesson adaptation in architecture should not be limited to copying and inspiring from the forms of the organisms. The evolution process of species in nature occurs over millions of years. The idea of inspiration is that nature has progressed from a formal metaphor to a collection of interconnected dynamic processes that are open to analysis and simulation, as evidenced by the differences between the revised and original editions of Steadman's 1979 book "The Evolution of Designs: Biological Analogy in Architecture and Applied Arts." In the past two decades, "seeking insights at deeper levels into biological processes, from which designers might derive models and methods" has accelerated (Steadman, 2008a, p. XV). Two concurrent events are the cause of this. One is the introduction of computer-aided design into routine practice. And second is environmental awareness and the growing understanding that architecture must learn from both organic forms and natural systems and processes are the first (Steadman, 2008a).

This study discusses that the formal organisation and morphology distributions on building skin should receive greater attention. It highlights that the evolution of biomimetic behaviours throughout building skin could develop special characteristics that provide comfort to users (such as positive impacts on visual and thermal comfort) would be achieved. This research contributes to the lineage of mainstream and mass-produced skin and facade shading proposals of modern buildings (built in the 20th and early 21st century) and highlights the relationship between morphological configurations of skin tissues and the users' thermal and visual comfort. This relationship was studied in the context of commercial towers located in extremely hot weather in the Persian Gulf region.

Furthermore, this study foregrounds the importance of building skin design exploration and their effect on resolving environmental issues such as extreme solar radiation. The investigation undertaken in section 4.1.4 covered this topic objectively and determined that biomimetic morphological configuration has a beneficial impact on prolonging the adaptive behaviours of skin tissues in comparison to their simpler mainstream building shading counterparts.

5.2.3 Morphological Attributes and Adaptation of Skin Tissues as a Biological Argument

This study claims that the adaptive behaviours and morphological attributes of building skin tissues evolve according to the same morphological configurations and principles of adaptation of species (on collective and individual levels) within the context of various environmental conditions in nature. It is without dispute that biological organisms' morphological characteristics have an impact on their adaptations through time.

Homeostatic processes within a particular life span, individually or collectively, are accountable for short-term adaptive and response behaviours; however, evolutionary adaptation takes place over a long period of time (section 2.1.2.3). This study indicates that the implementation of the concepts underlying the selected adaptation lessons in biomimicry and development in the design of skin tissues results in the emergence of building shadings; their morphological attributes enable them to develop adaptive behaviours in a variety of contexts. This idea was investigated and reviewed by the experiments described (chapter 4); this hypothesis was investigated and established throughout an extremely hot environmental conditions, and buildings' forms and shapes, in Abu Dhabi in UAE and Riyadh in Saudi Arabia. Skin morphologies that were generated from the proposed design system demonstrated a wider variety of environmental performances than their conventionally simple counterpart building shadings. This was confirmed by the study done in section 4.1.4, where the sole variable being investigated was the skin morphology of the buildings' office spaces. These investigations confirmed the influence of the biomimetic morphological attributes of skin tissues on the office floors of the chosen buildings that improved the tissues' adaptive behaviours.

5.2.4 Building Skin Variants Via Evolution of Morphological Interventions

The biomimetic morphological interventions (implementing the morphological attributes) on the original shadings of the selected buildings identified the importance of phenotype and genotype construction in directing the simulation toward the formation of desirable and adaptive morphological characteristics (described in the experiment setup, section 4.1). Additionally, it was determined that formal variations across the tissue and the ability to control the surface-to-volume ratio and shadings density were effective morphological characteristics that could enable dynamic response (homeostatic behaviours) to maximise users' visual and thermal comfort during the skin design process (as demonstrated in the results pages in section 4.1.4.).

This procedure enabled higher surface-to-volume ratios, self-shading processes, and varying densities over the surface areas of buildings. Due to the locational variations and the original shadings form of the case studies, throughout each experiment, the biomimetic morphological interventions developed a unique morphological configuration throughout the skin tissues. Moreover, all experiments showed that the utilised strategy was a reliable means of generating morphological variations throughout the building surface areas.

This study claims that a vast amount of skin variation may be developed in the surface area of the buildings by implementing biomimetic morphological interventions (explained in Section 3.3.3) on the original shadings of buildings in evolutionary design simulation. As a result, skin tissues with a great degree of variety in size, extrusion, and density spontaneously form. The emergence of such variations in shading on buildings contributes to enhancing the adaptability of the skin tissue to a wider range of changes, analogous to biology, where greater species variety enables a greater adaptation of a whole. As opposed to the stereotypical shading systems of contemporary buildings, this study attributes a significant weight to morphological variations (as a result of extracted biomimetic adaptation lessons) in the effectiveness of a design strategy to obtain enhanced adaptation attributes when environmental changes are contingent upon.

5.2.5 Users Comfort

The contribution of the research in the analysis and improvement of visual and thermal comfort in design is highlighted below.

Thermal comfort: The algorithmic implementation of a homeostatic process's regulatory mechanism to keep the solar radiation variable in a steady state (less than 3.5 kWh/m2) throughout the repeated evolution process. Throughout all selected results of the skin proposals, the amount of solar radiation exposure on the building surface (especially office floors) reduced significantly to below 3.5 kWh/m2. Visual comfort: As a result of the inserted homeostatic mechanisms in the evolutionary system, a new morphological attribute is activated in the new proposed skin on selected buildings. To address the concern regarding the blockage of the view from inside of the buildings towards outside. This process has been introduced to the evolutionary simulation as the second objective to increase the view from inside to outside. The view analysis operates based on the several centre points of each room on the office floors of the selected building (demonstrated in section 4.1.2 and appendix II).

5.2.6 Users movements and agent-based modelling:

This study made an attempt to integrate the principles of agent-based modelling with the evolutionary design procedures to improve their effectiveness in evolving heat and view-sensitive skin morphologies. As previously discussed in chapter 4, the entirety of the design experiment simulations in this research fall into two categories of evolutionary design and agent-based modelling.

Additionally, this study developed ways to use the ABM toolkit with the evolutionary design processes and demonstrated how they improved the performance of evolutionary-produced solutions. (investigated in section 4.2). This method successfully created solutions that showed significant improvement in blocking solar radiation in a smart and efficient way by targeting the most visited office floor areas. By comparing the proposed simulation pairs of before and after across all experiments, it is determined that the success of the employed method is high.

5.2.7 Evolutionary Design Thinking: Analysing, Evaluating and Selection

In contrast to typological thinking, this study is centred on population thinking and solving complex issues with various conflicting aims (thermal and visual comfort). Section 2.1.3 shed light on how the population thinking principles are derived from Darwin's contributions to evolutionary thinking. This study suggests the requirement to shift focus away from the design of the solution towards the design of the problem that in relation to it, the use of evolutionary computation strategies produces a generation of suitable design solutions. Multiple objectives are often in conflict with one another in building skin problems. This research has shown that the developed method for addressing complex building design (skin) problems is extremely relevant. It is crucial to use evolutionary computation efficiently to solve complex problems, in this case, the buildings' skin issues. This shifts the method of identifying a single solution based on user preferences with one that places more emphasis on the quantity of design outputs.

It is important to note that the distinction between a group and a single solution does not negate the point that many design problems need one solution. Selection and evaluating tactics are crucial actions in designing solutions to design problems. They provide the user with the knowledge they need to make decisions that are informed. This study produced a complete series of selection and analysis strategies that were used to narrow down the potential design results to a small number of candidates and then to create only one solution for more evaluations (section 4.1.2). The evolutionary experiments of this research have also been evaluated based on a statistical analysis of evolutionary

simulation data and independent measurement criteria for each individual (graphs of solutions, section 4.1.4). This series of selection and evaluation procedures can be utilised in the process of many evolutionary design approaches, where screening design outputs and making informed choices are important steps.

5.3 Future Works and the Limitations

The following is a list of the research's noted limitations and some suggested solutions that shape the research's future stages and further studies.

Increasing the Skin Resolution of the Development

This study looked at how to include biomimetic adaptation lessons into the early stages of design explorations to generate building skin morphologies with improved performance towards boosting users' comfort across office spaces' surface areas. It was found that the performance of the design solutions at later phases is significantly influenced by the early design exploration. This study highlighted the significance of morphological characteristics in the early phases of design. Although the skin morphologies examined in this research were resolved morphologically and organisationally, they were still in the initial design exploration stage; the effect of factors such as complexity of the skin morphologies, size variation based on the materials, study and maintenance cost, and economic feasibility of application of the proposed skins within the context of this research, were left to be explored. The main obstacle to this was the computational load required to include these variables within the experiments. The computational setups required for design experiments must be optimised to avoid slow calculations and simulations. Since the intention is to develop a design system to be utilised in a consumer-specification computational platform, the evolutionary design models need to be reformulated to reduce the computational calculations. This is readily accomplished by lowering the requirement for geometrical representations and placing a greater emphasis on data-related phenotypes. This provides the basis for the next series of assessments to be carried out by the author to utilise the suggested method in building skin optimisation scenarios. The scenarios include more detail on each building's skin morphological configurations, as well as their material and details.

Increasing the Area of Investigations

This study assessed the evolved building skins in different locations with varying solar radiation intensities. To investigate the generated skin tissues about any emerging biomimetic and adaptive characteristics, two locations with excessive hot weather were selected as the study regions to analyse

their solar radiation exposure at four days in winter, summer, spring and autumn (at seasonal solstices and equinox). The data gathered from these simulations provided a broad view of radiation intensity throughout the investigating areas (office floors) during the day, according to which the behaviours of biomimicry and adaptation were identified and derived. However, because it takes time and resources to run solar radiation and view analysis simulations, the simulations and analysis were restricted to office floors. The author aims to expand the thermal and visual analysis and simulation to all floors across the buildings to deliver a more viable illustration of biomimetic and adaptation behaviours throughout all floors in the selected building. Two strategies will be investigated in order to accomplish this. The first step is to build a well-organised and clean 3D model in an efficient way to simplify the mesh models so they may be fed into the evolutionary design and ABM simulation operations. The second step is to use machine learning techniques to create a model that, based on previously completed simulations, predicts the variations in solar radiation and biomimetic behaviours of new skin forms and topologies. It is worth stating that the analysis techniques in the evolutionary models of this research may be utilised in the design exploration of other buildings with different objectives (described in Appendix I).

Further considerations: Building Function and Material types During the Simulations and Prototype Development

The variables taken into account for simulations conducted in this research were the visibility and the solar radiation parameters. The materials of the building's skin and the function and specificities of each floor space were considered constant values across all experiments. This was facilitated to ensure the results only reflect the impact of skin morphology on solar radiation intake of office spaces at the selected buildings.

The goal of this research was the relative comparison between different scenarios (shading types and buildings' locations) to identify and emphasise how morphology influences any emerging adaptive behaviours. However, when the results for each scenario become less accurate and may diverge from those of this research, the material, function, and quality of the building's zones are changed throughout the simulation. The complexity of the solutions and the amount of data produced by the simulations were two disadvantages of adding more factors to the solar radiation analyses. Furthermore, another potential path to expand this research is to incorporate the variables such as

energy flow, the temperature of the rooms and material studies by developing prototypes and adopting digital twin²² techniques.

²² A digital twin is a virtual representation that serves as the real-time digital counterpart of a physical object or process

6 Conclusion and Reflections

Throughout this PhD thesis, the main aim has been to explore and demonstrate the benefits of integration of biomimicry and computational design to revolutionise the design of future building shadings by implementing machine learning (Evolutionary Algorithm techniques) in order to address environmental challenges such as solar heat transmission control and enhancing occupant comfort in extremely hot climates.

Extreme solar radiation in areas such as the Persian Gulf region leads to the employment of expensive temperature regulatory mechanisms within the buildings, which in fact, contribute to extreme energy usage. This excessive use of energy directly or indirectly influences CO2 emissions and subsequently causes temperature rise and global warming.

Species, throughout the course of their evolution, have evolved unique *responsive* behaviours, processes, and formal characteristics that enable their survival and adaptation to sudden environmental changes. This study, through investigations on the biological principles and means by which species adapt to the extreme environmental conditions, put forward a design methodology which highlights the significance of early design explorations in addressing climatic stresses.

The presented experiment in this study demonstrates an evolutionary design system with additional hardcoded regulatory mechanisms to generate building skins with morphological attributes suitable to adapt to the excessive solar radiation of the Persian Gulf region. Homeostasis as a regulatory mechanism and a 'reference point for change' (figure 40) mapped algorithmically into the evolutionary design system to steer the simulation toward generating morphological attributes embedded in the phenotypes that contribute to their adaptation to the excessive solar radiation.

The four case studies, due to the extreme environment they are located in and the use of contemporary temperature regulatory mechanisms, were chosen as the case studies and reference points for conducting comparisons. As presented in section 4.1.4, the evolutionary design process successfully generated candidate solutions with diverse morphological characteristics, each of which performed better in the described measurement criteria in comparison to the case studies. This design methodology emphasises the significance of the skin resulting from the early design explorations in the adaptation to the environment. The employed design system, however, produced a significant amount of variations from which a noticeable number of them are performing better than the case studies.

The discussion of this research outlined a thorough process for attempting to put a collection of fundamentals extracted from biological adaptation lessons to work in evolutionary design procedures

in order to develop skin morphological configurations that have adaptive formal and attributes qualities appropriate for four different case studies in the Persian Gulf region. Through a series of studies that was entirely produced via the proposed mind map in this research, the experiments carried out in chapter four evaluated the use of various biomimetic adaptation lessons in the evolutionary design procedures.

Seven distinct design scenarios in three different contexts in the Persian Gulf region were chosen to evaluate the proposed methods. PIF towers in Riyadh in Saudi Arabia, Abu Dhabi Market Square, Al Hilal Bank Tower and Al-Bahr Towers in Abu Dhabi in the UAE were selected because of their morphology and form relative discrepancies.

In order to enable the emergence of biomimetic attributes throughout the office floors of the buildings, the experiments were developed to address a specific design problem through the use of evolutionary computation. To develop skin morphologies that meet a specific set of thermal and view objectives specific to their building, all design experiments were carried out.

The algorithmic application of a homeostatic process's regulatory mechanism to sustain an optimum level of thermal radiation and view range remained in a stable condition throughout the iterative evolution process (figure 42). The phenotype's algorithmic development allows for the formation of a collection of morphological attributes manifested from biomimetic adaptation behaviours in biology extracted from the proposed mind map. These formal attributes are listed below.

- a) Surface-to-Volume Ratio
- b) Self-shading Techniques
- c) Homeostasis Principals

d) Emergence, Evolution, Growth: Grouping and Partitioning Technique of Stem Cells of Plants The implemented method introduced in the first phase of the simulation of this study was set to maintain the given variables of solar radiation intensity and visual comfort of the occupants within an optimal range (homeostasis behaviour in comparison to the original skins of the case studies. Throughout all solutions presented in section 4.1.4, the thermal and visual comfort of all proposed skins were improved significantly in comparison to the original skins.

The results of the analysis of the simulations highlight the significance of the biomimetic morphological configuration and the relatively diverse relationships between different fitness objectives in the effectiveness of selecting solutions for this approach. The analysis that was done on seven evolutionary simulations on four different case studies emphasises the importance of biological adaptation lessons in regulating the excessive radiation when used in the construction of the

163

phenotypes as part of the genes during the evolutionary development method. It is concluded that the morphology should carry the genes that make them adaptable to the environment in which they are planned to be built. The proposed skin tissues over the case studies evolved in the developed evolutionary model significantly improved the thermal and visual comfort performance of the office floors of the buildings (explained in the evaluations and results pages of the experiments in section 4.1.4). A set of rules and regulations were implemented into the generative models of experiments to act as an abstraction of the concept of coordinated actions of individuals in order to develop such an evolutionary model within which the individual building shadings arise in synchrony. In the phenotype and genotype of the studies, these principles and rules were integrated (section 4.1.3).

The presented simulations illustrated the thermal and visual comfort of all floors overall and specifically the office floors (that were measured and mapped in percentage (shown in the evaluation and analysis pages of section 4.1.4) significantly improved after running the shadings through the proposed evolutionary platform by evolving them and generating new solutions with improved thermal and visual comfort performance.

The second phase studied a deeper level of thermal comfort by focusing on users' movement throughout a selected office floor of Albahr tower. The reason for choosing only one case study for this phase is because of the time and computation power required to run the ABM simulations. However, it is worth mentioning that the method is flexible enough to be applicable to other case studies by simply replacing the floor plan used in the simulation. The ABM simulation revealed the paths of the visitors and the staff in the building. This information is valuable to ensure that during the optimisation process, the evolutionary engine performs in an efficient way by targeting the areas that are only needed for the occupants in order to have improved thermal and visual comfort. Considering this efficiency during the optimisation process also helps the optimisation time as there will be a reduced amount of areas of analysis by focusing on specifically marked areas rather than all surfaces of the floor plans.

Further analysis could be undertaken to determine to what extent this is an effective mechanism to incorporate homeostatic behaviour in design processes. Authors are currently continuing their research in generating a design methodology to better employ feedback and regulatory mechanisms into the generative design processes to explore further morphological variations and their adaptations to the environment. Future work will also study the effectiveness of such mechanism in adapting to the changing environmental condition; the presented experiment considered the solar radiation on seasonal solstices and equinox; on the 21st of June, September, December and March; however, it is worth investigating the dynamic environmental conditions in the simulation. The authors are also

conducting further research into the materiality of the skin as well as the introduction of functions as parameters in the evolutionary simulation. More specifically, the discussion herein highlighted the advancements made in the field of computational design and biomimicry used to improve the efficiency and functionality of the building shadings and skins. The goal here was to meet the everchanging human needs while still providing a platform for efficiency and adaptability. This information was valuable in developing facade designs that seek to optimise energy performance while reducing the adverse impacts on the comfort of occupants.

The contribution of the research in the analysis and improvement of building skin design is highlighted below.

1. During phase one, a unique technique was produced to generate skin morphologies with phenotypic variants that can enhance the visual and thermal comfort level of the office floors of the selected buildings.

2. The second phase of the research experiment developed a workflow to fine-tune the outputted results of the generative process by making sure that the skin reaches the ultimate optimisation level by targeting users' most visited spots on each floor rather than any other spots of the building that occupants do not visit during working hours.

3. This research builds a bridge from the discipline of Architecture (outlined in Section 1.3.1) to Biology (biomimicry) (outlined in Section 2.1) to explore the possibility of applying morphological attributes throughout the evolution of skin systems (section 3.1). It also argues that data collection and lesson adaptation in architecture should not be limited to copying and inspiring from the forms of the organisms.

4. Furthermore, this study foregrounds the importance of building skin design exploration and their effect on resolving environmental issues such as extreme solar radiation. The investigation undertaken in section 4.1.4 covered this topic objectively and determined that biomimetic morphological configuration has a beneficial impact on prolonging the adaptive behaviours of skin tissues in comparison to their simpler mainstream building shading counterparts.

7 Appendix I: Applicability in Practice

This section provides details about further potential applicability of the workflow and analysis used in the design exploration method of this PhD study in practice that thrived from this research. In the figures below (figures 111, 112), the solar radiation and the view analysis developed for the experiments in section 4.1, were adopted in order to solve the conflicting problem of thermal and visual comfort as well as the space configurations. The figures below illustrate the results of the analysis of the multi-objective evolutionary plan and layout design that was adopted by Udex Architecture company (founded by the author) for a client based in South London. (Kaviani, 2020)



Figure 111 Thermal analysis thrived from section 4.1.2.

The project is a residential house called "White Block House" based in Bromley, South London. The ultimate goal in this project is three-fold: (1) to generate floor plans, i.e. optimise the generation of a large and highly diverse quantity of floor plan designs based on the client and council and the architect's requirements, (2) to qualify floor plans, i.e. offer a proper classification methodology, and (3) to allow clients to "browse" through generated design options.

The analysis workflow and the computational platform that was used and performed in the White Block House project are extracted from the first phase of the simulation in section 4.1. White Block House is a fantastic practical example of where part of the outcome of using this research project has been used in practice.



Figure 112 View (visual comfort) analysis thrived from section 4.1.2

For architects, starting off a project requires countless hours of research, both of understanding the design intent of the project and of projects in the past. This is where the evolutionary design methodology of this PhD research can contribute.

CLIENT NEEDS	ARCHITECT OBJECTIVES		BUILDING REGULATIONS				Σ	OPTIMIZE SIZE		
FO1:Maximize to	al radiation in winter	1 de	ia.	2						
FO2:Minimize total radiation in summer		STATES.	HIGHER	E N						
FO3:Maintain Stair Box area between 6.5-8										
FO4:Maintain Living room area between										
FOS:Maintain Boot room area between								[
3-6		1						I		
Publikaintain we area between 3-6		1						1		
FO7: Maintain Hallway area bet 3.5-5										
FO8:(kit-triangle) for achieving to e	nin len(edg1-edge2) quilateral triangle							•		
FO9:(kit-triangle)) for achieving to e	nin len(edg2-edge3) quilateral triangle	2	1					•		
FO10:(kit-triangle)maintain the area of triangular space [3-5]								•		
F011:Max view to	agarden from sitting space			* (**E*T_) *		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••				
F012:Max view to	garden from island table			· (Atha)						
FO13:Max view to	garden from living room			FRA.		•				
F014:(fur-triangle	i)min len(edg1-edge2) for									
F015:(fur-triangle)min len(edg2-edge3) for	,								
achieving to equil	ateral triangle	2	.13	K-×als			5916-00-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-20-			
triangular space	[1-5]							.		

Figure 113 Different conflicting Objectives implemented in the Evolutionary design process that thrived from the PhD study

The requirement of the White Block project was to address all needs of clients as well as building regulations requirements while making sure that all our innovations and principles as architects are implemented in the design process in the shortest amount of time (figure 113). The multi-objective evolutionary workflow that was developed in this PhD study was used in the White House project in order to identify the design problem as computational objectives in the evolutionary algorithm and solve the view and thermal and space configuration problem of the project.

In the end, novel design solutions were discovered and navigated trade-offs between high-performing designs, sketch constraints, and goals led the architect to give the client the opportunity to browse between different design options that are illustrated with graphs data and confidently choose the most suitable one (Figure 114)

For further details and illustrations of the project, please refer <u>https://udex.co.uk/white-blocks-house-plan-optimisation/</u>



Figure 114 Recommended and selected solutions from the EA-generated plans; presented with graphs so the client can browse and make an informed decision.

8 Appendix II: Extended Drawings

This section comprises an extended set of drawings from the experiment setup of chapter 4. It provides further details about the way the view analysis during experiments conducted in this research.

The second drawing (figure 116) represents view vectors within the evolutionary design process getting detected as "blocked" when intersecting with the skin, resulting in the identification of view performance percentages.



Figure 115 View Analysis procedure with more details



Figure 116 The Illustration of in way view vectors can detected "blocked" when intersect the skin
9 Glossary ²³

Term	Definition
Adaptive Thermal Comfort	The comfort model that is the result of an extensive field study on the occupants comforts level. It is based on the notion that people dynamically interact and adapt to their environment by different means such as clothing and activity preferences.
Crossover	The exchange of genes between two solutions / individuals (computation).
Crossover Distribution Index	This index is between 0 -100. A large distribution index value gives a higher probability for creating offspring near parent solutions and a small distribution index value allows distant solutions to be selected as children solutions (computation).
Crossover Probability	This value is between 0.0 to 1.0. The percentage of solutions in the generation that will reproduce for the next generation (computation).
Design Problem	The algorithmic method by which the design is expressed through 'fitness objectives', and 'genes' and their expression in the construction of the 'phenotype.'
Divergence	When the fitness values of solutions evolved by an evolutionary simulation are distant from one another (thus increasing variation).
Evo-Devo	Abbreviation of Evolutionary Development - A subfield of evolutionary biology that examines the role of developmental biology in the evolutionary process.
Evolutionary Model	The computational setup of a design problem to be solved with the application of evolutionary computation. It comprises the calculation of the fitness objectives, rules and regulations in the genome of the experiment and their expression in the phenotype.
Evolved City	A city that has developed through a process of self-organisation and emergence throughout its history, leading to complex systems that are informed by environmental conditions.
Extrinsic	External
Fitness Criteria / Fitness Objective	The design objectives and the goals that the evolutionary simulation will optimise for, and based on which the generated phenotypes will be evaluated
Fitness Function	The mathematical functions that calculate the fitness objectives values in the design problem.
Fitness Graph Chart	The fitness Chart (sometimes referred to as the 'star coordinate method' or 'diamond chart') analyses the fitness values of a single solution (as opposed to the population wide analysis). The aim is for the user to better understand how a single solution performs by comparing the fitness values and ranking for each of its fitness objectives.
Fitness Landscape	The distribution of solutions of the search space in relation to one another and the relative complexity of the evolutionary simulation from navigating the solutions towards finding the fittest solution set (global optima).
Fitness Rank	The ranking of each solution within the population according to its fitness value.
Fitness Value	The empirical performance measure attributed to each generated solution/phenotype according to its evaluation results in the simulation.
Gene	A single variable that defines one part of an individual. In Grasshopper3D, this variable is represented by a numeric slider (computation).
Gene Group	A group of genes in the genotype of the experiment that performs a similar task (computation).

²³ Some of the technical definitions in this section are extracted from the Wallacei Primer (Makki, M., Showkatbakhsh, M, 2019)

Generation	A single iteration of the evolutionary algorithm (computation).
	Number of generations (iterations) to be run by the evolutionary simulation
Generation Count	(computation).
	Number of generated solutions/phenotypes within each generation
Generation Size	(computation).
	All the genes (and the gene groups) that define a single solution/phenotype.
Genotype	The genotype may be considered as the solution's 'blueprint' or DNA. It is
	also called genome.
Homeostasis	The biological process that keeps the steady-state of the organisms in both
	individual or collective scales in the face of internal or external
	perturbations.
Homeostatic Behaviour	The behaviour of an organism that leads to homeostasis.
Homeostatic Process	The biological process of reaching homeostasis in species that comprises the
	coordinate actions of sub-systems within individual species or the members
	of a colony on a collective scale.
Individual / Solution	A unit that is generated by the evolutionary simulation. It is represented by
	a genotype and phenotype. The population comprises of the individuals.
Intrinsic	Internal
	Considering only the radiant heat transfer in the temperature calculation.
Mean Radiant Temperature	The amount of radiant heat that is transferred to the object.
	The mean fitness values trendline araph calculates the mean fitness value
	for each generation in the population generated by the evolutionary
Mean Value Trend Line Graph	simulation and displays each value as a point from left (first generation) to
	right (last generation).
	The acceptance of 5 key Darwinian principles by the majority of evolutionary
Modern Synthesis	scientists in the 1940s.
	The biological process by which a cell, tissue, or organism takes on its shape
	is known as morphoaenesis. Alona with the reaulation of tissue arowth and
Morphogenesis	the patterning of cellular differentiation, it is one of the three fundamental
	elements of developmental biology.
	The localised and bottom-up formal and geometrical processes that are
Morphological Intervention	applied to the phenotypes in the evolutionary simulations.
	An optimisation simulation comprises of multiple fitness objectives to be
Multi-Objective Optimisation	optimised independently from one another.
Mutation	A change in a gene (or group of genes) in a genotype (computation)
	This index is between 0 - 100. A large distribution index value gives a higher
	probability for creating offspring near parent solutions and a small
Mutation Distribution Index	distribution index value allows distant solutions to be selected as children
	solutions (computation)
	The probability of a gene to mutate. This determines how many genes in a
Mutation Probability	solutions genotype will mutate (computation).
Natural Selection	Organisms that are selected for survival according to their fitness to
	environmental conditions.
	The distribution of solutions selected by the evolutionary alaorithm in
Objective Space	relation to their fitness values in a 3d coordinate system.
Ontogenetic	The developmental history of an organism within its own lifetime.
	Considering the radiant heat transfer and convection heat transfer in the
Operative Temperature	temperature calculation. Operative temperature is described as effective
	temperature since it has the combined effects of radiation and convection
	heat transfers.
Optimisation	The increase in fitness of a solution or population towards a very fit (or at
	times the fittest) value. The fit value in the context of WallaceiX (utilised
	plugin to run evolutionary simulations in the research) refers to the
	minimum value.
Optimisation Trend	The trend of the optimisation from the beainning of the simulation to the
	end.

Pareto Front	The solutions that are non-dominated by another solution. i.e. a solution that cannot be improved without negatively affecting the rank of another solution.
Phylogenetic	The evolutionary development and diversification of species.
Dharachura	The morphological (or otherwise) representation of the solution. The
Phenotype	phenotype is the manifestation of the genotype
	The parallel coordinate plot (PCP) analyses all the solutions in the population
	by comparing the fitness values for each solution across all fitness objectives.
Parallel Coordinate Plot Graph	In the PCP, each fitness objective is attributed a y-axis, in which the first
	objective is the left most y-axis, and the last objective is the right most y-
	axis. The solutions are coloured from red (solutions in the first generations)
	to blue (solutions in the last generation).
Population	All individuals generated by the evolutionary simulation across all
Populationist	Viablights the uniqueness between solutions within a given population
Populationist	The constructed phonotype of an evolutionary cimulation prior to the
Primitive	simulation run
Radiation	The emission of electromagnetic heat waves from a warmer object to an
	object with a cooler
	surface
Random Seed	Random seed in the evolutionary simulation that can be controlled from
	within the Wallacei X UI.
Regulation (Genes)	The control of which genes act on which body parts
Search Space	All the possible solutions that can be explored by the evolutionary algorithm.
Social Regulation	Highlights the uniqueness between solutions within a given population
	A single algorithmic run of the evolutionary solver (WallaceiX in this
Simulation	research) from start to
	finish.
	The Graphs that show the distribution of a set of values from the mean value
	per generation in the evolutionary simulation. The Standard Deviation (SD)
Standard Deviation Graphs	graph calculates the SD for each generation in the population and plots each
	coloured from red (first generation) to blue (last generation)
	The standard deviation (SD) trendline aranh calculates the SD value for each
SD Trend line Granhs	appreciation in the population and displays each value as a point from left
	(first generation) to right (last generation).
	The thermal behaviour of a building refers to the processes of heat and
Thermal Behaviour	energy exchange between external and internal environments through the
	building itself.
Thermal Comfort	Thermal comfort is assessed by the subjective evaluation (solar radiation
	analysis proposed in this study) and refers to the satisfaction of a person in
	an environment.
Thermal Zone	Similar to the biological organisms, buildings have a metabolism. They can
	be considered as thermal systems, with a series of heat inputs and outputs.
	A thermal zone refers to a space or a collection of spaces that have similar
T I I.:	space-conditioning requirements such as heating and cooling requirements.
inermoregulation	Highlights the uniqueness between solutions within a given population.
Typologist	considers the average solution of a population as an adequate representative of all solutions in the population
voxelisation	Voyelisation is the process of converting a data structures that store
	aeometric information in a continuous domain (such as a 3D triangular
	mesh) into a rasterised imaae (a discrete arid).
Visual Comfort	Visual comfort is assessed by the subjective evaluation (the unique users
	view analysis proposed in this study) and refers to the satisfaction of users
	in a room in terms of having a good view field to the outside of the building.

10 Bibliography

Addington, D. M. and Schodek, D. L. (2005) Smart materials and new technologies. Amsterdam [u.a.]: Elsevier [u.a.].

Addington, M., & Schodek, D. L. (2005). Smart materials and new technologies for the architecture and design professions; Routledge: Oxford, UK.

Adriaenssens, S., Rhode-Barbarigos, L., Kilian, A., Baverel, O., Charpentier, V., Horner, M. and Buzatu, D., 2014. Dialectic form finding of passive and adaptive shading enclosures. Energies, 7(8), pp.5201-5220.

Aedas. (2019) International Architecture. Available at: http://www.theplan.it/eng/webzine/international-architecture/al-bahr-towers-en/ (Accessed: 9 June 2019).

Aish, R., & Woodbury, R. (2005, August). Multi-level interaction in parametric design. In International symposium on smart graphics (pp. 151-162). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Al Bahr Towers . (2011) Available from: https://www.arup.com/projects/al-bahr-towers [Accessed 01/06/2019].

Al Dakheel, J., & Tabet Aoul, K. (2017). Building applications, opportunities and challenges of active shading systems: A state-of-the-art review. Energies, 10(10), 1672.

AlHilalBankOfficeTower/GoettschPartners. (2021)Availablefrom:https://www.archdaily.com/802761/al-hilal-bank-office-tower-goettsch-partners[Accessed09/03/2020].

Al Hilal Bank Office Tower. (2020) Available from: https://architizer.com/projects/al-hilal-bank-office-tower/ [Accessed 09/04/2022].

Alexander, C. (1965) Notes on the Synthesis of Form, Harvard University Press.

Ander, D.G., 2016, Windows and Glazing. Whole Building Design Guide. Retrieved on 2nd December 2019 from https://www.wbdg.org/resources/windows-and-glazing

Approaches, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Berlin, Heidelberg, Springer, pp. 59–96 [Online]. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-88908-3_3 (Accessed 1 September 2020).

Armstrong, A., Buffoni, G., Eames, D., James, R., Lang, L., Lyle, J., et al. (2013) 'The Al Bahr towers: multidisciplinary design for Middle East high-rise', *The Arup Journal*, 60–73.

Aschwanden, G. D., Haegler, S., Bosché, F., Van Gool, L. and Schmitt, G. (2011) Empiric design evaluation in urban planning, DOI: 10.1016/j.autcon.2010.10.007.

Aschwanden, G. D., Haegler, S., Halatsch, J., Jecker, R., Schmitt, G. and Van Gool, L. (2009) Evaluation of 3D city models using automatic placed urban agents, in: .

ASCHWANDEN, Gideon D. P. A, WULLSCHLEGER, T., MÜLLER, H. and SCHMITT, G. (2012) Agent based evaluation of dynamic city models: A combination of human decision processes and an emission model for transportation based on acceleration and instantaneous speed, in: Kidlington: Elsevier, pp. 81-89. DOI: 10.1016/j.autcon.2011.07.001.

Attia, S. (2017). Evaluation of adaptive facades: The case study of Al Bahr Towers in the UAE. QScience Connect, 2017(2), 6.

Attia, S. (2018) Evaluation of adaptive facades: The case study of al bahr towers in the UAE, QScience Connect, 2017 (2), pp. 1-13. DOI: 10.5339/connect.2017.qgbc.6.

Aziz, M. S. and El sherif, A. Y. (2016) Biomimicry as an approach for bio-inspired structure with the aid of computation, Alexandria Engineering Journal, 55 (1), pp. 707-714. DOI: 10.1016/j.aej.2015.10.015.

B Cannon, W. (1963) Wisdom Of The Body, Rev. and Enl. Ed edition., New York, W. W. Norton and Company, Inc.

Bäck, T., Fogel, D. B., & Michalewicz, Z. (Eds.). (2018). Evolutionary Computation 1: Basic algorithms and operators. CRC press.

Badarnah Kadri, L. (2012). Towards the LIVING envelope: Biomimetics for building envelope adaptation (Doctoral dissertation, TU Delft, Delft University of Technology).

Badarnah, L., & Kadri, U. (2015). A methodology for the generation of biomimetic design concepts. Architectural Science Review, 58(2), 120-133.

Badarnah, L., Farchi, Y. N., Knaack, U., Carpi, A., & Brebbia, C. A. (2010). Solutions from nature for building envelope thermoregulation. Design & Nature V: Comparing Design in Nature with Science and Engineering, 5, 251.

Baetens, R., Jelle, B. P., & Gustavsen, A. (2010). Properties, requirements and possibilities of smart windows for dynamic daylight and solar energy control in buildings: A state-of-the-art review. Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells, 94(2), 87-105.

Baldwin, J. and Fuller, R. B. (1996) Bucky Works: Buckminster Fuller's ideas for today, New York, Wiley.

Fuller, R. B. (1982) Critical Path, Estate of R. Buckminster Fuller.

Bateson, W. (2012) 'Materials for the Study of Variation by William Bateson', *Camb Core*. doi:10.1017/CBO9781139382069.

Bateson, W. (2012) Materials for the Study of Variation. Cambridge University Press.

Batty, M. (2013) The new science of cities, Cambridge, Massachusetts, MIT Press.

Bankable solar data for better decisions. Available from: https://solargis.com/ [Accessed 23 September 2019].

Bentley, P. (1999). An introduction to evolutionary design by computers. Evolutionary design by computers, 1-73.

Beesley, P., 2006. Responsive Architectures. Riverside Architectural Press.

Bentley, P. and Corne, D. (2002) Creative evolutionary systems, *Applied Intelligence (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*, 16 (2), pp. 101-155. Available from: https://search.proquest.com/docview/57507863.

Benyus, J. M. (2002). Biomimicry: Innovation inspired by nature. 2nd ed. New York: H. Collins Pub.

Bernard, C. (1974) Lectures on the phenomena of life common to animals and plants, American lecture series, Springfield, Thomas.

Bhushan, B. (2009) Biomimetics: Lessons from nature—an overview, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical, and Engineering Sciences, 367 (1893), pp. 1445-1486. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2009.0011.

Branke, J., Deb, K., Miettinen, K. and Slowiński, R. (eds.) (2008) Multiobjective Optimization: Interactive and Evolutionary Approaches, Theoretical Computer Science and General Issues,

Brayer MA, Migayrou F. Archilab (2013): Naturalizing architecture: Hyx, Orleans; 2013

Britannica, inc. [Online]. Available at https://www.britannica.com/science/biologicaldevelopment (Accessed 20 February 2020).

Brooks, R. A. (1991) 'Intelligence without reason', *Proceedings of 12th Int. Joint Conf. on Artificial Intelligence, Sydney, Australia, pp. 569–595, August.*

Blumberg, B. and Galyean, T. (Sep 15, 1995) Multi-level direction of autonomous creatures for realtime virtual environments, in: ACM, pp. 47-54.

Calama-González, Carmen María, Ángel Luis León-Rodríguez, and Rafael Suárez. 2018. "Daylighting and Energy Performance Evaluation of an Egg-Crate Device for Hospital Building Retrofitting in a Mediterranean Climate." *Sustainability (Switzerland)*. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10082714.

Camba, J. D., Contero, M., & Company, P. (2016). Parametric CAD modelling: An analysis of strategies for design reusability. Computer-Aided Design, 74, 18-31.

Campbell, M. (2019) Genotype vs Phenotype: Examples and Definitions . Available from: https://www.technologynetworks.com/genomics/articles/genotype-vs-phenotype-examples-anddefinitions-318446 [Accessed 15/11/2020].

Cannon, W. B. (1963) The wisdom of the body. Rev. and enl. ed. ed. New York: Norton.

Capeluto, I.G., 2003. Energy performance of the self-shading building envelope. Energy and buildings, 35(3), pp.327-336.

Capital Market Authority Tower, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia . (2016) Available from: https://www.designbuild-network.com/projects/capital-market-authority-tower-riyadh [Accessed 16/04/2020].

Carroll, S. B. (1995) 'Homeotic genes and the evolution of arthropods and chordates', Nature, vol. 376, no. 6540, p. 479.

Carroll, S. B. (2005) Endless Forms Most Beautiful: The New Science of Evo Devo and the Making of the Animal Kingdom, London, Quercus.

Cécile Faraud Urban metabolism in practice. the difficult implementation of closing the loop approaches, through the water and food cycles in cities. bartlett dev plan unit 2017;186.

Choi, S. Light Studies: 7 Structures That Brilliantly Use Brise-Soleil. Available from: https://architizer.com/blog/inspiration/collections/brise-soleil [Accessed 10/09/2022]

Coates, P. (2010) Programming. Architecture, 1 edition., London, Routledge.

Coello, C. C. (2006) 'Evolutionary Multi-Objective Optimization: A Historical View of the Field', IEEE computational intelligence magazine, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 28–36.

Colautti, R. I., & Lau, J. A. (2015). Contemporary evolution during invasion: evidence for differentiation, natural selection, and local adaptation. Molecular Ecology, 24(9), 1999-2017.

Conrad H. Waddington (2019) 'biological development', Encyclopædia Britannica, Encyclopædia

Conway, F., Siegelman, J., & Alexanderson, G. L. (2006). Dark hero of the information age: In search of Norbert Wiener, the father of cybernetics. The Mathematical Intelligencer, 28(2), 70-73.

Cross, N. (2001) 'Designerly Ways of Knowing: Design Discipline Versus Design Science', Design Issues, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 49–55 [Online]. DOI: 10.1162/074793601750357196.

Cvjetković, V. M., & Stanković, U. (2016, September). Arduino Based Physics and Engineering Remote Laboratory. In International Conference on Interactive Collaborative Learning (pp. 560-574). Springer, Cham.

Dakheel, Joud Al, and Kheira Tabet Aoul. 2017. "Building Applications, Opportunities and Challenges of Active Shading Systems: A State-of-the-Art Review." *Energies*. https://doi.org/10.3390/en10101672.

Darwin, C. (1859) On the origin of species by Means of Natural Selection, London : John Murray, 1859 [Online]. Available at https://search.library.wisc.edu/catalog/9934839413602122.

Darwin, C. (1872) On the origin of species : by means of natural selection.

Darwin, C. and Wallace, A. (1858) 'On the Tendency of Species to form Varieties; and on the Perpetuation of Varieties and Species by Natural Means of Selection.', Journal of the Proceedings of the Linnean Society of London. Zoology, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 45–62 [Online]. DOI: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.1858.tb02500.x. Deb K.; Agrawal S.; Pratap A.; Meyarivan T.: A Fast Elitist Non-Dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm for Multi-Objective Optimization: NSGA-II. In: International Conference on Parallel Problem Solving from Nature. Springer, Paris, France, 2000, pp 849–858.

Deb, K. (2006) 'Multi-objective Optimization', in Burke, E. K. and Kendall, G. (eds), Search

Deb, K. (2008) 'Introduction to Evolutionary Multiobjective Optimization', in Branke, J., Deb, K., Miettinen, K., and Słowiński, R. (eds), Multiobjective Optimization: Interactive and Evolutionary

Deb, K., Agrawal, S., Pratap, A. and Meyarivan, T. (2000) A Fast Elitist Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm for Multi-objective Optimization: NSGA-II, in: A Fast Elitist Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm for Multi-objective Optimization: NSGA-II, in: Lecture notes in computer science, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 849-858.

Definition of MORPHOGENESIS. (2019). Retrieved from https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/morphogenesis [Accessed Nov 2019]

Dobzhansky, T., Hecht, M. K. and Steere, W. C. (2012) On Some Fundamental Concepts of Darwinian Biology, in: On Some Fundamental Concepts of Darwinian Biology, in: *Evolutionary Biology*, United States: Springer.

Dunn, N. (2012) Digital fabrication in architecture. London: Laurence King.

Egges, A., Kshirsagar, S., and Magnenat-Thalmann, N. (2004) 'Generic Personality and Emotion Simulation for Conversational Agents.'

Eh, A. L. S., Tan, A. W. M., Cheng, X., Magdassi, S., & Lee, P. S. (2018). Recent Advances in Flexible Electrochromic Devices: Prerequisites, Challenges, and Prospects. Energy Technology, 6(1), 33-45.

ElSayed, M. S. (2016). Optimizing thermal performance of building-integrated photovoltaics for upgrading informal urbanization. Energy and Buildings, 116, 232-248.

ElDin, N. N., & Abdou, A. (2020). An Approach to Adaptive Sustainable Facades Inspired by Plants. The Academic Research Community publication, 4(2), 52-62.

European Commission (2013) REPORT FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL AND THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE First Report on the application of Directive 2005/29/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 May 2005 concerning unfair business-to-consumer commercial practices in the internal market and amending Council Directive 84/450/EEC, Directives 97/7/EC, 98/27/EC and 2002/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and Regulation (EC) No 2006/2004 of the European Parl, .

European Commission (2019) Register of Commission documents: Minutes of the 28th Meeting of the Programme Committee for the specific programme implementing Horizon 2020 - the Framework Programme for Research and Innovation - configuration "Space" - 11 February 2019 Document date: 2019-05-20 COM-AC_DIS062303-01 Comitology - Documents for information, European Union News, .

European Commission, editor. Energy roadmap 2050. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2012.

European Commission. Communication from the commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European economic and social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Horizon 2020-The Framework Programme for Research (and Innovation); 2011. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/research/horizon2020/pdf/proposals/communication_from_the_commission_ -_horizon_2020_-_the_framework_programme_for_research_and_innovation.pdf [Accessed 15th April 2018]

European Commission. Communication from the commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European economic and social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Energy Roadmap 2050, Com 2011;2011:885/2

(https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/2012_energy_roadmap_2050_en_0.pdf) [Accessed 15th April 2018]

EVOLUTION | meaning in the Cambridge English Dictionary. (2019). Retrieved from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/evolution.

Eldredge, G. and Eldredge, N. (2013) Editorial: Evolution: Education and outreach goes open access, Evolution Education & Outreach, 6 (1), pp. 1. DOI: 10.1186/1936-6434-6-1. Evolutionary Algorithms in Engineering Applications, Springer-Verlag, pp. 135–154.

Evolutionary Design Processes: Adaptive Urban Tissues', Journal of Computational Design and Engineering, vol. 7, pp. 1–17.

Faraud, C. (2017) 'Urban metabolism in practice. The difficult implementation of closing the loop approaches, through the water and food cycles in cities', The Bartlett Development Planning Unit, vol.

186 [Online]. Available at https://www.ucl.ac.uk/bartlett/development/case-studies/2017/ mar/urban-metabolism-practice (Accessed 16 May 2019).

Fox, M. (Ed.). (2016). Interactive architecture: adaptive world. Chronicle Books.

Garcia, M. A., Herrmann, W., Böhmer, W., & Proisy, B. (2003). Thermal and electrical effects caused by outdoor hot-spot testing in associations of photovoltaic cells. Progress in photovoltaics: research and applications, 11(5), 293-307.

Genetic Algorithms Really the Best Choice in Building Energy Optimization?', ResearchGate, p. 6 [Online]. Available at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317277483_Are_Genetic_

Gerlee, P., Basanta, D. and Anderson, A. R. A. (2011) Evolving homeostatic tissue using genetic algorithms, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology, 106 (2), pp. 414-425. DOI: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2011.03.004.

Gibson, J. J. (1979) The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.

Goldberg, D. E. (1994). Genetic and Evolutionary Algorithms Come of Age. Communication of the ACM, 37:3, 113–119.

Gosztonyi S, Gruber P, Judex F, Brychta M, Richter (2010) S. BioSkin – research potentials for biologically inspired energy efficient façade components and systems, BioSkin Online Plattform. Project information FFG, Vienna. http://www.bionicfacades.net// [Accessed 15th April 2017]

Gould, S. J. (1975). Allometry in primates, with emphasis on scaling and the evolution of the brain. Contributions to primatology, 5, 244-292.

Gramazio, F., & Kohler, M. (2014). Made by Robots: Challenging Architecture at the Large Scale, AD Wiley.

Grimm, V. and Railsback, S. F. (2005) Individual-based modeling and ecology, Princeton University Press, , pp. 485.

Gruber P. (2010) Biomimetics in architecture – the architecture of life and buildings. Vienna: Springer.

Gruber, P. (2008). Transfer of nature to architecture–analysis of case studies. Biological approaches to engineering. In Proceedings of the Institute of Sound and Vibration Research, BAEC Proceedings, 58-61.

Gruber, P. (2010). Skin in architecture: towards bioinspired facades. WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment, 138, 503-513.

Gruber, P. and Gosztonyi, S. (2010) Skin in architecture: Towards bioinspired facades, , pp. 503–13. DOI: 10.2495/DN100451.

Gruber, P., & Gosztonyi, S. (2010). Skin in architecture: towards bioinspired facades. WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment, 138, 503-513.

Hall, B. K. (2012) 'Evolutionary Developmental Biology (Evo-Devo): Past, Present, and Future',

Harvey, D. (2001) Spaces of Capital: Towards a Critical Geography. Taylor & Francis.

Hashem Nejad (2010). Digital Architectures and Intelligent Buildings. Cwejournal, pp 10-15.

Helbing, D., and Molnar, P. (1995) 'Social force model for pedestrian-dynamics', *Physical Review E*, 51(4282).

Helbing, D., Farkas, I., and Vicsek, T. (2000) 'Simulating dynamical features of escape panic', *Nature*. 407, pp. 487–490.

Hensel, M., Menges, A., & Weinstock, M. (Eds.). (2004). Emergence: Morphogenetic Design Strategies: Evolutionary Strategies for Design. Wiley Academy. IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation 1(4).

Hensel, M., Menges, A., and Weinstock, M. (2004) *Emergence: Morphogenetic Design Strategies*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

Huxley, L. (1900) Life and Letters of Thomas Henry Huxley, Cambridge University Press, vol. 1.

John, G., Clements-Croome, D., & Jeronimidis, G. (2005). Sustainable building solutions: a review of lessons from the natural world. Building and environment, 40(3), 319-328.

Kaplan, A. and Haenlein, M. (2019) Siri, Siri, in my hand: Who's the fairest in the land? On the interpretations, illustrations, and implications of artificial intelligence, Business Horizons, 62 (1), pp. 15-25.

Karunakaran, A. (2005) 'Organisation of pedestrian movements: an agent-based approach', CAADRIA 2005, Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Computer Aided Architectural Design Research in Asia, New Delhi (India), 1, 2005, pp. 305–313, 28–30 April.

Kaviani, S., Showkatbakhsh, M., and Weinstock, M. (2021) 'Evolutionary Design Processes with Embedded Homeostatic Principles -Adaptation of Architectural Form and Skin to Excessive Solar Radiation', Computer-Aided Design and Applications, 18(5), pp. 914-953.

Kaviani, S. (2020) *White Block House Plan Optimisation*. Available from: https://udex.co.uk/whiteblocks-house-plan-optimisation/ [Accessed Aug, 2022].

Kaviani, S., Kaluarachchi, Y., Rossi, F. and Ofori, G. (2022) Evolutionary Designed Building Skins with Embedded Biomimetic Adaptation Lessons, in: The 45th Australasian Universities Building Education Association Conference, Western Sydney University: , pp. 664-675.

Kennedy, E., Fecheyr-Lippens, D., Hsiung, B. K., Niewiarowski, P. H., & Kolodziej, M. (2015). Biomimicry: A path to sustainable innovation. Design Issues, 31(3), 66-73.

Kirimtat, A., Koyunbaba, B.K., Chatzikonstantinou, I. and Sariyildiz, S., 2016. Review of simulation modelling for shading devices in buildings. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 53, pp.23-49.

Kliman, R. M. (ed), Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Biology, Oxford, Academic Press, pp. 433–440 [Online]. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800049-6.00129-3 (Accessed 21 May 2019).

Kim, M. J., Kim, B. G., Koh, J. S., & Yi, H. (2023). Flexural biomimetic responsive building façade using a hybrid soft robot actuator and fabric membrane. Automation in Construction, 145, 104660.

Knippers, Jan, Hauke Jungjohann, Florian Scheible, and Matthias Oppe. 2012. "Bio-Inspired Kinetic GFRP-Façade for the Thematic Pavilion of the EXPO 2012 in Yeosu." *International Symposium of Shell and Spatial Structures (IASS 2012)* 90 (6): 341–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/bate.201300034.

Kuhn, T.E., Bühler, C. and Platzer, W.J., 2001. Evaluation of overheating protection with sun-shading systems. Solar Energy, 69, pp.59-74.

Kuru, A., Oldfield, P., Bonser, S. and Fiorito, F. (2020) A framework to achieve multifunctionality in biomimetic adaptive building skins, Buildings (Basel), 10 (7), pp. 114. DOI: 10.3390/buildings10070114.

Kuru, A., Oldfield, P., Bonser, S., & Fiorito, F. (2021). Performance prediction of biomimetic adaptive building skins: Integrating multifunctionality through a novel simulation framework. Solar Energy, 224, 253-270.

L St Hilaire (2002a) The Extended Organism: The Physiology of Animal-Built Structures, Northeastern Naturalist, Apr 1, 9 (2), pp. 247.

L St Hilaire (2002b) The Extended Organism: The Physiology of Animal-Built Structures, Northeastern Naturalist, Apr 1, 9 (2), pp. 247.

Ladybug Tools. (2019) Home Page. Available at: https://www.ladybug.tools/ (Accessed: 11 June 2019).

Leach, N. (2009). Digital morphogenesis. Architectural Design, 79(1), 32-37.

LeBon, G. (1991) *Psychologie des Foules*. Brooks RA: Alcan, Paris.

Lect.Notes ComputerState-of-the-Art Surveys, Berlin Heidelberg, Springer-Verlag [Online]. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-88908-3 (Accessed 1 September 2020).

Lee, E. (2004). Low-cost networking for dynamic window systems. Energy and Buildings, 36(6), 503-513.

Lienhard, J., S. Schleicher, S. Poppinga, T. Masselter, M. Milwich, T. Speck, and J. Knippers. 2011. "Flectofin: A Hingeless Flapping Mechanism Inspired by Nature." *Bioinspiration and Biomimetics*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-3182/6/4/045001.

Linn, C. (2014). Kinetic architecture: design for active envelopes. Images Publishing. Remove

The Living: http://www.thelivingnewyork.com/. Accessed September 18, 2019

Loonen, R. C. G. M. (2015). Bio-inspired adaptive building skins. In Biotechnologies and biomimetics for civil engineering. Springer, Cham, pp. 115 - 134

Loonen, R. C., Trčka, M., Cóstola, D., & Hensen, J. L. M. (2013). Climate adaptive building shells: Stateof-the-art and future challenges. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 25, 483-493.

Lopez, M., Rubio, R., Martin, S., & Croxford, B. (2017). How plants inspire façades. From plants to architecture: Biomimetic principles for the development of adaptive architectural envelopes. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 67, 692-703.

Lopez, M., Rubio, R., Martín, S., Croxford, B., & Jackson, R. (2015). Active materials for adaptive architectural envelopes based on plant adaptation principles. Journal of Facade Design and Engineering, 3(1), 27-38.

López, Marlén, Ramón Rubio, Santiago Martín, and Ben Croxford. 2017. "How Plants Inspire Façades. From Plants to Architecture: Biomimetic Principles for the Development of Adaptive Architectural Envelopes." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.018.

Luca, Francesco De, Hendrik Voll, and Martin Thalfeldt. 2018. "Comparison of Static and Dynamic Shading Systems for Office Building Energy Consumption and Cooling Load Assessment." *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-01-2018-0008.

Luke, S. (2015) Essentials of metaheuristics, Jul 10, . Available from: https://explore.openaire.eu/search/other?orpId=od_____3506::0d578858f96dbba6f01b4aca 445f94b2.

Luke, S. (2013) Essentials of Metaheuristics, Second edition., Lulu [Online]. Available at http:// cs.gmu.edu/sean/book/metaheuristics/.

Luxenberg, S. (2007) Smart Buildings Pose Steep Learning Curve, National Real Estate Investor, 49 (11), pp. 95.

Mahmoud, A. H. A. and Elghazi, Y. (2016) Parametric-based designs for kinetic facades to optimize daylight performance: Comparing rotation and translation kinetic motion for hexagonal facade patterns, Solar Energy, 126, pp. 111-127. DOI: 10.1016/j.solener.2015.12.039..

Machairas, V., Tsangrassoulis, A. and Axarli, K. (2014) Algorithms for optimization of building design: A review, Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 31 , pp. 101-112. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2013.11.036.

Makki, M., Showkatbakhsh, M., Tabony, A. and Weinstock, M. (2018) 'Evolutionary Algorithms for Generating Urban Morphology: Variations and Multiple Objectives', International Journal of of Architectural Computing, SAGE UK: London, England [Online]. DOI: 10.1177/1478077120951947 (Accessed 31 July 2021).

Makki, M., Showkatbakhsh, M. and Song, Y. (2019) Wallacei, [Online]. Available at https://www. wallacei.com (Accessed 27 May 2019).

Makki, M., Showkatbakhsh, M., and Song Y. (2019) Wallacei Primer 2.0.

Makki, M., Showkatbakhsh, M., Tabony, A. and Weinstock, M. (2019) Evolutionary algorithms for generating urban morphology: Variations and multiple objectives, International Journal of Architectural Computing, 17 (1), pp. 5-35. DOI: 10.1177/1478077118777236.

Marshall, S. (2008) Cities Design & Evolution, 1 edition., London, Routledge.

Matias Peluffo (2015). Defining today's intelligent building. Commscope.com [online] Available at www.commscope.com [Accessed 15th April 2017]

Mayr, E. (1982) The growth of biological thought: diversity, evolution, and inheritance, Cambridge, Mass., Harvard Univ. Pr.

Mayr, E. (1988) Toward a New Philosophy of Biology: Observations of an Evolutionist, Harvard University Press.

Mayr, E. (1994) 'Typological versus population thinking', in Sober, E. (ed), Conceptual Issues in Evolutionary Biology., The Mit Press. Bradford Book, pp. 157–160.

Mayr, E. (1997) 'The establishment of evolutionary biology as a discrete biological discipline', BioEssays, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 263–266 [Online]. DOI: 10.1002/bies.950190313.

Mayr, E. (2002) What Evolution Is: From Theory to Fact, New Ed edition., London, W&N.

Mazzoleni, I. (2013). Architecture follows nature-biomimetic principles for innovative design. CRC Press.

McNamara, L. M. (2017) 2.10 Bone as a Material, in: 2.10 Bone as a Material, in: Comprehensive Biomaterials II, Second Edition ed. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 202-227.

Mendel, G. J. (1866) 'Experiment in Plant Hybridisation', Proceedings of the Natural History Society of Brünn.

Menges, A., & Ahlquist, S. (2011). Computational design thinking. Chichester, UK, John Wiley & Sons.

Menges, A. (2012) HygroSkin, Meteorosensitive Pavilion. Available from: https://www.fraccentre.fr/_en/authors/rub/rubworks318.html?authID=361&ensembleID=1206&oeuvreID=12254 [Accessed 23/02/2020].

Methodologies: Introductory Tutorials in Optimization and Decision Support Techniques, New York, NY, Springer, pp. 403 – 449.

Moloney, J. (2011). Designing kinetics for architectural facades: state change. Taylor & Francis. remove

Monizza, G. P., Rauch, E., & Matt, D. T. (2017). Parametric and Generative Design Techniques for Mass-Customization in Building Industry: A Case Study for Glued-Laminated Timber. Procedia CIRP, 60, 392-397.

Mosleh, M., Dalili, K., & Heydari, B. (2018). Distributed or monolithic? a computational architecture decision framework. IEEE Systems journal, 12(1), 125-136.

Muller, H. J. (1949) 'The Darwinian and Modern Conceptions of Natural Selection', Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, Natural Selection and Adaptation, American Philosophical Society, vol. 93, pp. 459–470.

Nagy, Z., Svetozarevic, B., Jayathissa, P., Begle, M., Hofer, J., Lydon, G., Willmann, A. and Schlueter, A., 2016. The adaptive solar facade: from concept to prototypes. Frontiers of Architectural Research, 5(2), pp.143-156.

Napier, J. (2015) Climate based façade design for business buildings with examples from central london, Buildings (Basel), 5 (1), pp. 16-38. DOI: 10.3390/buildings5010016.

Narain, R., Golas, A., and Curtis, S. (2009) 'M.C. Lin, Aggregated dynamics for dense crowd simulation', ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proc. Of ACM Siggraph Asia).

Nature of home. (2022) *Roof Overhang Guide.* Available at: <u>https://natureofhome.com/roof-overhang/</u> (Accessed: 7 August 2022).

Novak, A. (1968) 'Homeostatic Mechanisms', The American Biology Teacher, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 99–104 [Online]. DOI: 10.2307/4441965.

Novikov, D. A. (2016) Cybernetics : From past to future. Cham: Springer International Publishing. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-27397-6.

Oenardi, P. (1990) Application of shading devices as thermal control in buildings design in Indonesia. University of Colorado Denver.

Olgyay, A. and Olgyay, V. (1976) Solar control and shading devices. Princeton, N.J: Princeton Univ. Press.

Omrany, H. (2016). Application of passive wall systems for improving the energy efficiency in buildings: A comprehensive review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 62, 1252-1269. Omrany, H., Ghaffarianhoseini, A., Ghaffarianhoseini, A., Raahemifar, K. and Tookey, J. (2016) Application of passive wall systems for improving the energy efficiency in buildings: A comprehensive review, Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 62, pp. 1252-1269. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.04.010.

Pal, J. S. and Eltahir, E. A. B. (2016) Future temperature in southwest asia projected to exceed a threshold for human adaptability, Nature Climate Change, 6 (2), pp. 197-200. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2833.

Paletter, n.d., Side daylighting controls. Viewed 29 November 2019, http://www.2030palette.org/side-daylighting-controls/

Palmero-Marrero, Ana I., and Armando C. Oliveira. 2010. "Effect of Louver Shading Devices on Building Energy Requirements." *Applied Energy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.11.020.

Parametric Modelling, Process, Advantages and Parametric Modelling Tools. (2019). Retrieved from https://www.designtechsys.com/articles/parametric-modelling

Pask, G. (1969). The architectural relevance of cybernetics. Architectural Design, 39(9), 494-496.

Pawlyn M. (2011) Biomimicry in Architecture. London: RIBA Publishing

Powler, D., 2016, Sun Control and Shading Devices. Whole Building Design Guide. Accessed on 1st December 2019 from https://www.wbdg.org/resources/sun-control-and-shading-devices

Priatman, J., Soegihardjo, O., & Loekita, S. (2015). Towards Energy Efficient Facade Through Solarpowered Shading Device. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 179, 266-275.

principles - adaptation of architectural form and skin to excessive

Prowler, D. 2016, Sun control and shading devices, Viewed 29 November 2019, https://www.wbdg.org/resources/sun-control-and-shading-devices

Racimo, F., Schraiber, J. G., Casey, F. and Huerta-Sanchez, E. (2016) 'Directional Selection and Adaptation', in Kliman, R. M. (ed), Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Biology, Oxford, Academic Press, pp. 444–452 [Online]. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800049-6.00028-7 (Accessed 14 June 2019).

Radwan, Gehan.A.N., and Nouran Osama. 2016. "Biomimicry, an Approach, for Energy EffecientBuildingSkinDesign."ProcediaEnvironmentalSciences.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2016.04.017.

Raff, R. A. and Kaufman, T. C. (1983) Embryos, Genes, and Evolution: The Developmental-Genetic Basis of Evolutionary Change, Indiana University Press.

Reichert, Steffen, Achim Menges, and David Correa. 2015. "Meteorosensitive Architecture: Biomimetic Building Skins Based on Materially Embedded and Hygroscopically Enabled Responsiveness." *CAD Computer Aided Design*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cad.2014.02.010.

Reynolds, C. (2002) Abstract steering behaviors for autonomous characters, (Sony Computer Entertainment America). Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/2495826_Steering_Behaviors_For_Autonomous_Charact ers.

ResearchGate. (2017) Egg-Crate Louvres Design. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/figure/Egg-Crate-Louvres-Design_fig1_322265716/ (Accessed: 7 August 2022).

Rezaei, Soroosh Daqiqeh, Santiranjan Shannigrahi, and Seeram Ramakrishna. 2017. "A Review of Conventional, Advanced, and Smart Glazing Technologies and Materials for Improving Indoor Environment." *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solmat.2016.08.026.

Richards, C. L., Hanzawa, Y., Katari, M. S., Ehrenreich, I. M., Engelmann, K. E., & Purugganan, M. D. (2018). Perspectives on ecological and evolutionary systems biology. Annual Plant Reviews online, 331-349.

Robert. G. Hershberger (2009). Programming: Supplemental Architectural services.

Ronshaugen, M., McGinnis, N. and McGinnis, W. (2002) 'Hox Protein Mutation and Macroevolution of the Insect Body Plan', Nature, vol. 415, no. 6874, pp. 914–917. Shigetani, Y., Sugahara, F. and Kuratani, S. (2005) 'A New Evolutionary Scenario for the Vertebrate Jaw', Bioessays, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 331–338.

Roston, G. (1997). Hazards in Genetic Design Methodologies. In Dasgupta, D. and Michalewicz, Z. (eds),

Roth, G., & Dicke, U. (2005). Evolution of the brain and intelligence. Trends in cognitive sciences, 9(5), 250-257.

Rothlauf, F. (2011) Design of Modern Heuristics: Principles and Application, Natural Computing Series, Berlin Heidelberg, Springer-Verlag [Online]. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-72962-4 (Accessed 1 September 2020).

Roudavski, S. (2009). Towards morphogenesis in architecture. International journal of architectural computing, 7(3), 345-374.

Rudolph, G. (1998). Local Convergence Rates of Simple Evolutionary Algorithms with Cauchy Mutations,

Rutten, D. (2010) Evolutionary Principles applied to Problem Solving, [Online]. Available at https:// www.grasshopper3d.com/profiles/blogs/evolutionary-principles (Accessed 22 July 2018).

Rye, C., Wise, R., Jurukovski, V., DeSaix, J., Choi, J. and Avissar, Y. (2016) Biology. Rice University: OpenStax.

Sadier, A. A. (2016) 'Regulatory and Coding Changes in Developmental Evolution, Roles of', in

Sadineni, S., Srikanth, M., & Boehm, R. (2011). Passive building energy savings: A review of building envelope components. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 15(8), 3617-3631.

Sadegh, S. O., Haile, S. G., & Jamshidzehi, Z. (2022). Development of two-step biomimetic design and evaluation framework for performance-oriented design of multifunctional adaptable building envelopes. Journal of Daylighting, 9(1), 13-27.

Salma, E., A. 2013. Biomimetic-Computational Design for Double Facades in Hot Climates http://www.academia.edu/19598795/BiomimeticComputational_Design_for_Double_Facads in Hot_Climates (accessed 18 April 2017)

Sameti, M. and Jokar, M.A., 2017.Numerical modelling and optimization of the finite-length overhang for passive solar space heating. Intelligent Buildings International, 9(4), pp.204-221.

Sbar, Neil L., Lou Podbelski, Hong Mo Yang, and Brad Pease. 2012. "Electrochromic Dynamic Windows for Office Buildings." International Journal of Sustainable Built Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsbe.2012.09.001.

Schenk, M. (1995) Untersuchungen zum Fussgängerverhalten. Dissertation: University Stuttgart.

Schneider, I. and Amemiya, C. (2016) Developmental-Genetic Toolkit for Evolutionary Developmental Biology, in: Developmental-Genetic Toolkit for Evolutionary Developmental Biology, in: Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Biology, Elsevier Inc, pp. 404-408.

Zipf, G. K. (1949) Human behavior and the principle of least effort. Cambridge, Mass: Addison-Wesley.

Schmidt, R. A., Lee, T. D., Winstein, C., Wulf, G., & Zelaznik, H. N. (2018). Motor control and learning: A behavioral emphasis. Human kinetics.

Schneider, I. and Amemiya, C. (2016) 'Developmental-Genetic Toolkit for Evolutionary Developmental Biology', in Kliman, R. M. (ed), Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Biology, Oxford,

Schumacher, P (6 May 2010). "Patrik Schumacher on parametricism. Let the style wars begin. http://www.architectsjournal.co.uk/ Retrieved 25 December 2015

Schwefel, H.-P. (1995). Evolution and Optimum Seeking, Wiley, New York.

Selkowitz, S., Aschehoug, O. and Lee, E. S. (2003) Advanced Interactive Facades - Critical Elements for Future Green Buildings? Nov 1, .

Selkowitz, S. E. (May 1, 2001) Integrating advanced facades into high performance buildings, in: United States: .

Showkatbakhsh, M. and Kaviani, S. (2020) 'Homeostatic generative design process: Emergence of the adaptive architectural form and skin to excessive solar radiation':, International Journal of Architectural Computing, SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England [Online]. DOI: 10.1177/1478077120951947 (Accessed 31 August 2020).

Showkatbakhsh, M. and Makki, M. (2020) 'Application of Homeostatic Principles within Evolutionary Design Processes: Adaptive Urban Tissues', Journal of Computational Design and Engineering, vol. 7, pp. 1–17.

Showkatbakhsh, M., and Makki, M. (2019) 'Application of Homeostatic Principles within Evolutionary Design Processes: Adaptive Urban Tissues', *J Comput Des Eng*.

Showkatbakhsh, M., Kaviani, S., and Weinstock, M. (2021) 'Evolutionary Design Processes with Embedded Homeostatic Principles -Adaptation of Architectural Form and Skin to Excessive Solar Radiation', *Computer-Aided Design and Applications*, 18(5), pp. 914-953. DOI: https://doi.org/10.14733/cadaps.2021.914-953.

Simon, H. (1996) Sciences of the Artificial, 3rd Edition., Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press.

Skou, A. (2013) 'Future buildings: tough and smart on energy efficiency', *Publ Off Eur Union*, 23, pp. 23–30.

Skou, A. (2013). Future Buildings: tough and smart on energy efficiency. Publications Office of the European Union.

Soni, D. (2018). Introduction to Evolutionary Algorithms. Retrieved from https://towardsdatascience.com/introduction-to-evolutionary-algorithms-a8594b484ac

Stanley-Jones, D. and Stanley-Jones, K. (2014) The kybernetics of natural systems: a study in patterns of control, Burlington, Elsevier Science : Pergamon [Online]. Available at http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=1880006 (Accessed 5 November 2018).

Steadman, P. (1979) The evolution of designs. Cambridge [u.a.]: Cambridge University. Press.

Steadman, P. (2008a) The Evolution of Designs: Biological Analogy in Architecture and the Applied Arts, 1 edition., London, Routledge.

Steadman, P. (2008b) The Evolution of Designs: Biological Analogy in Architecture and the Applied Arts, Routledge.

Stephen Sennott (2004) Encyclopaedia for twentieth century architecture [online] available at www.googlebooks.com [Accessed 15th April 2017]

Sunshield Unique Louvers. (2022) *Fixed Louvers*. Available at: <u>https://www.sunshieldglobal.com/louver-types/fixed-louvers/</u> (Accessed: 7 August 2022).

Surowiecki, J., and Silverman, M. P. (2007) 'The wisdom of crowds', American Journal of Physics, 75.

Taleb, H.M., 2014, using passive cooling strategies to improve thermal performance and reduce energy consumption of residential buildings in UAE buildings. Frontiers of Architectural Research, 3(2), pp.154-165.

Terzidis, K. (2008) Algorithmic architecture. 1. ed., repr. ed. Amsterdam: Architectural Press.

The Biomimetic Façade. https://uk.pinterest.com/randallkorman/the-biomimetic-facade/ (accessed 18 April 2017)

The International Telecommunication Union (2012). General overview of NGN SERIES Y: Global Information Infrastructure, Internet protocol Aspects and Next-generation Networks. Frameworks and functional architecture models. Recommendation ITU-T Y.2340

Thompson, D. W. (1992) On Growth and Form, Bonner, J. T. (ed), New Ed edition., Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

Torday, J. S. (2015) 'A Central Theory of Biology', Medical hypotheses, vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 49–57 [Online]. DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2015.03.019.

Torday, J. S. (2015a) Homeostasis as the mechanism of evolution, Biology, 4 (3), pp. 573-590. DOI: 10.3390/biology4030573.

Torday, J. S. (2015b) Homeostasis as the mechanism of evolution, Biology (Basel, Switzerland), 4 (3), pp. 573-590. DOI: 10.3390/biology4030573.

Turner, J. S. (2002) *The Extended Organism: The Physiology of Animal-Built Structures*. New Ed edition. Cambridge, Mass.; London: Harvard University Press.

Turner, J. S. (2016) 'Homeostasis is the key to the intelligent building', Intelligent Buildings International, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 150–154 [Online]. DOI: 10.1080/17508975.2015.1042958.

UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2018) 68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN, 16 May 2018, New York

UN. World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revisions. Economics and Social Affairs: United Nations; 2018.

United States Green Building Council. Buildings and Climate Change eesi.org [online] Available at www.eesi.org [Accessed 15th April 2017]

Utpariya, A. and Mishra, S.A., 2018, Passive Cooling by Shading Devices in High Rise Buildings in Tropical Climate. International Journal of Research in Engineering, Science and Management.Volume-1, Issue-10.

Ürge-Vorsatz, D., Eyre, N., Graham, P., Harvey, D., Hertwich, E., Jiang, Y. and et al (2012) Energy enduse: Building. Global energy assessment toward a sustainable future, pp. 649–760. Ürge-Vorsatz, D., Cabeza, L. F., Serrano, S., Barreneche, C. and Petrichenko, K. (2015) Heating and cooling energy trends and drivers in buildings, *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 41, pp. 85-98. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2014.08.039.

Vierlinger, R. (2013) 'Multi Objective Design Interface', PhD Thesis, Vienna, Austria, University of Applied Arts.

Vincent, J. F. (2001). Stealing ideas from nature. In Deployable structures (pp. 51-58). Springer, Vienna.

Vincent, J. F. V., Bogatyreva, O. A., Bogatyrev, N. R., Bowyer, A. and Pahl, A. (2006a) Biomimetics: Its practice and theory, Journal of the Royal Society Interface, 3 (9), pp. 471-482. DOI: 10.1098/rsif.2006.0127.

Vincent, J. F. V., Bogatyreva, O. A., Bogatyrev, N. R., Bowyer, A. and Pahl, A. (2006b) Biomimetics: Its practice and theory, Journal of the Royal Society Interface, 3 (9), pp. 471-482. DOI: 10.1098/rsif.2006.0127.

Vorsatz, D. (2015). Heating and cooling energy trends and drivers in buildings. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 41, 85-98.

Walker, H. M. (1975) Studies in the history of statistical method. 1929. Repr., New York, N.Y: Arno Press.

Wang Peng (2019) Pedestrian Simulation. Available from: https://www.pedsim.net/pedsim/. (Accessed: 5 may 2022).

Wang, J., Beltran , L., & Kim, J. (2012). From static to kinetic: A review of acclimated kinetic building envelopes. World Renewable Energy Forum, WREF 2012, Including World Renewable Energy Congress XII and Colorado Renewable Energy Society (CRES) Annual Conference, 5, 4022-4029.

Weebly. (2022) *Jack Rabbit.* Available at: http://jack-rabbit-zac-villis.weebly.com/thermalregulation.html (Accessed: 5 August 2022).

Weinstock, M. (2004) Morphogenesis and the mathematics of emergence, *Architectural Design*, 74 (3), pp. 10-17. Available from: https://search.proquest.com/docview/55401694.

Weinstock, M. (2008a) Metabolism and morphology, Architectural Design, 78 (2), pp. 26-33. DOI: 10.1002/ad.638.

Weinstock, M. (2008b) Metabolism and morphology, Architectural Design, 78 (2), pp. 26-33. DOI: 10.1002/ad.638.

Weinstock, M. (2010a) The Architecture of Emergence: The Evolution of Form in Nature and Civilisation, Chichester, U.K, Wiley.

Wiener, N. (1948) Cybernetics or control and communication in the animal and the machine, 2. ed., 10. print., Cambridge, Mass, MIT Press.

Wit, A. J. (2014) Towards an intelligent architecture: Creating adaptive building systems for inhabitation, (Ball State University, U.S.A). DOI: 10.5151/despro-sigradi2014-0065.

Wittkopp, P. J. and Kalay, G. (2012) 'Cis-regulatory elements: molecular mechanisms and evolutionary processes underlying divergence', Nature Reviews Genetics, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 59.

Wong, J.K.W., Li, H. and Wang, S.W. (2005), "Intelligent building research: a review", Automation in Construction, Vol. 14 No. 1, pp. 143-159.

Wortmann, T., Waibel, C., Nannicini, G., Evans, R., Schroepfer, T. and Carmeliet, J. (2017) 'Are Genetic Algorithms Really the Best Choice in Building Energy Optimization?', ResearchGate, p. 6 [Online]. Available at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317277483_Are_Genetic_ Algorithms_Really_the_Best_Choice_in_Building_Energy_Optimization (Accessed 1 September 2020).

Yiannoudes, Y. (2016) Architecture and Adaptation: From Cybernetics to Tangible Computing,

Yilmaz, K. O. (2003). Building form for cold climatic zones related to building envelope from the heating energy conservation point of view. Energy and Buildings, 35(4), 383-388.

Yi, Y. K. (2019) Building facade multi-objective optimization for daylight and aesthetical perception, Building and Environment, 156, pp. 178-190. DOI: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.04.002.

Yi, H., & Kim, Y. (2021). Self-shaping building skin: Comparative environmental performance investigation of shape-memory-alloy (SMA) response and artificial intelligence (AI) kinetic control. Journal of Building Engineering, 35, 102113.

- Yoo, S. H., & Lee, E. T. (2002). Efficiency characteristic of building integrated photovoltaics as a shading device. Building and Environment, 37(6), 615
- Zvironaite, K., Knol, A. and Kneepens, S. (2014) *KINETICA: A playful way through the world of moving facades*. TU Delft.